

Scuola di Dottorato Vito Volterra Dottorato di Ricerca in Matematica XXXV ciclo

Asymptotic and validity problems for Vlasov-type equations

by Stefano Rossi

Advisors

Prof. Dario Benedetto Prof. Emanuele Caglioti

3rd May 2023

Ph.D. thesis defended on May 3 2023 in front of the following Board of Examiners:

- Prof. Luigi Barletti, Università degli Studi di Firenze
- Prof. Alessia Nota, Università degli Studi dell'Aquila
- Prof. Sergio Simonella, Università di Roma La Sapienza

I warmly thank Nico Michele Schiavone for making available the eqtip TEX class with which this thesis has been written.

La vita...è ricordarsi di un risveglio triste in un treno all'alba: aver veduto fuori la luce incerta: aver sentito nel corpo rotto la malinconia vergine e aspra dell'aria pungente.

Ma ricordarsi la liberazione improvvisa è più dolce: a me vicino un marinaio giovane: l'azzurro e il bianco della sua divisa, e fuori un mare tutto fresco di colore.

Acknowledgements

Grazie alle persone che sono state importanti per la mia formazione scientifica in questi anni:

in primis a Dario ed Emanuele, per la fiducia e la pazienza, l'aiuto nei momenti di difficoltà ma soprattutto per quello che mi hanno insegnato;

a Paolo Buttà, Thierry Paul, Mario Pulvirenti e Sergio Simonella per i tanti consigli mai scontati e per avermi aiutato, chi nella ricerca e chi nella ricerca di un postdoc;

a Mikaela Iacobelli, per i consigli dati fin dal primo anno di dottorato e per l'invito a Zurigo dello scorso dicembre;

a Gianluca Panati, per avermi seguito come tutor e per essere stato sempre puntuale e scrupoloso nelle comunicazioni.

Grazie alle tante persone che ho avuto modo di conoscere durante gli eventi matematici:

a Antoine Gagnebin, for the friendship that was born from our collaboration;

a Alberto Fachechi, per la smisurata simpatia;

a Theophile Dolmaire, for the many and beautiful chess games played;

alle compagne e i compagni dottorandi e in particolare Daniele Ferretti e Chiara Marullo, per le tante problematiche condivise;

a molte altre persone con cui ho ricordi di momenti passati insieme: Daniele Lotito, Valeria Iorio, Alexandre Rege, Lukas Niebel, Alex Rossi, Theodora Syntaka, Giovanni Nastasi, Davide Macera, Bruno Renzi, Giorgio Cipollone, Clara Grassi, Isidora Rapajic.

Infine grazie a tutti i miei affetti più cari:

a Elisa, per l'amore di questi anni condivisi insieme;

a Mamma, Papà e Vincenzo, per il bene inspiegabile;

a Daniele e Marco, per l'amicizia e la fratellanza;

agli amici, quelli di sempre e quelli più recenti: Simone, Giorgio, Diego, Matteo, Tiziano, Luca, Riccardo, Massimo e Martina, Giacomo, Yoanna, Ilaria e Silvio, Simona e Daniele, Rachele, Teresa e Andrea, Alessia, Silvia, Francesco;

agli Acustika e i Beatrice sott'acqua, per esserci divertiti insieme facendo musica.

Abstract

In this thesis we study some asymptotic and validity problems concerning Vlasov-type equations. In the first part of the work we focus on the Landau damping and the long-time behavior of solutions of the Vlasov-HMF and Vlasov-Poisson equations. We do it by looking at the scattering problem, where the asymptotic datum is fixed, in the style of the work [17, Bibliog. Part I]. In the second part of the thesis we focus on validity problems for kinetic equations with topological interaction. This interaction does not depend on the metric distance but rather on the proximity rank among the agents and, in the last decade, has been widely used to describe biological systems that exhibit collective behaviors.

Contents

xi

Ι	Sca	ttering approach to the Landau Damping	1
1	A b	rief overview on some results about Landau damping	3
	1.1	Vlasov-Poisson equation: basic properties	3
		1.1.1 Stationary solutions	5
	1.2	Linear Landau Damping	6
	1.3	Scattering approach for the Landau Damping	8
2	Bac	kward vs Forward approach for the Vlasov-HMF model	13
	2.1	The Vlasov-HMF model and the scattering problem	13
		2.1.1 Estimates for ζ^T	16
		2.1.2 Estimates for h^T	18
		2.1.3 The backward result	19
	2.2	Nonperturbative regime	21
	2.3	The Cauchy problem	25
		2.3.1 Estimates for ζ	26
		2.3.2 Estimates for h	28
		2.3.3 The forward result	30
	2.4	Backward vs forward	31
3	On	the scattering approach for the Vlasov-Poisson equation: analytic	
	and	Gevrey data	33
	3.1	The framework	33
	3.2	Notations and conventions	34
	3.3	The analytic case	35
		3.3.1 Analytic a priori estimates for ρ^T	36
		3.3.2 Analytic a priori estimates for $h^T - h_{\infty}$	38
	3.4	The Gevrey case	39
		3.4.1 Gevrey a priori estimates for ζ^T	40

Introduction

Bibliography - Part I						
3.6	On the linear part of the equation for $\gamma < 1/3$ $\hdots \hdots $	46				
3.5	The backward result	45				
	3.4.2 A priori Gevrey estimates for h^T	42				

II	Mea tion	n-field limit and propagation of chaos for topological interac- s	51
4	The	validity problem in the mean-field scaling	53
	4.1	Mean-field scaling and empirical measures	53
		4.1.1 Empirical measures	54
	4.2	The Dobrushin approach	55
	4.3	The Neunzert and Wick approach	60
5	Тор	ological interaction: mean-field limit for a Cucker-Smale type model	63
	5.1	Topological Cucker-Smale model	63
	5.2	Distances and weak convergence	65
	5.3	Agent dynamics	69
	5.4	The mean-field equation in L^{∞}	72
	5.5	The mean-field limit	74
6	Proj	pagation of chaos for a jump process with topological interactions	77
	6.1	Presentation of the model and main results	77
		6.1.1 Heuristic derivation	79
		6.1.2 Motivations and main result	81
	6.2	Proof of the result	82
		6.2.1 Coupling and strategy of the proof	82
		6.2.2 Convergence estimates	84

Bibliography - Part II

89

Introduction

This thesis deals with the mathematical theory of various partial differential equations arising as models of phenomena belonging to two different branches of physics: plasma physics and the physics of complex systems. These models share the feature that they all come from kinetic theory and they use a statistical description of the system.

Most of the PDE models studied in this work can be englobed in a unique definition, giving them the name of Vlasov-type equations. They read as

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \cdot \nabla_x f(t, x, v) + \nabla_v \cdot \left(\mathcal{K}[f](t, x, v) f(t, x, v) \right) = 0, \tag{1}$$

where $f_t = f(t, x, v) : \mathbb{R} \times X \times \mathbb{R}^d$ is the distribution function of the agents in the system having position x in the configuration space X and velocity $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$ at time $t \in \mathbb{R}$. The functional $\mathcal{K}[f] : \mathbb{R} \times X \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ will be the nonlocal mean-field interaction. This is obtained by averaging the individual interactions between agents with the distribution given by f. In the following we will specify its definition from time to time.

Concerning these equations, we focus on two main aspects:

- the asymptotic behavior of solutions of Vlasov-type equations coming from plasma physics and, in particular, the phenomenon of Landau damping;
- the rigorous derivation of Vlasov-type equations from microscopic particle systems modeling collective phenomena with agents interacting via "topological" interaction, a type of irregular interaction presenting jump discontinuities.

This work is organized into two parts, each concerning one of these two topics.

The configuration space X will depend on the problem addressed. For the plasma physics problems of the first part of the thesis we work on the d-dimensional torus, i.e. the periodic box $\mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{R}^d/(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^d$, while in the case of collective dynamics problems of the second part we work in the d-dimensional Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d .

Part I - Scattering approach to the Landau damping

In the first part of this work, we consider the Vlasov-Poisson equation, the main kinetic equation used to describe collisionless plasmas of electrons. In this case

$$\mathcal{K}[f](t,x) = -\nabla_x \Big(\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} W(x-y) f(t,y,v) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}v \Big)$$
(2)

where W is the fundamental solution of the Laplace operator in \mathbb{T}^d , i.e. the Coulomb potential on \mathbb{T}^3 if d = 3. We consider stationary regular solutions depending only on the velocities and we perturb them in suitable functional spaces with high regularity.

Already in the '40s, L. Landau in [26, Bibliog. Part I], considered an analytic stationary state η which satisfies a precise stability condition, and noticed that the perturbed solution of the linearized equation around η relaxes asymptotically towards a new equilibrium causing the electric field to decay exponentially. This phenomenon is now called Landau damping.

In this thesis, we focus on the nonlinear Landau damping for (1), (2) and on a scattering approach for the existence of damped solutions introduced by E. Caglioti and C. Maffei in [17, Bibliog. Part I]. The goal is to understand the relationship between the backward scattering result and the forward result for the Cauchy problem, developed by C. Mouhot and C. Villani in [36, Bibliog. Part I].

The analysis will concentrate especially on some resonances present in the equation and experimentally observed, called plasma echoes. Let us briefly explain what they are, considering the one-dimensional case.

Referring to equation (1), (2), passing to Fourier transform and considering the equation for the density $\rho(t, x) = \int f(t, x, v) \, dv$, we will deal with a mode-by-mode equation of the form

$$\hat{\rho}_t(n) = \text{linear terms} + \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_t^{+\infty} \hat{\rho}_s(k) \frac{n}{k} (s-t) \hat{h}_s(n-k, nt-ks) \,\mathrm{d}s, \tag{3}$$

where $k, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\hat{\rho}$ denotes the Fourier transform of ρ (see (1.7) for the notations) and h(t, x, v) = f(t, x + vt, v).

The modes \hat{h} should decay with a rate that depends on the regularity of f, but notice that, when $nt \approx ks$ in (3), the corresponding term has no decay and thus we expect that, if $\frac{n}{k} > 1$, at times $\tau = \frac{nt}{k}$ the density $\hat{\rho}_{\tau}(k)$ would strongly influence $\hat{\rho}_t(n)$. This effect is called plasma echo and has been experimentally observed in the '60s by J. H. Malmberg et al. in [32, Bibliog. Part I].

From a mathematical point of view, in the Eulerian approach, the aim is to obtain global in-time regularity estimates on the solutions using norms quantifying the decay of its Fourier transform. Plasma echoes make it challenging to close the a priori estimates using the cited norms. In general the validity of the damping depends on the regularity setting, and in particular on the choice of data with analytic or Gevrey regularity, an intermediate class between analytic and C^{∞} functions.

To study this issue, after reviewing some results on the Landau damping in Chapter 1, we present two works.

Comparative study for Vlasov-HMF equation In Chapter 2, we consider a simplification of the Vlasov equation, called Vlasov-HMF (Hamiltonian mean-field model) model. In this case d = 1 and

$$\mathcal{K}[f](t,x) = -\partial_x \Big(\int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} \cos(x-y) f(t,y,v) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}v \Big).$$

This approximated model has been widely studied in the last decades being a handy reduction of the Vlasov-Poisson equation, in which the singularity of the kernel is removed by replacing it with a cosine function. It can be easily implemented numerically to study the features of a long-range interaction (see [1, 5, 18, Bibliog. Part I]). Furthermore, as we will see, it is also a useful testing ground from a mathematical point of view for studying issues about long-time behavior of solutions.

However, in this case the resonances due to plasma echoes are few: in fact, the equation verified by the given density ρ is not the one (3) but

$$\hat{\rho}_t(n) = \text{linear terms} + \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_t^{+\infty} \rho_s(k)(s-t)h_s(n-k,nt-ks)\,\mathrm{d}s, \quad n=\pm 1.$$

So we have that nt - ks = 0 only when $s = \pm t$. This simplifies the treatment.

For this model, we adapt the Eulerian forward techniques to the backward problem to make a comparison in the case of analytic solutions. What results is that in the backward approach the a priori estimates on the solutions of the equation are greatly simplified by the exponential decay guaranteed by the analytic regularity. In the backward case, this also allows to provide a very precise rate that describes the evolution of the regularity of the solution over time.

We also prove a nonperturbative result, through a more accurate analysis of nonlinear terms.

Backward approach for the Vlasov-Poisson equation with Gevrey data In Chapter 3, we focus on the scattering problem for the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation given by (1), (2). We consider analytic and Gevrey asymptotic data, the latter case not covered in [17, Bibliog. Part I].

In this work, a function $f \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ belongs to the $1/\gamma$ -Gevrey class with regularity parameter λ if

$$\|f\|_{\lambda;\gamma;\sigma}^{2} \coloneqq \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} e^{2\lambda \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n,\xi \rangle^{2\sigma} |\widehat{f}(n,\xi)|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\xi < +\infty, \tag{4}$$

where \hat{f} is the Fourier transform of $f, \langle n, \xi \rangle \coloneqq (1 + |\xi|^2 + |\eta|^2)^{1/2}$ and $\sigma > 0$ is fixed.

Notice that, if (4) holds with γ =1, then the function f has analytic regularity. In general, this class of functions has some properties - among which the existence of Gevrey functions with compact support - which make their use in the study of evolutive PDEs very convenient (see [20, 42, 19, Bibliog. Part I]).

Also in this Chapter we use forward techniques for the backward perturbative problem, allowing, in the analytic case, to overcome the plasma echoes mechanism with a simple proof. Moreover, we extend the proof to asymptotic data of $1/\gamma$ -Gevrey regularity with

 $\gamma > 1/3$, and we recover the 3-Gevrey threshold for the existence of damped solutions that was found in the case of the Cauchy problem by [36, 9, Bibliog. Part I].

Nonetheless, our scattering approach makes it clear that the plasma echoes mechanism is a secondary linear effect. This fact allows us to formally argue that the linear part of the backward equation is ill-posed for data with Gevrey regularity less than 1/3.

Part II - Mean-field limit and propagation of chaos for particle systems with topological interaction

The second part of the thesis deals with the rigorous derivation of effective kinetic equations from deterministic and stochastic particle dynamics at the microscopic level.

In Chapter 4, we review some validity results for systems with regular interactions in the mean-field scaling. This is the so-called mean-field limit, i.e. we consider the interaction intensity scaling with 1/N and the density of particles diverging with their number N, to obtain an effective kinetic equation in the limit $N \rightarrow \infty$.

In Chapters 5 and 6, we focus on the derivation of kinetic equations for models coming from the physics of complex systems, in particular from the area of collective dynamics, focusing on interactions that are called "topological". In these topological models, the strength of the interaction between two agents x_i and x_j is a function of the proximity rank $R(x_i, x_j)$ of x_j with respect to x_i :

$$R(x_i, x_j) \coloneqq \sum_{k \neq i} \mathcal{X}\{|x_i - x_k| \le |x_i - x_j|\},\tag{5}$$

where $\mathcal{X}\{|x_i - x_k| \leq r\}$ is the characteristic function of the set $\{|x_i - x_k| \leq r\}$. So $R(x_i, x_j)$ counts the number of agents at distance less than or equal to $|x_i - x_j|$ from x_i .

This type of interaction is widely used in biophysics to describe the collective behavior of flocks of birds, fish schools and swarms. From a mathematical point of view it presents some nontrivial difficulties since the methods usually adopted in validity problems fail due to the exotic properties of the topological interaction: it is not Lipschitz continuous having jump-like discontinuities and it is not a pair interaction since it depends on the state of the other agents.

We present two results that investigate these two aspects.

Mean-field limit for a topological Cucker-Smale model In Chapter 5, we study the following mean-field system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_i(t) = v_i(t) \\ \dot{v}_i(t) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N K\Big(\frac{R(x_i, x_j)}{N}\Big)(v_j(t) - v_i(t)), & i = 1, \dots, N \end{cases}$$
(6)

where $(x_i(t), v_i(t)) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$, $R(x_i, x_j)$ is the proximity rank in (5) and $K : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a regular nondecreasing function.

This is the so-called topological Cucker-Smale model introduced by J. Haskovec in [32, Bibliog. Part II]. The interaction is such that neighboring birds tend to align their

velocities but with weights given by $K(R(x_i, x_j)/N)$. It can be proved that under suitable assumptions on the initial datum, this model exhibits asymptotic consensus in the velocities.

Here we want to prove a mean-field limit result for this topological model. We do this by studying the empirical measure related to (6):

$$\mu_t^N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i(t)} \delta_{v_i(t)},$$

where δ is the Dirac delta measure.

Having the interaction function a discontinuity of jump-type, there are several problems in the study of this model. In particular, the dynamics of N particles does not fall within the classical Cauchy-Lipschitz theory and it is not clear whether and when the dynamics is well-defined.

Furthermore, at least formally, we expect that in the limit $N \to \infty$ we recover a Vlasov-type equation (1) with

$$\mathcal{K}[f](t,x,v) = \int K(M[\rho](x,|x-y|))(v-w)f(t,y,w)\,\mathrm{d}y\,\mathrm{d}w,\tag{7}$$

where

$$M[\rho](t,x) = \int_{|x'-x| \le r} \rho(t,x') \,\mathrm{d}x' \tag{8}$$

and $\rho(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, x, v) dv$. Nevertheless, the rigorous proof of the mean-field limit is not trivial, since it does not fit into the so-called Dobrushin theory (see Chapter 4), which requires a Lipschitz-type interaction.

Hence, in this Chapter we prove the following results:

- the *N*-particle dynamics is well-defined, except for a set of measure zero;
- if f_0 is bounded, there exists a unique weak solution f_t of the topological Cucker-Smale equation (1) (7) with initial datum f_0 , which is bounded;
- μ_t^N weakly converge to f_t , provided this is true at time 0.

Propagation of chaos for a jump process In Chapter 6, a stochastic process describing alignment via topological interaction is studied.

In this model, particles $\{(x_i, v_i)\}_{i=1}^N$ go freely, namely following the trajectories $x_i + v_i t$. At some random time dictated by a Poisson process of intensity N, a particle (say i) is chosen with probability $\frac{1}{N}$ and a partner particle (say j) with probability $\pi_{i,j}$ equal to

$$\pi_{i,j} \coloneqq \frac{K\left(R(x_i, x_j)/N\right)}{\sum_{s=1}^{N-1} K(\frac{s}{N-1})},$$

where $K : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$ is a regular function and $R(x_i, x_j)$ is the proximity rank defined in (5). Then the transition $(v_i, v_j) \to (v_j, v_j)$ is performed. After that, the system goes freely with the new velocities and so on. In [7, Bibliog. Part II], the authors derived formally that the kinetic equation expected to be valid in the limit $N \to \infty$ is

$$\left(\partial_t + v \cdot \nabla_x\right) f(t, x, v) = -f(t, x, v) + \rho(t, x) \int K(M[\rho](x, |x - y|)) f(t, y, v) \,\mathrm{d}y \quad (9)$$

where $M[\rho](x, r)$ is defined as in (8).

We underline that equation (9) cannot be reduced to the Vlasov-type equations in (1) and it is more correct to see it as a Boltzmann-type equation coming from a collisional stochastic model with a gain and loss term.

The rigorous derivation of the kinetic equation from the N-particle system has been done in a later work [21, Bibliog. Part II]. The authors prove the result, comparing the Nparticle and the limit processes using the BBGKY hierarchies, assuming that the interaction function K is real analytic.

To avoid this assumption, we present here a more natural proof that improves the previous result, using a classical coupling technique instead of the hierarchies and assuming K to be only Lipschitz continuous.

Part I

Scattering approach to the Landau Damping

Chapter **1**

A brief overview on some results about Landau damping

In this first Chapter we begin the study of the asymptotic behavior of some specific solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson equation.

After having recalled the basic properties of the Vlasov-Poisson equation, we briefly review two important results about the theory of Landau damping: the linearized result carried out by L. Landau in his pioneering work [26] and the proof of the nonlinear damping for the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation, obtained by E. Caglioti and C. Maffei in [17] using the scattering approach.

1.1 Vlasov-Poisson equation: basic properties

In the kinetic theory of plasmas, the Vlasov-Poisson equation is a nonlinear partial differential equation that describes the time evolution of the distribution function of electrons in a collisionless globally neutral plasma. It was first introduced by A. Vlasov in 1938 in [43].

Denoting $\mathbb{T}^d=\mathbb{R}^d/(2\pi\mathbb{Z})^d$ the d -dimensional torus, the Vlasov-Poisson equation reads as

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \cdot \nabla_x f(t, x, v) + \mathcal{F}[f](t, x) \cdot \nabla_v f(t, x, v) = 0, \\ \mathcal{F}[f](t, x) = -\nabla_x V[f](t, x), \quad \Delta_x V[f](t, x) = -\rho(t, x) + \bar{\rho}, \\ \rho(t, x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}v. \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

Here $f(t, x, v) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is the distribution function of electrons having at time $t \in \mathbb{R}$ position $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$ and velocity $v \in \mathbb{R}$.

Due to the compatibility condition for the Poisson equation in (1.1) we are subtracting to ρ its mean over \mathbb{T}^d called $\overline{\rho}$. This is physically justified by saying that we are considering as a fixed background the density of ions and that, since the system has to be globally neutral, this is equal to the mean density of electrons. Equation (1.1) can be seen as a nonlinear Liouville equation where $\mathcal{F}[f](t, x)$ is the mean-field force generated by the spatial density $\rho(t, x)$ of electrons. Notice that

$$V[f](t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} W(x-y) f(t,y,w) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}w,$$

where W is the fundamental solution of the Laplace operator on \mathbb{T}^d .

The study of the Cauchy problem for (1.1) has produced a huge literature. We mention here the works by Arsen'ev on the existence of weak solutions and of classical solutions for short times ([2], [3]) and the theory of Pfaffelmoser [40] and Lions-Perthame [29] for the existence of global classical solutions. See [21] or [15] for a review.

Let f(t, x, v) be a regular solution of equation (1.1) and let us consider the flow $\Phi_t(x, v) = (X(t, x, v), V(t, x, v))$, defined in the phase space by the following characteristics

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}(t, x, v) = V(t, x, v) \\ \dot{V}(t, x, v) = \mathcal{F}[f](t, X(t, x, v)) \\ X(0, x, v) = x \quad V(0, x, v) = v. \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

Then, it is easy to see that f is conserved along the flow, i.e.

$$f(t, X(t, x, v), V(t, x, v)) = f(0, x, v)$$

and so, denoting $f_0(x, v) = f(0, x, v)$,

$$f(t, x, v) = f_0((\Phi_t)^{-1}(x, v)).$$
(1.3)

Clearly this is only a representation formula, since to determine the flow $\Phi_t(x, v)$ and solve (1.2), one must already know the solution f.

As first properties of equation (1.1), we have the classical conserved quantities:

$$\mathcal{M}[f] = \int f(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

$$\mathcal{P}[f] = \int v f(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v,$$

$$\mathcal{E}[f] = \mathcal{T}[f] + \mathcal{V}[f],$$

where

$$\mathcal{T}[f] = \frac{1}{2} \int |v|^2 f(t, x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v \tag{1.4}$$
$$\mathcal{V}[f] = \frac{1}{2} \int W(x - x') \rho(x, t) \rho(x', t) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}x'.$$

Moreover, as a consequence of (1.3), given an arbitrarily regular function $G : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$, the quantity

$$\int G(f(t,x,v)) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}v$$

is conserved. In particular, considering the entropy function $G(x) = x \log(x)$, we get

$$\int f(t, x, v) \log(f(t, x, v)) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v$$

is constant. Hence the entropy of the system is preserved.

1.1.1 Stationary solutions

The Vlasov-Poisson equation (1.1) admits infinitely many stationary states. Indeed, as can be easily seen, any spatially homogeneous distribution function $\eta(v)$ is a stationary solution of equation (1.1). This follows from

$$F[\eta](x,t) = \nabla_x \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} W(x-y)\eta(w) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}w \right) = 0.$$

It is natural to study the stability of these equilibria, and in this first part of the thesis we will address some aspects of this broad problem. For now, we mention an important theorem of C. Marchioro and M. Pulvirenti (see [33, 35]) which proves that a homogeneous function $\eta(|v|)$ nonincreasing in |v| is an orbitally stable solution of the Vlasov-Poisson equation.

Theorem 1.1. Let $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and consider an homogeneous solution $\eta(|v|)$ such that $\mathcal{M}[\eta] + \mathcal{T}[\eta] < +\infty$ (see (1.4)), where $\eta : \mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a nonincreasing function. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, let $f_0(x, v)$ an initial datum such that

$$\int |f_0(x,v) - \eta(v)| (1+v^2) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}v < \varepsilon,$$

then

$$\sup_{t\in\mathbb{R}}\int |f(t,x,v) - \eta(v)| \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}v < \delta(\varepsilon),$$

where f(t, x, v) is solution¹ of (1.1) with initial datum f_0 and $\delta(\varepsilon) \to 0$ if $\varepsilon \to 0$.

We don't give the proof of this result, which follows from rearrangement techniques.

Beyond the homogeneous ones, there exist other types of stationary solutions. In 1951, I. B. Bernstein, J. M. Greene e M. D. Kruskal in [14] proved the existence of stationary solutions of (1.1) g(x, v) which are not spatially homogeneous. These stationary states are called BGK waves, since, being the Vlasov equation invariant under Galilean transformations, if g(x, v) is a stationary solution, then the wave $g(t, x, v) \coloneqq g(x - ct, v - c)$ solves the equation (1.1) for any $c \in \mathbb{R}$.

We observe that, given the Vlasov equation (1.1), any state g(x, v), obtained composing a smooth function G with the mesoscopic energy of the system, i.e.

$$g(x,v) = G(E(x,v)), \text{ where } E(x,v) = \frac{v^2}{2} + V[g](x),$$

gives rise to a stationary solution, provided that the following compatibility condition is verified

$$\int W(x-y)G\left(\frac{v^2}{2} + V[g](y)\right) \mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}v = V[g](x).$$

For a proof of the existence of BGK solutions, we refer to section (2.2) of the next Chapter, where in Remark (2.2) this is done in the case of the HMF approximation of the Vlasov-Poisson equation.

¹Here we are assuming that a given solution exists. Clearly it depends on the aforementioned results about the well-posedness theory.

Furthermore, we mention that in [27], Z. Lin and C. Zeng proved the existence of solutions of BGK type for the Vlasov-Poisson equation in any small neighborhood of a homogeneous stationary solution $\eta(v)$ with low Sobolev regularity. As will be clear from the next section, this result implies that Landau Damping doesn't hold around homogeneous solutions belonging to these functional spaces.

1.2 Linear Landau Damping

In 1946, L. Landau in [26], linearizing the Vlasov-Poisson equation around a suitable analytic spatially homogeneous equilibrium $\eta(v)$, predicted the existence of damped solutions near the given stationary regular state, proving that the electric field of the plasma decays exponentially, so that the flow governed by the mean-field force is asymptotically free.

This decay of the electric field would have been experimentally observed only eighteen years later by J. H. Malmberg and C. B. Wharton in [31]. A similar phenomenon also occurs in the dynamics of galaxies and it was observed by the astrophysicist D. Lynden-Bell in [30].

Here we give an idea of the linear Landau damping, a classical result in the literature. We consider solutions of the form

$$f(t, x, v) = \eta(v) + \epsilon \overline{f}(t, x, v), \tag{1.5}$$

where \overline{f} will be the perturbation and $\epsilon > 0$ its size.

We start by writing the linearized Vlasov-Poisson equation around the homogeneous equilibrium $\eta(v)$. Let $\overline{f}(t, x, v)$ as in (1.5), replacing it in equation (1.1) and by linearizing it, i.e. neglecting the terms of $O(\epsilon^2)$, we obtain the linearized Vlasov equation

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \cdot \nabla_x f(t, x, v) + \mathcal{F}[f](t, x) \cdot \nabla_v \eta(v) = 0, \tag{1.6}$$

where from now on, we drop the sign over the perturbation and denote it by f(t, x, v).

Landau showed that it is possible to exactly solve this linearized equation. For this purpose, let \hat{f}_t be the Fourier transform of f_t in both positions and velocities, i.e

$$\widehat{f}_t(n,\xi) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^d} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} e^{-\mathrm{i}n \cdot x} e^{-\mathrm{i}\xi \cdot v} f(t,x,v) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}v, \tag{1.7}$$

with $n \in \mathbb{Z}^d$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d$.

Using the Duhamel formula and applying the Fourier transform to (1.6), we get

$$\widehat{f}_t(n,\xi) = \widehat{f}_0(n,\xi+nt) - \widehat{W}(n) \int_0^t \widehat{f}_s(n,0)\widehat{\eta}(\xi+n(t-s))[n\cdot(\xi+n(t-s))] \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(1.8)

Since $\hat{\rho}_t(n) = \hat{f}_t(n, 0)$, setting $\xi = 0$ in (1.8), we obtain a closed equation in $\hat{\rho}_t(n)$ for $n \neq 0$

$$\widehat{\rho}_t(n) = \widehat{f}_0(n, nt) - \widehat{W}(n) \int_0^t \widehat{\rho}_s(n) \widehat{\eta}(n(t-s)) |n|^2 (t-s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(1.9)

We observe instead that for n = 0, $\hat{\rho}_t(0) = \bar{\rho}$ is a conserved quantity.

Equation (1.9) is a Volterra integral equation of the form

$$\hat{\rho}_t(n) = \hat{f}_0(n, tn) + \int_0^t j_n(t-s)\hat{\rho}_s(n) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
(1.10)

where j is the following kernel

$$j_n(t) \coloneqq -\widehat{W}(n)\widehat{\eta}(nt)|n|^2t.$$

Fixed n, the (1.10) is of the form

$$\alpha(t) = \beta(t) + \int_0^t j(t-s)\alpha(s) \,\mathrm{d}s,\tag{1.11}$$

for $\alpha, \beta \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$. This integral equation can be solved by using the Laplace transform

$$\mathcal{L}[\alpha](\sigma) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\sigma t} \alpha(t) \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad \sigma \in \mathbb{C},$$

well-defined for $\Re(\sigma) \ge 0.$ By applying the Laplace transform to the equation (1.11) we obtain that

$$\mathcal{L}[\alpha](\sigma) = \mathcal{L}[\beta](\sigma) + \mathcal{L}[j](\sigma)\mathcal{L}[\alpha](\sigma)$$

and so

$$\mathcal{L}[\alpha](\sigma) = \frac{\mathcal{L}[\beta](\sigma)}{1 - \mathcal{L}[j](\sigma)},$$

which is well defined, provided that $\mathcal{L}[\beta]$ and $\mathcal{L}[j]$ are, and that $\mathcal{L}[j](\sigma) \neq 1$.

To reconstruct $\alpha(t)$ from its Laplace transform it is necessary to integrate $\mathcal{L}[\alpha]$ on a path of the complex plane suitably chosen. In this regard we refer the reader to the next two chapters and the reference [37]. We state the following lemma, the proof of which is similar to the one given in Lemma (3.1).

Lemma 1.1. Let j(t) be an integral kernel defined for $t \ge 0$, such that

$$|j(t)| \leqslant c_0 e^{-\lambda_0 t}$$

with positive constants c_0 and λ_0 . Given $\kappa > 0$, suppose further that $|\mathcal{L}[j](\sigma) - 1| \ge \kappa$ for each $\sigma \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\Re \sigma \ge 0$.

Moreover, let $\beta(t)$ be an analytic function such that $|\beta(t)| \leq c_1 e^{-\lambda t}$, where c_1 and λ are positive constants and let $\alpha(t)$ be a solution of the equation

$$\alpha(t) = \beta(t) + \int_0^t j(t-s)\alpha(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

Then, for $\lambda' < \min\{\lambda_0, \lambda\}$,

$$|\alpha(t)| \leqslant c e^{-\lambda' t}$$

Let's apply the Lemma (1.1) to our equation (1.9): the kernel $j_n(t)$ decays exponentially provided that $\eta(v)$ is an analytic stationary solution. Similarly $\hat{f}_0(n, nt)$ decays exponentially if the initial data f_0 is analytic. We just have to require the following stability condition, sometimes called Penrose condition ([39]),

$$\inf_{n\in\mathbb{Z}^d,\,\Re\sigma\ge 0} |\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)-1|\ge \kappa>0.$$

This condition is implicit in Landau's work [26] and is due to G. Backus, who was the first to give a complete treatment of the linearized equation in [4].

We therefore observe that, by Lemma (1.1), the solution $\hat{\rho}_t(n)$ of the integral equation with $n \neq 0$ tends exponentially to zero and therefore $\rho(t, x)$ converges weakly to the value $\bar{\rho}$, so that the force field vanishes.

1.3 Scattering approach for the Landau Damping

Since the work of Landau, the damping phenomenon has been extensively studied and understood, but the extension from the linear to the true nonlinear case has proved to be particularly difficult for the mathematical theory.

Only in 1998, E. Caglioti and C. Maffei in [17] gave a first proof in the case where the domain is the one-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^1 . Subsequently, a proof with less restrictive hypotheses was given in [24].

The idea of the proof in [17] is the following one: let $(x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}$, as seen by the linearized analysis we expect the distribution function f(t, x, v) to weakly converge to a homogeneous equilibrium, so that for large times the self-consistent force in (1.1) would be zero and f_t would evolve similarly to the free evolute of a suitable asymptotic density $\omega(x, v)$, i.e. for large times

$$f(t, x, v) \approx \omega(x - vt, v)$$

It is therefore reasonable to consider the scattering problem where, instead of studying the evolution of a given initial datum, one looks for a solution of the equation (1.1) with the asymptotic condition

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|f(t, x, v) - \omega(x - vt, v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0.$$
(1.12)

Then, if a solution of the scattering problem (1.12) exists, it is not difficult to prove that it weakly converges to a homogeneous equilibrium, given by the spatial mean of ω .

Indeed, taking a test function $\phi(x, v) \in C_c(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})$, we have that

$$\int \omega(x - vt, v)\phi(x, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v = \int \omega(x, v)\phi(x + vt, v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v.$$

Moreover

$$\frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} \phi(x + vt, v) e^{-inx} e^{-i\xi v} \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v = \widehat{\phi}(n, \xi + nt),$$

where $\hat{\phi}$ is the Fourier transform of ϕ as in (1.7). Hence, by Plancherel theorem,

$$\int \omega(x,v)\phi(x+vt,v)\,\mathrm{d}x\,\mathrm{d}v = \int \widehat{\omega}(0,\xi)\widehat{\phi}(0,\xi)\,\mathrm{d}\xi + \sum_{n\neq 0}\int \widehat{\omega}(n,\xi)\widehat{\phi}(n,\xi+nt)\,\mathrm{d}\xi.$$

The first term gives the spatial mean of ω while the second term goes to zero as t goes to infinity, by dominated convergence.

From now on, let

$$B(x) = -\frac{x}{2\pi} + \frac{1}{2}, \quad x \in [0, 2\pi)$$

and periodically extended in \mathbb{R} , the fundamental solution of the problem

$$\partial_x B(x) = \delta(x) - \frac{1}{2\pi}$$

with $x \in \mathbb{T}^1$, where the constant $\frac{1}{2\pi}$ has been added to make the system globally neutral.

We want to prove the existence of solutions to the backward problem (1.12) in the following sense. Let $\tau \ge 0$ and $\omega(x, v)$ be a regular function. A weak formulation of the Vlasov-Poisson equation (1.1) with asymptotic condition (1.12) is given requiring that

$$f(t, x, v) = \omega((\Phi_t[f])^{-1}(x, v))$$
(1.13)

for $t \ge \tau$, where $\Phi_t[f](x, v) = (X[f](t, x, v), V[f](t, x, v))$ solves

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X}[f] = V[f] \\ \dot{V}[f] = \mathcal{F}[f](t, X[f], V[f]) \end{cases}$$

with asymptotic conditions

$$\begin{cases} \lim_{t \to \infty} X[f] - V[f]t = x\\ \lim_{t \to \infty} V[f] = v \end{cases}$$

and the force field must verify

$$\mathcal{F}[f](t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^1} B(x-y)f(t,y,v)\,\mathrm{d}y\,\mathrm{d}v.$$

For the thesis of the theorem to be true, the asymptotic datum ω must belong to a suitable space of functions: we say that $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2}$ if $\omega \ge 0$ and there exist positive constants λ, c_1, c_2 such that

$$|\hat{\omega}(n,\xi)| \leqslant \frac{c_1}{1+n^2} e^{-\lambda|\xi|}.$$

and

$$\omega(x,v) \leqslant \frac{c_2}{1+v^4}.$$

We will follow an iterative strategy. Given $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2},$ we solve the sequence of linear problems

$$\partial_t f^{(n)}(t, x, v) + v f^{(n)}(t, x, v) + F^{(n-1)}(t, x) \partial_v f^{(n)}(t, x, v) = 0,$$

$$\|f^{(n)}(t, x, v) - \omega(x - vt, v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} \to 0$$
(1.14)

for $n \ge 1$. Here the force fields are given by

$$F^{(n)}(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^1} B(x-y)\rho^{(n)}(t,y)\,\mathrm{d}y, \quad F^{(0)} = 0.$$
(1.15)

Then the aim is to prove that the sequence $\{f^{(n)}\}\$ converges to a solution of the Vlasov-Poisson equation in the sense of (1.13).

Before doing this, we state a lemma that ensures the well-posedness of the linear problem in (1.14). For a given field F(t, x) we define

$$||F||_{\lambda,\tau} = \sup_{t \ge \tau} e^{\lambda t} ||F(t,\cdot)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1)}.$$

Lemma 1.2. Let $\tau \ge 0$ e $F(t, x) \in C(\mathbb{T}^1 \times [\tau, +\infty))$ a Lipschitz force field with Lipschitz constant L_F . Moreover suppose that $||F||_{\lambda,\tau} < \infty$. Then, if $\lambda > \sqrt{L_F}$ and $t \ge \tau$, there exists a unique solution of the flow $\Phi_t(x, v) = (X(t, x, v), V(t, x, v))$ that solves

$$\begin{cases} \dot{X} = V \\ \dot{Y} = F(t, X, V) \end{cases}$$

with asymptotic conditions $\lim_{t\to\infty} (X - Vt, V) = (x, v)$.

Moreover the flow $\Phi_t(x, v)$ is Holder-continuous in the asymptotic datum and defining

$$f(t, x, v) = \omega((\Phi_t)^{-1}(x, v))$$

for $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2}$, it holds that f is a weak solution of

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \partial_x f(t, x, v) + F(t, x) \partial_v f(t, x, v) = 0, \qquad (1.16)$$

with asymptotic condition given by (1.12).

Thanks to the previous lemma, given F(t, x) a Lipschitz field with Lipschitz constant L_F such that $||F||_{\lambda,\tau} < \infty$ and $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2}$, we can define the operator

$$\mathscr{F}(F)(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} B(x-y) f(t,y,v) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}v \tag{1.17}$$

where f solves the linear problem (1.16).

We observe that, thanks to this definition, equation (1.15) can be rewritten as $F^{(n)} = \mathscr{F}(F^{(n-1)})$. Moreover, in the first step of the iterations, $F^{(0)} = 0$ and $f^{(1)}(t, x, v) = \omega(x - vt, v)$ so that

$$\widehat{\rho^{(1)}}_t(n) = \widehat{\omega}(n, nt).$$

Hence

$$|\mathscr{F}(0)(t,x)| \leq \sum_{n \neq 0} \frac{1}{|n|} |\omega(n,nt)| \leq \sum_{n \neq 0} c_1 \frac{1}{|n|} \frac{1}{1+n^2} e^{-\lambda |n|t} \leq 4c_1 e^{-\lambda t}$$

that is

$$\|\mathscr{F}(0)\|_{\lambda,\tau} \leq 4c_1.$$

A fundamental result for the proof of the theorem is the following proposition, which guarantees the contractivity of the operator \mathscr{F} in the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\lambda,\tau}$.

Proposition 1.1. Let $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2}$ with $\lambda \ge 15\sqrt{c_2}$, for $t > \tau$, F(t,x) be a Lipschitz field with Lipschitz constant $L_F \le 24c_2$ such that $||F||_{\lambda,\tau} < \infty$. Then it holds that

- 1. $|\mathscr{F}(F)(t,x) \mathscr{F}(F)(t,x')| \le 16c_2|x-x'|,$
- 2. $\|\mathscr{F}(F_1) \mathscr{F}(F_2)\|_{\lambda,\tau} \leq \frac{1}{2} \|F_1 F_2\|_{\lambda,\tau}$,
- 3. $\|\mathscr{F}(F)\|_{\lambda,\tau} \leq 4c_1 + \frac{1}{2} \|F\|_{\lambda,\tau}$.

Thanks to this Proposition and to (1.14) we obtain the convergence of the fields defined in (1.15). Hence we have the following main theorem.

Theorem 1.2. Let $\omega \in S_{\lambda,c_1,c_2}$ such that $\lambda \ge 15\sqrt{c_2}$ and τ sufficiently large, then for $t > \tau$ there exists a weak solution of the Vlasov-Poisson equation in the sense of (1.13). Moreover the solution verifies the asymptotic condition

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|f(t, x, v) - \omega(x - vt, v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0,$$

so that the electric field exponentially decays.

The presented scattering result is of nonperturbative type and provides the solution that behaves asymptotically like ω , but does not allow to characterize the initial data for which the Landau damping occurs. In 2009, C. Villani and C. Mouhot in [36], introducing new mathematical techniques, solve the Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Vlasov-Poisson equation, with suitable analytic and Gevrey initial data, proving the existence of $\omega(x, v)$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} (f(t, x, v) - \omega(x - vt, v)) = 0.$$
(1.18)

A substantial analogy exists between the Landau damping in plasma physics and the inviscid damping for the two-dimensional Euler equation (see [25, 41, 38, 34]). In fact in [8] the damping near the Couette flow has been proved using different techniques, this gives rise to a new simpler proof of the Landau damping result in [9] (see also the recent result in [22] for a more elementary proof). We refer the reader to [7] for a review of the state of the art.

In the next two chapters we want to use the Eulerian techniques developed for the Cauchy problem, to better understand the advantages and possible limitations of the backward approach introduced in [17]. The results of the analysis will strongly depend on the regularity of the asymptotic datum. In particular in the case of analytic regularity the scattering approach demonstrates its effectiveness, since, as we have seen in this section and as will be clear from the next chapters, the decay due to analytic regularity greatly facilitates the proof of Landau damping.

We conclude by saying that, for what concerns the damping with Sobolev data, as shown by Lin and Zeng ([27], [28]), for very low regularities Landau damping cannot occur. Although, in the case of the Vlasov-HMF equation with sufficiently high Sobolev regularity, Faou and Rousset in [18] have succeeded in proving the damping with a polynomial rate. Moreover, in the case of the Kuramoto model, a scattering result with Sobolev regularity has been proved in [10].

However, the Vlasov-Poisson equation differs greatly from its HMF approximation and the Kuramoto model. Indeed, a Landau damping result for the full Vlasov-Poisson equation with general Sobolev data is still missing, although Bedrossian in [6] has given a negative answer to the possibility of a straightforward extension to this setting of Mouhot and Villani's work in [36]. This is mainly due to the analysis of the aforementioned plasma echoes which, as we shall see in Chapter 3, is particularly challenging in the case of equation (1.1).

_{Снартег} 2

Backward vs Forward approach for the Vlasov-HMF model

joint work with D. Benedetto and E. Caglioti ([12])

In this Chapter we present a work where we study the differences between the backward and forward approaches for the Landau damping in the Vlasov-HMF equation. We adapt the forward techniques to the backward problem to make a comparison in the case of analytic solutions. In particular, we discuss the different ways the two approaches overcome the difficulties due to the presence of the "echoes", i.e. resonances at certain times between the Fourier modes of the solution. This highlights a simplified structure of the norms used in the backward approach. Moreover, we also give a nonperturbative result, i.e. without requiring the solution to be a small perturbation of a stationary state.

2.1 The Vlasov-HMF model and the scattering problem

We recall here the Vlasov-Poisson equation in the HMF approximation which, in the spatially periodic case, reads as

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \partial_x f(t, x, v) + \mathcal{F}[f](t, x) \partial_v f(t, x, v) = 0,$$
(2.1)

where

$$\mathcal{F}[f](t,x) = -\partial_x \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} \cos(x-y) f(t,y,v) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}v \right)$$
(2.2)

is the mean-field force. Here f(t, x, v) is the normalized density of electrons with position $x \in \mathbb{T}^1$ and velocity $v \in \mathbb{R}$, in a collisionless electrically neutral plasma.

We consider solutions of (2.1) which are small perturbations of a spatially homogeneous solution η , i.e.

$$f(t, x, v) = \eta(v) + \varepsilon r(t, x, v), \qquad (2.3)$$

and we assume η is an analytic function of the velocities. The equation verified by the perturbation r is

 $\partial_t r(t, x, v) + v \partial_x r(t, x, v) + \mathcal{F}[r](t, x) \partial_v \big(\eta(v) + \varepsilon r(t, x, v) \big) = 0,$

where the operator \mathcal{F} is defined in (2.2).

To state the asymptotic behavior as in (1.18) of the previous Chapter, we define h(t, x, v) = r(t, x + vt, v), which verifies the following equation:

$$\partial_t h = \{\psi[h], \eta + \varepsilon h\},\tag{2.4}$$

where ψ is the potential field generated by the perturbation, evaluated along the free flow

$$\psi[h](t,x,v) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} \cos(x-y+(v-u)t)h(t,y,u) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}u \tag{2.5}$$

and where $\{,\}$ is the Poisson bracket.

Recalling (1.18) and (2.3), we study the damping problem by setting $\omega(x, v) = \eta(v) + \varepsilon h_{\infty}(x, v)$, i.e. by searching for a solution for (2.4) such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|h(t, x, v) - h_{\infty}(x, v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{1} \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

where h_{∞} is a mean-zero analytic datum with $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda} < +\infty$ for some $\lambda > 0$.

Firstly, we study the evolution in the time interval [0, T] considering the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h^T(t, x, v) = \{\psi[h^T], \eta + \varepsilon h^T\} & 0 \le t \le T, \\ h^T(T, x, v) = h_\infty(x, v). \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

Then, we show that, for $T \to +\infty$, h^T converges to a solution h, which solves the asymptotic problem.

We work in Fourier transform in $\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}$, using the following notation:

$$\widehat{g}_t(n,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} e^{-inx} e^{-iv\xi} g(t,x,v) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}v \tag{2.7}$$

with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$. In Fourier space the system is

$$\partial_t \widehat{h^T}_t(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \zeta_t^T(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \frac{\zeta_t^T(k)}{2} \widehat{h^T}_t(n-k,\xi-kt)(\xi-nt), \quad (2.8)$$

where $\tilde{\eta'}$ is the Fourier transform of η' in the velocity and $\zeta_t^T(n)$ for $n = \pm 1$ is the electric field:

$$\zeta_t^T(n) = \widehat{h^T}_t(n, nt). \tag{2.9}$$

Integrating equation (2.8) between [t, T] and putting $\xi = nt$, we get an equation for ζ^T :

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_t^T(n) &= \widehat{h^T}_T(n, nt) - \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2}n \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(n(t-s)) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(k) \widehat{h^T}_s(n-k, nt-ks) kn(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$
(2.10)

To give a priori estimates, it is convenient to consider $(\zeta^T(\pm 1), h^T)$ as a coupled system, where (2.9) is a consequence of the uniqueness.

We need to control the loss of analytic regularity of the solutions. For this reason we use techniques inspired by the abstract Cauchy-Kovalevskaya theory (see [16]), adapted to these kinds of problems in [11].

A key point in Landau damping problems is the decay of the electric field. To show this we define the norm of the electric field ζ^T as

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} e^{\lambda t} |\zeta_t^T(1)| = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} e^{\lambda t} |\zeta_t^T(-1)|.$$
(2.11)

We also define a norm that quantifies the analyticity of a function g of the phase space:

$$\|g\|_{\mu} = \sup_{n,\xi} e^{\mu \langle n,\xi \rangle} |\widehat{g}(n,\xi)|, \qquad (2.12)$$

where $\mu > 0$ is a parameter and $\langle n, \xi \rangle = (1 + n^2 + \xi^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

To take into account the decay of the analytic regularity, we define the weighted-in-time analytic norm of the solution $h^T(t,x,v)$ as

$$N_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in D_{\lambda,T}} \alpha_{\delta}^{T}(\mu,t)^{1/2} \|h^{T}(t)\|_{\mu},$$
(2.13)

where

$$D_{\lambda,T} = \{(\mu,t) \in [0,\lambda) \times [0,T], \alpha_{\delta}^{T}(\mu,t) > 0\}$$
(2.14)

and $\alpha_{\delta}^{T}(\mu, t) = \lambda - \mu - a_{T,\delta}(t)$. The function $a_{T,\delta}(t)$ is the unique solution of the following ordinary differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \dot{a}_{T,\delta}(t) = -\delta e^{-a_{T,\delta}(t)t}(1+t) & \text{if } 0 \leq t \leq T \\ a_{T,\delta}(T) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

and measures the loss of analytic regularity of the solutions with respect to the final datum, as in (2.23) below: it is 0 at time T, and it is maximum at t = 0. In view of the limit $T \rightarrow +\infty$, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1. For $\delta > 0$ the unique solution of the backward Cauchy problem (2.15) is positive and decreasing in time, and verifies

$$a_{T,\delta}(0) \leq C(\delta),$$

with $C(\delta) \to 0$ when δ goes to zero. The solution $a_{\infty,\delta}(t)$ with initial datum

$$a_{\infty,\delta}(0) = \lim_{T \to +\infty} a_{T,\delta}(0)$$

is positive in $[0, +\infty)$ and

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} a_{\infty,\delta}(t) = 0.$$

As a consequence, given $\lambda > 0$, we can choose δ sufficiently small such that there exist $\mu \in (0, \lambda)$ for which for any T > 0, $[0, \mu] \times [0, T] \subset D_{\lambda,T}$.

Proof. Here we omit the symbol δ from $a_{T,\delta}$. Since $a_T(t)$ is decreasing, we have, for any $\overline{t} \in [0, T]$,

$$a_{T}(0) = a_{T}(\bar{t}) + \delta \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} e^{-a_{T}(s)s} (1+s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leq a_{T}(\bar{t}) + \delta \int_{0}^{\bar{t}} e^{-a_{T}(\bar{t})s} (1+s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leq a_{T}(\bar{t}) + \delta \frac{1}{a_{T}(\bar{t})} + \delta \frac{1}{a_{T}^{2}(\bar{t})}.$$

If $\delta \leq 1$, the minimum of $x + \delta/x^2$, for x > 0, is less than $c_1 \delta^{1/3}$ and is reached in $x < c_2 \delta^{1/3}$. Then, if $a_T(0) \ge \max(c_1, c_2) \delta^{1/3}$, the right-hand side reach the minimum for some \bar{t} , and then $a_T(0) \le c_1 \delta^{1/3}$. This implies that $a_T(0) \le \max(c_1, c_2) \delta^{1/3}$.

For any t < T, a_T is uniformly bounded and is increasing in T, so it converges to a positive function $a_{\infty}(t)$. For any time interval in $[0, +\infty)$, by dominated convergence in the integral formulation of (2.15), we get that $a_{\infty}(t)$ solves the differential equation with initial datum $a_{\infty}(0)$.

Now we prove that $\lim_{t\to+\infty} a_{\infty}(t) = 0$. First notice that given b > 0 there exists $b_0 > 0$ such that the solution of

$$\dot{a} = -\delta e^{-ta}(1+t)$$

with initial datum b_0 exists for all times and $a(t) \ge b$ for all time. To prove this, we choose $b_0 > b + \delta(1/b + 1/b^2)$ and consider the first time τ such that $a(\tau) = b$. Until τ ,

$$b_0 - a(t) = \delta \int_0^t e^{-as} (1+s) \, \mathrm{d}s \leq \delta \left(\frac{1}{b} + \frac{1}{b^2}\right).$$

Then $\tau = +\infty$.

Let a(0) be the initial datum of a generic solution a(t). Set

$$\bar{a} = \inf\{a(0) | \lim_{t \to +\infty} a(t) \ge 0\},\$$

and let $\bar{a}(t)$ the solution with initial datum \bar{a} . It is easy to prove that $\bar{a}(t) \to 0$, otherwise \bar{a} is not the infimum. We conclude the proof by noticing that $a_{\infty}(0) \leq \bar{a}$, then $a_{\infty}(t)$ is dominated by $\bar{a}(t)$ which is a vanishing function.

We define $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda,T}$ the space of function h(t, x, v), defined for $t \in [0, T]$, with $N_{\lambda,T}[h] < +\infty$, and $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda,\infty}$ as the space of functions h(t, x, v) with $t \in [0, +\infty)$ such that $N_{\lambda,\infty}[h] < +\infty$, where $N_{\lambda,\infty}[h]$ is defined in the region $D_{\lambda,\infty} = \{(\mu, t) \in [0, \lambda) \times [0, +\infty), \alpha_{\delta}^{\infty}(\mu, t) > 0\}$ with $\alpha_{\delta}^{\infty}(\mu, t) = \lambda - \mu - a_{\infty,\delta}(t)$.

2.1.1 Estimates for ζ^T

As we show more accurately in the following lemma, eq. (2.10) for the field ζ^T has the structure of a Volterra equation. In order to invert the term of order one in the equation, we use the following classical result about the theory of Volterra operators.

Theorem 2.1 ([23], p. 45). Given a Volterra equation of the form f(t) + j * f(t) = g(t), where

$$j * f(t) = \int_0^t j(t-s)f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

with $j \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. The resolvent kernel r, i.e. the unique solution of the equation

$$r+j*r=j,$$

belongs to $L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ if and only if

$$\mathcal{L}[j](\sigma) \neq -1 \quad \textit{for} \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0,$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}[j](\sigma) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\sigma t} j(t) \,\mathrm{d}t$$

is the Laplace transform of j. The solution f is then given by f(t) = g(t) - r * g(t).

We can now state the inversion lemma. We set

$$j_t(n) \equiv i\frac{n}{2}\widetilde{\eta'}(nt), \qquad (2.16)$$

and

$$H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t) = \widehat{h^{T}}_{T}(n, nt) - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_{t}^{T} \zeta_{s}^{T}(k) \widehat{h^{T}}_{s}(n-k, nt-ks) kn(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.17)

Lemma 2.2. Let $\lambda > 0$ with $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda} < +\infty$ and $||\eta||_{\lambda} < +\infty$. Assume that

$$\mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma) \neq 1, \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0$$

then

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \leq C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T].$$

We notice that the condition on the Laplace transform is fulfilled also by j(-1) since $\overline{j(1)} = j(-1)$.

Proof. Let us define $\phi_{\lambda}(t) = e^{\lambda(T-t)}\zeta_{T-t}^{T}(1)$, $F_{\varepsilon}(t) = e^{\lambda(T-t)}H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(T-t)$. Multiplying by $e^{\lambda t}$, (2.10) can be rewritten as

$$\phi_{\lambda}(t) + j_{\lambda} * \phi_{\lambda}(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t), \qquad (2.18)$$

for $t \in [0, T]$, where $j_{\lambda}(t) = -e^{-\lambda t} j_t(-1)$. We notice that $j_{\lambda} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ and if $\Re \sigma \ge 0$

$$\mathcal{L}[j_{\lambda}](\sigma) = -\mathcal{L}[j(-1)](\sigma + \lambda) \neq -1.$$

Then, from Theorem (2.1), the resolvent kernel r_{λ} related to j_{λ} belongs to $L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$. Convolving with r_{λ} in (2.18), we get

$$\phi_{\lambda}(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t) - \int_{0}^{t} r_{\lambda}(t-s) F_{\varepsilon}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Taking the absolute values, it holds

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] = \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\phi_{\lambda}(t)| \leq M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T] + ||r_{\lambda}||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)} M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T]$$

and the thesis follows with $C_{\lambda} = 1 + ||r_{\lambda}||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})}$.

We now state the main estimate of this section.

Proposition 2.1. Let $\zeta^T(\pm 1)$ solution of (2.10) and suppose $N_{\lambda,T}[h^T] < +\infty$. Then, under the hypothesis of Lemma (2.2), we have

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \leq C_{\lambda} \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon \frac{C_{\lambda}}{\lambda^2 \sqrt{\lambda - a_{\infty,\delta}(0)}} M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] N_{\lambda,T}[h^T].$$
(2.19)

Proof. From Lemma (2.2) we need only to estimate $N_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}]$. Being $h^{T}(T, x, v) = h_{\infty}(x, v)$, from (2.17) we have

$$e^{\lambda t}|H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t)| \leq \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]N_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}] \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{e^{-\lambda(s-t)-\mu'\langle n-k,nt-ks\rangle}}{\alpha^{T}(\mu',s)^{1/2}} (s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad (2.20)$$

for any $\mu' < \lambda - a_{T,\delta}(s)$. Then, by choosing $\mu' = 0$, and using that $a_{T,\delta}(s) \leq a_{T,\delta}(0) < a_{\infty,\delta}(0)$ we get

$$e^{\lambda t}|H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t)| \leq \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon \frac{M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]N_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}]}{(\lambda - a_{\infty,\delta}(0))^{1/2}} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\lambda(s-t)}(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

2.1.2 Estimates for h^T

Now we turn to give a Cauchy-Kovalevskaya estimate on h^T . Due to the loss of analytic regularity in time, it is crucial to use the weighted norm introduced in (2.13).

Proposition 2.2. Let h^T a solution of (2.6) and assume $M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] < +\infty$ then the following estimate holds:

$$N_{\lambda,T}[h^T] \leq C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \frac{C}{\delta} M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \|\eta\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon \frac{C}{\delta} M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] N_{\lambda,T}[h^T].$$
(2.21)

Proof. Fixing $\mu < \lambda - a_{T,\delta}(t)$, from (2.8) we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|\widehat{h^{T}}_{t}(n,\xi)| \leq \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|D^{T}_{t}(n,\xi)| + e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|E^{T}_{t}(n,\xi)|$$
(2.22)

where

$$D_t^T(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} n \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and

$$E_t^T(n,\xi) \equiv \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(k) \widehat{h^T}_s(n-k,\xi-ks) k(\xi-ns) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

We estimate separately the two terms. As regards $E_t^T(n,\xi),$ since

$$e^{\mu \langle n,\xi \rangle} \leqslant e^{\mu \langle n-k,\xi-ks \rangle} e^{\mu \langle k,ks \rangle}.$$

by the triangular inequality and taking

$$\mu(s) = \frac{\lambda + \mu - a_{T,\delta}(s)}{2},$$

i.e. the middle point between μ and $\lambda - a_{T,\delta}(s)$, we have

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle} |E_t^T(n,\xi)| &\leq \sum_{k=\pm 1} M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \times \\ &\times \int_t^T e^{-(\lambda-\mu)s} \|h^T(s)\|_{\mu(s)} e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle} |\xi-ns| \,\mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

where we have also used that $\langle \pm 1, \pm s \rangle \leq C + s$. Noting that

$$e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle}|\xi-ns| \leq \frac{2(1+s)}{\lambda-\mu-a_{T,\delta}(s)}$$

we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|E_t^T(n,\xi)| \leqslant \frac{C}{\delta}M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T]N_{\lambda,T}[h^T]\int_t^T \frac{\delta e^{-(\lambda-\mu)s}(1+s)}{\alpha^T(\mu,s)^{3/2}}\,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.23)

Being $\lambda - \mu > a_{T,\delta}(s)$ and using the definition of $a_{T,\delta}$ in (2.15)

$$\frac{e^{-(\lambda-\mu)s}(1+s)}{\alpha^T(\mu,s)^{3/2}} \leqslant -\frac{2}{\delta} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s} \alpha^T(\mu,s)^{-1/2}$$

and then

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|E_t(n,\xi)| \leq \frac{C}{\delta}M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T]N_{\lambda,T}[h^T]\frac{1}{\alpha^T(\mu,t)^{1/2}}$$

As regards $D_t^T(n,\xi)$, for $\mu < \lambda - a_{T,\delta}(t)$,

$$\begin{aligned} e^{\mu \langle n, \xi \rangle} |D_t^T(n, \xi)| &\leq C M_{\lambda, T}[\zeta^T] \|\eta\|_{\lambda} \int_t^T e^{-(\lambda - \mu)s} e^{-(\lambda - \mu) \langle \xi - ns \rangle} \langle \xi - ns \rangle \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\delta} M_{\lambda, T}[\zeta^T] \|\eta\|_{\lambda} \int_t^T \frac{\delta e^{-a_{T,\delta}(s)s}(1+s)}{\alpha^T(\mu, s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

where in the last inequality we have used that $\lambda - \mu > \lambda - \mu - a_{T,\delta}(s) = \alpha^T(\mu, s)$ and also that $\lambda - \mu > a_{T,\delta}(s)$. Computing the integral, we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|D_t^T(n,\xi)| \leqslant \frac{C}{\delta}M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T]\|\eta\|_{\lambda}\ln\left(\frac{\alpha^T(\mu,T)}{\alpha^T(\mu,t)}\right)$$

We conclude the proof multiplying (2.22) by $\alpha^T(\mu, t)^{1/2}$, and taking the supremum over $D_{\lambda,T}$.

2.1.3 The backward result

Theorem 2.2. Let $h_{\infty} \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})$ analytic such that $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda} < +\infty$ with $\lambda > 0$. Consider $\eta \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ analytic such that $||\eta||_{\lambda} < +\infty$. Moreover, assume

$$\mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma) \neq 1, \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0,$$

with j(1) as in (2.16). Then, for small values of ε , there exists a unique solution $h_t = h(t, x, v)$ of (2.4) with $N_{\lambda,\infty}[h] < +\infty$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|h_t - h_\infty\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

with exponential rate.

Proof. For every T we get the unique solution h^T of (2.6) using the following iterative procedure. For $j \ge 0$ and $0 \le t \le T$ let

$$\partial_t \hat{h}_t^{(j+1),T}(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{i}{2} \zeta_t^{(j),T}(n) \tilde{\eta'}(\xi - nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \frac{\zeta_t^{(j),T}(k)}{2} \hat{h}_t^{(j+1),T}(n-k,\xi-kt)(\xi - nt),$$
(2.24)

where $\zeta_t^{(j),T}(1)$ is defined by

$$\begin{aligned} \zeta_t^{(j),T}(1) &= \hat{h}_{\infty}(1,t) - \frac{i}{2} \int_t^T \zeta_s^{(j),T}(1) \widetilde{\eta'}(t-s) \, ds \\ &- \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_t^T \zeta_s^{(j),T}(k) \widehat{h}_s^{(j),T}(n-k,t-ks) k(s-t) \, ds \end{aligned}$$

where $\zeta^{(j),T}(-1) = \zeta^{\overline{(j),T}(1)}$ and with initial step $h^{(0),T}(t, x, v) = h_{\infty}(x, v)$. Then $h^{(j),T}$ verifies the same bounds of the a priori estimates in (2.19) and (2.21):

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{(j),T}] \leqslant C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon C M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{(j),T}] N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j),T}]$$

and

$$N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j+1),T}] \leq C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + CM_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{(j),T}] \Big(\|\eta\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j+1),T}] \Big)$$
$$\leq C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon CM_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{(j),T}] \Big(N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j),T}] + N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j+1),T}] \Big),$$

where we have used (2.19) in the last inequality and where C is a generic constant depending on λ and δ . Since $N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(0),T}] \leq C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda}$, taking $\varepsilon \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda}$ sufficiently small, we get that $M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{(j),T}]$ and $N_{\lambda,T}[h^{(j+1),T}]$ are uniformly bounded in $j \geq 0$. Then, taking $\delta' > \delta$ in Lemma (2.1), the time derivative of $h^{(j),T}$ is uniformly bounded in $N_{\lambda,T}[\cdot]$. Hence there exists a subsequence $h^{(j_k),T}$ which converge to a function $h^T \in \mathcal{B}_{\lambda,T}$, while $\zeta^{(j_k),T}(\pm 1)$ converge to a function $\zeta^T(\pm 1)$ such that $M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] < +\infty$. Then $h_n^T(t, nt) = \zeta_t^T(n)$ for $n = \pm 1$ and it is a solution of the nonlinear problem (2.6).

We now extend $h^T(t, x, v) = h_{\infty}(x, v)$ for $t \ge T$ and we consider the sequence of solutions $\{h^T\}$, with $h^T \in \mathcal{B}_{\lambda,\infty}$. We can see that h^T fulfills the Cauchy property as a function of T in $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda',\infty}$ with $\lambda > \lambda' > a_{\delta,\infty}(0)$. In fact, fixed T^* , taking $T' \ge T \ge T^*$, we have for $t \le T$

$$\begin{split} &\widehat{h^{T'}}_{t}(n,\xi) - \widehat{h^{T}}_{t}(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \int_{t}^{T} \left(\zeta_{s}^{T}(n) - \zeta_{s}^{T'}(n) \right) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\left(\zeta_{s}^{T}(k) - \zeta_{s}^{T'}(k) \right)}{2} \widehat{h^{T}}_{s}(n - k, \xi - ks)(\xi - ns) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\zeta_{s}^{T'}(k)}{2} \left(\widehat{h^{T}}_{s}(n - k, \xi - ks) - \widehat{h^{T'}}_{s}(n - k, \xi - ks) \right) (\xi - ns) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \int_{T}^{T'} \zeta_{s}^{T'}(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \int_{T}^{T'} \frac{\zeta_{s}^{T'}(k)}{2} \widehat{h^{T'}}_{s}(n - k, \xi - ks)(\xi - ns) \, \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$
and an analogous of equation (2.10) holds for $\zeta^T - \zeta^{T'}$. Doing estimates in the style of (2.19) and (2.21), we get

$$M_{\lambda',T}[\zeta^{T'} - \zeta^{T}] \leqslant \varepsilon C M_{\lambda',T}[\zeta^{T'} - \zeta^{T}] + \varepsilon C N_{\lambda',\infty}[h^{T'} - h^{T}] + \varepsilon \frac{C}{{\lambda'}^2} e^{-(\lambda - \lambda')T^*}$$

and

$$N_{\lambda',\infty}[h^{T'} - h^{T}] \leq CM_{\lambda',T}[\zeta^{T'} - \zeta^{T}] + \varepsilon CM_{\lambda',T}[\zeta^{T'} - \zeta^{T}] + \varepsilon CN_{\lambda',\infty}[h^{T'} - h^{T}] + \frac{(1+\varepsilon)C}{\min\{1,\lambda-\lambda'\}^{3}}e^{-\frac{(\lambda-\lambda')}{2}T^{*}}.$$
(2.25)

Hence, using again the smallness of ε , we conclude that

$$\lim_{T^* \to +\infty} \sup_{T' \ge T \ge T^*} N_{\lambda',\infty} [h^{T'} - h^T] = 0$$

Being uniformly bounded in $\mathcal{B}_{\lambda,\infty}$, the sequence $\{h^T\}$ converge to a function $h \in \mathcal{B}_{\lambda,\infty}$ and, passing to the limit by dominated convergence in the integral formulation, h(t, x, v)is solution of the nonlinear equation (2.4) in $[0, +\infty)$. So, taking $\overline{\mu} < \lambda - a_{\infty,\delta}(0)$, we have that $\|h(t, x, v) - h_{\infty}(x, v)\|_{\overline{\mu}} \to 0$.

We get the uniqueness of the solutions with a similar procedure. Let g(t, x, v) and h(t, x, v) be two solutions of (2.4) with the same asymptotic datum h_{∞} . Proceeding as before, we can prove that they verify the estimates (2.19) and (2.21). Hence, denoting ζ_h the electric field associated to h, we get

$$\max\left(N_{\lambda,\infty}[h], M_{\lambda,\infty}[\zeta_h]\right) \leqslant C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda}$$

and analogously for g(t, x, v). Estimating $N_{\lambda,\infty}[g-h]$, we obtain the same estimates as in (2.25) without the rest terms:

$$A \equiv \max\left(N_{\lambda,\infty}[g-h], M_{\lambda,\infty}[\zeta_g - \zeta_h]\right) \leqslant C(\varepsilon)A.$$

Using the smallness on ε as before, we have $C(\varepsilon) < 1$, from which the uniqueness follows.

We remark that in [17], in the case of the scattering problem for the Vlasov-Poisson equation, the uniqueness is guaranteed for a wider class of solutions, not necessarily analytic. \Box

2.2 Nonperturbative regime

Using the backward approach for large times it is possible to construct solutions without perturbating around the homogeneous equilibrium $\eta(v)$, in the style of [17]. The price to pay is that the analytic estimates hold only in $[\tau, +\infty)$ for τ large enough.

Fixed an analytic asymptotic state $\omega(x, v)$, consider (2.1) and write

$$f(t, x, v) = \bar{\omega}(v) + g(t, x, v),$$

where $\bar{\omega}$ is the mean of $\omega(x, v)$ with respect to the x variable. Then h(t, x, v) = g(t, x + vt, v) verifies the equation

$$\partial_t h = \{\psi[h], \bar{\omega} + h\}$$

where ψ is defined as in (2.5). For $T \ge \tau$, let us consider the following sequence of problems

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h^T = \{\psi[h^T], \bar{\omega} + h^T\} \quad \tau \leqslant t \leqslant T, \\ h^T(T, x, v) = (\omega - \bar{\omega})(x, v). \end{cases}$$

We introduce the weighted norm

$$Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in\Omega_{\lambda,T}} \theta^{T}(\mu,t)^{1/2} \|h^{T}(t)\|_{\mu},$$

with the weight $\theta^T(\mu, t) = (\lambda - \mu - \Delta a_T(s))$, where $\Delta = \lambda'/a_{\infty}(\tau)$, $\lambda' < \lambda$ and $a_T(s)$ is defined as in (2.15) putting $\delta = 1$. Notice now that Δ is a diverging quantity for sufficiently large τ . Here $\Omega_{\lambda,T} = \{(\mu, t) \in [0, \lambda) \times [\tau, T], \theta^T(\mu, t) > 0\}$ and, as in the previous case, we can give the analogous definitions for $Q_{\lambda,\infty}[\cdot]$, θ^{∞} and $\Omega_{\lambda,\infty}$.

We define $\zeta_t^T(n) = \widehat{h^T}_t(n, nt), n = \pm 1$, then ζ^T verifies the following equation:

$$\zeta_t^T(n) = \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(n) j_n(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}s + W^T(t), \tag{2.26}$$

where we have defined

$$W^{T}(t) \equiv \widehat{\omega}(n, nT) - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_{t}^{T} \zeta_{s}^{T}(k) \widehat{h}_{s}^{T}(n-k, nt-ks) kn(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and

$$j_t(n) = \mathrm{i}\frac{n}{2}\widetilde{\omega'}_0(nt). \tag{2.27}$$

As in (2.11) we denote

$$P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] = \sup_{t \in [\tau,T]} e^{\lambda t} |\zeta_t^T(1)| = \sup_{t \in [\tau,T]} e^{\lambda t} |\zeta_t^T(-1)|$$

We can now state the following theorem.

Theorem 2.3. Let $\omega \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})$ analytic such that $\|\omega\|_{\lambda} < +\infty$ and assume that

$$\mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma) \neq 1, \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0, \tag{2.28}$$

with j(1) as in (2.27). Then, for sufficiently large τ , there exists a unique solution h(t, x, v) of

$$\partial_t h = \{\psi[h], \bar{\omega} + h\} \quad \text{if} \quad \tau \leq t < +\infty,$$

with $Q_{\lambda,\infty}[h] < +\infty$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|h_t - (\omega - \bar{\omega})\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

with exponential rate.

Proof of Theorem (2.3). The proof goes in the same way of Theorem (2.2) but instead of using the smallness of ε , we can use the size of Δ . Indeed as in Proposition (2.2) we can estimate h^T in $[\tau, T]$ where h^T verifies the equation

$$\widehat{h^T}_t(n,\xi) = D_t(n,\xi) - \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_0^t k \frac{\zeta_s^T(k)}{2} \widehat{h^T}_s(n-k,\xi-ks)(\xi-ns) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

with

$$D_t(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} n \int_t^T \zeta_s^T(n) \widetilde{\omega_0'}(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

We first treat the case $n \neq \pm 1$. As in (2.23) and using $\lambda - \mu > \Delta a_T(s) > a_T(s)$ we have

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle} |\widehat{h^{T}}_{t}(n,\xi)| &\leq \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + CP_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}] \int_{t}^{T} \frac{e^{-(\lambda-\mu)s}(1+s)}{\Theta^{T}(\mu,s)^{3/2}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + C\frac{P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}]}{\Delta} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\Delta e^{-a_{T}(s)s}(1+s)}{\Theta^{T}(\mu,s)^{3/2}} \,\mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

and thus, since

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Theta^{T}(\mu,t)^{-1/2} = -\frac{\Delta}{2} \frac{e^{-a_{T}(s)s}(1+s)}{\Theta^{T}(\mu,t)^{3/2}}$$

we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|\widehat{h^{T}}_{t}(n,\xi)| \leq \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + C \frac{P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}]}{\Delta\Theta^{T}(\mu,s)^{1/2}}.$$
(2.29)

Now we estimate $D_t(n,\xi)$, $n = \pm 1$. Take $\mu < \lambda - \Delta a_T(t)$, hence $\lambda - \mu > (\lambda - \mu - \Delta a_T(s))/2$, so we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}|D_{t}(n,\xi)| \leq CP_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]\|\omega\|_{\lambda} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-(\lambda-\mu)s} e^{-(\lambda-\mu)\langle\xi-ns\rangle} \langle\xi-ns\rangle ds$$
$$\leq CP_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]\|\omega\|_{\lambda} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{e^{-a_{T}(s)s}(1+s)}{\Theta^{T}(\mu,s)} ds$$
$$\leq C \frac{P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]\|\omega\|_{\lambda}}{\Delta} \ln\left(\frac{\Theta^{T}(\mu,T)}{\Theta^{T}(\mu,t)}\right).$$
(2.30)

Hence, multiplying by $\Theta^T(\mu,t)^{1/2}$ in (2.29) and (2.30) we get

$$Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T] \leq C \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + \frac{C}{\Delta} P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + \frac{C}{\Delta} P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T].$$

Regarding ζ^T in (2.26), using (2.28) and (2.1) we have

$$P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \leqslant C_{\lambda} P_{\lambda,T}[W^T].$$

We need better estimates than that in (2.20). We get them by splitting the two modes $k=\pm 1$ in

$$\sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_{t}^{T} \zeta_{s}^{T}(k) \widehat{h}_{s}^{T}(1-k,t-ks) k(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}s = B_{1} + B_{-1}.$$
(2.31)

If k = -1, for $\mu' < \lambda - \Delta a_{\infty}(\tau) = \lambda - \lambda'$, we get

$$\begin{aligned} e^{\lambda t}|B_{-1}| &\leq P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \int_t^T e^{-\lambda(s-t)} \frac{Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T]}{\Theta(\mu',s)^{1/2}} e^{-\mu'(t+s)}(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T] \frac{e^{-2\mu'\tau}}{(\lambda-\mu'-\lambda')^{1/2}} \int_t^T e^{-\lambda(s-t)}(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T] \frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{\lambda^2} e^{-(\lambda-\lambda')\tau}, \end{aligned}$$

where we have taken the infimum on $\mu' \in [0, \lambda - \lambda']$ in the last inequality. In the other case, using that $\omega - \overline{\omega}$ has mean zero in the x variable, we have

$$\widehat{h^{T}}_{s}(0,t-s) = \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_{s}^{T} \zeta_{l}^{T}(k) \widehat{h^{T}}_{l}(-k,t-s-kl)k(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}l.$$
(2.32)

Replacing (2.32) in (2.31) we obtain

$$\begin{split} e^{\lambda t}|B_{1}| &\leq P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}] \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\lambda(s-t)}(s-t)|\widehat{h^{T}}_{s}(0,t-s)| \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq CP_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}] \frac{Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}]}{\lambda - \lambda'} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\lambda(s-t)}(s-t)^{2} \int_{s}^{T} e^{-\lambda l} \,\mathrm{d}l \\ &\leq C \frac{P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^{T}]Q_{\lambda,T}[h^{T}]}{\lambda^{3}(\lambda - \lambda')} e^{-\lambda\tau}. \end{split}$$

Hence

$$P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] \leq \|\omega\|_{\lambda} + CP_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T]Q_{\lambda,T}[h^T]\left(\frac{\sqrt{\tau}}{\lambda^2}e^{-(\lambda-\lambda')\tau} + \frac{e^{-\lambda\tau}P_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T]}{\lambda^3(\lambda-\lambda')}\right)$$

and we can reason as in the proof of the main theorem avoiding to use the smallness of $\varepsilon.$

Remark 2.1. We notice that in this setting we have obtained an Eulerian analog of the scattering result in [17], in the special case of the HMF model. In [17] Caglioti and Maffei, using the Lagrangian description of the flow, obtain the damping result for the Vlasov-Poisson equation, by a fixed point technique, considering an asymptotic state ω with $\|\omega\|_{\lambda} < +\infty$ such that

$$\omega(x,v) \leqslant \frac{M}{(1+v^2)^2}$$

for some M > 0 and $\lambda \ge C\sqrt{M}$, with C some purely numerical constant. Here we show that such class of final data fulfills condition (2.28), if $\lambda > \pi\sqrt{M}$. Indeed, taking n = 1 in (2.26) and multiplying by $e^{\lambda t}$ we get as in (2.18)

$$\phi_{\lambda}^{T}(t) + \phi_{\lambda}^{T} * j_{\lambda}(t) = e^{\lambda(T-t)} W^{T}(T-t)$$

with $j_{\lambda}(t) = -e^{-\lambda t}j_{-1}(t)$ and $\phi_{\lambda}^{T}(t) = e^{\lambda(T-t)}\zeta_{1}^{T}(T-t)$. So it is sufficient to notice that, since $|\widetilde{\omega_{0}}| \leq M\pi^{2}$, we have

$$|\mathcal{L}[j(\pm 1)](\sigma)| \leq M\pi^2 \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\Re\sigma t} e^{-\lambda t} t \, \mathrm{d}t \leq \pi^2 \frac{M}{\lambda^2} < 1, \quad \Re\sigma \ge 0$$

hence (2.1) holds.

Remark 2.2. The nonperturbative scattering result in Theorem (2.3) allows the choice of asymptotic states ω within a distance of O(1) from a given homogeneous state $\eta(v)$. This fact poses a significant difference with respect to the forward perturbative results where, as we show in the next section (2.3), given an equilibrium $\eta(v)$ which verify some stability properties, there exists an $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ such that every initial data in an analytic neighborhood of η of $O(\varepsilon)$ with $\varepsilon < \varepsilon_0$ verifies the Landau damping.

Actually, solutions of the backward and forward problems are of a different type. Indeed, in the case of the attractive HMF model ¹, it is easy to find nonhomogeneous BGK stationary solutions $\omega(x, v)$ of the HMF that can be chosen as scattering asymptotic datum for the HMF, i.e. such that there exists a solution $f_{\omega}(t, x, v)$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|f_{\omega}(t, x, v) - \omega(x - vt, v)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0.$$

This solution f_{ω} could never be a Landau Damping solution because it is not close, in a strong norm, say L^1 , to its weak asymptotic limit $\eta(v)$ which is given by the average in x of $\omega(x, v)$. Indeed at the same L^1 distance from η there exists a BGK stationary solution of the HMF model.

We give an example of such BGK solution, which can be constructed using that any function of the mean-field energy is an equilibrium. In this example we consider the attractive HMF model with

$$\mathcal{F}[f](t,x) = \partial_x \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} \cos(x-y) f(t,y,v) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}v \right)$$

in (2.1) and we choose, for β , $\nu > 0$ to be fixed,

$$\omega_{\beta,\nu}(x,v) = \frac{e^{-\beta H_{\nu}(x,v)}}{\mathcal{Z}},$$

where $H_{\nu}(x,v) = \frac{v^2}{2} - \nu \cos x$ and \mathcal{Z} is the normalizing constant. Using the simple structure of the potential, we have that $\omega_{\nu}(x,v)$ is a stationary solution of the attractive HMF model, provided that the following compatibility condition is fulfilled:

$$\Omega_{\beta}(\nu) \equiv \int \omega_{\beta,\nu}(x,v) \cos x \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v = \nu.$$

By Taylor expansion $\Omega_{\beta}(\nu) = \beta \nu/2 + o(\beta \nu)$ as $\nu \to 0$, while $\Omega_{\beta}(\nu) \to 1$ if $\nu \to +\infty$. Hence for $\beta > 2$ there exists at least one value $\bar{\nu}$ such that $\Omega_{\beta}(\bar{\nu}) = \bar{\nu}$.

Remark 2.3. In section (2.1) we have proved exponential damping of solutions of the HMF model in the scattering setting in the perturbative case, while in this section we prove the result for τ large. These two sections could have been partially joined by considering as a smallness parameter $\epsilon = e^{-\lambda\tau}$. However, given the different nature of the problems faced, we believe it is clearer to derive the two results separately.

2.3 The Cauchy problem

In this section, instead of fixing an asymptotic condition, we study the Cauchy problem for equation (2.1), with initial condition at time zero. We refer to the last section (2.4) for the discussion of the differences and advantages of the backward approach compared to this. Putting (2.8) in integral form we get

$$\hat{h}_t(n,\xi) = \hat{h}_0(n,\xi) + \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \int_0^t \zeta_s(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} k \int_0^t \zeta_s(k) \hat{h}_s(n-k,\xi-ks)(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
(2.33)

¹Except this paragraph, the choice of an attractive or repulsive potential is indifferent in this Chapter.

and taking $\xi = nt$ for $n = \pm 1$ in (2.33), we obtain the equation for the electric field:

$$\zeta_t(n) = \hat{h}_0(n, nt) + n\frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \int_0^t \zeta_s(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(n(t-s)) \,\mathrm{d}s - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} kn \int_0^t \zeta_s(k) \hat{h}_s(n-k, nt-ks)(t-s) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.34)

We introduce the weight $A^{\lambda,p}(n,\xi) = e^{\lambda \langle n,\xi \rangle} \langle n,\xi \rangle^p$ and the corresponding analytic norm of a generic function f as

$$||f||_{\lambda,p} = \sup_{n,\xi} A^{\lambda,p}(n,\xi) |\widehat{f}(n,\xi)|.$$

In the following we take a mean-zero initial datum h_0 such that $||h_0||_{\lambda_0,p} < +\infty$, for some λ_0 and p to be fixed.

As done before, we want to study the coupled system $(\zeta(\pm 1), h)$. For this purpose, we define the norm of the electric field ζ as

$$J_{\lambda_0}^p[\zeta] = \sup_{\beta(\lambda,t)>0} e^{\lambda t} \langle t \rangle^p |\zeta_t(\pm 1)|.$$
(2.35)

Here

$$\beta(\lambda, t) = \lambda_0 - \lambda - \delta \arctan(t)$$
(2.36)

with $\delta < 2\lambda_0/\pi$ measures the loss of analytic regularity with respect to λ_0 .

We remark that the choice of the arctan function is not mandatory, contrary to the backward case previously described, in which the regularity decay is more precisely prescribed by the structure of the estimates.

We define a weighted-in-time norm on h with two terms:

$$K_{\lambda_0,q}^{3,p+1}[h] = \mathcal{K}^3[h] + K_q^{p+1}[h], \qquad (2.37)$$

where

$$\mathcal{K}^{3}[h] = \sup_{\beta(\lambda,t)>0} \|h(t)\|_{\lambda,3}$$

and

$$K_q^{p+1}[h] = \sup_{\beta(\lambda,t)>0} \beta(\lambda,t)^{1/2} \frac{\|h(t)\|_{\lambda,p+1}}{\langle t \rangle^q}.$$

The occurrence of the last term is in the spirit of the abstract Cauchy-Kovalevskaya theorem, while the term \mathcal{K}^3 is due to the treatment of the two echoes term in the equation for $\zeta(\pm 1)$, as we show in Prop. (2.3).

2.3.1 Estimates for ζ

In the sequel, for $\gamma > \lambda_0$, it is useful to introduce the quantity

$$j_t(n) = i\frac{n}{2}\tilde{\eta'}(nt)e^{\lambda_0 t}$$
(2.38)

and define

$$G_{\varepsilon}(t) \equiv \hat{h}_0(n, nt) - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_0^t \zeta_s(k) \hat{h}_s(n-k, nt-ks) kn(t-s) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.39)

Lemma 2.3. Let $\eta(v)$ analytic such that $\|\eta'\|_{\gamma} < +\infty$ with $\gamma > \lambda_0$. If

$$\mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma) \neq 1 \quad \text{for} \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0$$

then

$$J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \leqslant C(\gamma, \lambda_0) J^p_{\lambda_0}[G_{\varepsilon}].$$

Proof. Assume p = 0 and take $\lambda > 0$ such that $\beta(\lambda, t) > 0$ then

$$e^{\lambda t}\zeta_t(1) = \int_0^t j_\lambda(t-s)e^{\lambda s}\zeta_s(1)\,\mathrm{d}s + e^{\lambda t}G_\varepsilon(t)$$

with $j_{\lambda}(t) \equiv e^{-(\lambda_0 - \lambda)t} j_t(1)$. From Theorem (2.1), since $j_{\lambda} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ for $\gamma > \lambda_0$ and

$$\mathcal{L}[j_{\lambda}](\sigma) = \mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma + \lambda_0 - \lambda) \neq 1 \text{ for } \Re \sigma \ge 0,$$

there exists a unique resolvent kernel r_{λ} associated to j_{λ} with $r_{\lambda} \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$. Doing the convolution with r_{λ} , we get

$$e^{\lambda t}\zeta_t = \int_0^t r_\lambda(t-s)e^{\lambda s}G_\varepsilon(s)\,\mathrm{d}s + e^{\lambda t}G_\varepsilon(t).$$

Taking the absolute value, we obtain

$$e^{\lambda t} |\zeta_t| \leq (1 + ||r_\lambda||_{L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)}) J^0_{\lambda_0}[G_{\varepsilon}],$$
(2.40)

and we get the thesis for p = 0 taking the supremum over $\beta(\lambda, t) > 0$.

Let us give the proof in the case p = 1, which is not difficult to extend to the general one.

$$te^{\lambda t}\zeta_t = \int_0^t j_\lambda(t-s)se^{\lambda s}\zeta_s \,\mathrm{d}s + Z_\varepsilon(t)$$

with

$$Z_{\varepsilon}(t) \equiv \int_{0}^{t} j_{\lambda}(t-s)(t-s)e^{\lambda s}\zeta_{s} \,\mathrm{d}s + te^{\lambda t}G_{\varepsilon}(t).$$

Using (2.40), we get

$$J_{\lambda_0}^1[\zeta] \leqslant C(\gamma, \lambda_0) \sup_{\beta(\lambda, t) > 0} |Z^{\varepsilon}(t)|$$

and

$$|Z^{\varepsilon}(t)| \leq C(\gamma, \lambda_0) J^0_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] + J^1_{\lambda_0}[G_{\varepsilon}] \leq C(\gamma, \lambda_0) J^1_{\lambda_0}[G_{\varepsilon}],$$

using again (2.40).

Proposition 2.3. In the hypothesis of the previous lemma, let $p \ge q + 3$ with $q \ge 3$ fixed. Given h(t, x, v) such that $K^{3,p+1}_{\lambda_0,q}[h] < +\infty$ we have

$$J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \leqslant C + \varepsilon C J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] K^{3,p+1}_{\lambda_0,q}[h]$$

Proof. From the previous lemma, we only need to estimate $J^p_{\lambda_0}[G_{\varepsilon}]$. Multiplying by $e^{\lambda t} \langle t \rangle^p$ in (2.39) and using $\langle t \rangle^p \leq C(\langle t - s \rangle^p + \langle s \rangle^p)$ we have

$$e^{\lambda t} \langle t \rangle^p |G_{\varepsilon}[\zeta(1)](t)| \leq ||h(0)||_{\lambda_0,p} + \varepsilon(I_1 + I_2)$$

where

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int_0^t z_{\lambda,p}(s) e^{\lambda(t-s)} \left(|\hat{h}_s(0,t-s)|(t-s) + |\hat{h}_s(2,t+s)|(t-s) \right) \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant \int_0^t z_{\lambda,p}(s) \|h(s)\|_{\lambda,3} \left(\frac{1}{\langle t-s \rangle^2} + \frac{1}{\langle t+s \rangle^2} \right) \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

and

$$I_{2} = \int_{0}^{t} z_{\lambda,p}(s) e^{\lambda(t-s)} \frac{\langle t-s \rangle^{p}}{\langle s \rangle^{p}} \left(|\hat{h}_{s}(0,t-s)|(t-s) + |\hat{h}_{s}(2,t+s)|(t+s) \right) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} z_{\lambda,p}(s) ||h(s)||_{\lambda,p+1} \frac{1}{\langle s \rangle^{p}} \mathrm{d}s.$$

Thus we obtain,

$$I_1 \leqslant J_{\lambda_0}^p[\zeta] \mathcal{K}^3[h] \int_0^t \left(\frac{1}{\langle t-s \rangle^2} + \frac{1}{\langle t+s \rangle^2} \right) \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C J_{\lambda_0}^p[\zeta] \mathcal{K}^3[h]$$

while, if $p - q \ge 2$,

$$I_2 \leqslant J_{\lambda_0}^p[\zeta] K_q^{p+1}[h] \int_0^t \frac{1}{\langle s \rangle^{p-q} \beta^{1/2}(\lambda, s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C J_{\lambda_0}^p[\zeta] K_q^{p+1}[h]$$

and this concludes the proof.

2.3.2 Estimates for h

We start by showing how to split the term with $|\xi - ns|$ in (2.33).

Lemma 2.4. Let $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$, $p \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\lambda > 0$ then

$$A^{\lambda,p}(n,\xi)|\xi-ns| \le C \left(A^{\lambda,p+1}(n-k,\xi-ks)A^{\lambda,1}(1,s) + A^{\lambda,1}(n-k,\xi-ks)A^{\lambda,p+1}(1,s) \right)$$
(2.41)

with $k = \pm 1$.

Proof. We notice that

$$|\xi - ns| = |\xi - ks + (k - n)s| \leq \langle s \rangle \langle n - k, \xi - ks \rangle$$

Using the triangular inequality

$$\langle n,\xi \rangle \leq \langle n-k,\xi-ks \rangle + \langle k,ks \rangle,$$

the fact that

$$\left(\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle+\langle k,ks\rangle\right)^p \leq C\left(\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle^p+\langle k,ks\rangle^p\right)$$

and $k = \pm 1$, we get (2.41).

1

We now turn to estimate equation (2.33). As usual, we define

$$D_t(n,\xi) = \delta_{n,\pm 1} n \frac{\mathrm{i}}{2} \int_0^t \zeta_s(n) \widetilde{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Lemma 2.5. Given $\zeta_t(\pm 1)$, for $\lambda, q \ge 0$ we have

$$\|h(t)\|_{\lambda,q} \leq \|h_0\|_{\lambda_0,q} + \|D(t)\|_{\lambda,q} + \varepsilon \int_0^t z_{\lambda,q+1}(s) \|h(s)\|_{\lambda,1} + z_{\lambda,1}(s) \|h(s)\|_{\lambda,q+1} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(2.42)

Proof. Multiplying by $A^{\lambda,q}(n,\xi)$ in (2.33) and using (2.41), we get

$$\begin{aligned} A^{\lambda,q}(n,\xi) |h_t(n,\xi)| &\leq \|h_0\|_{\lambda_{0,q}} + A^{\lambda,q}(n,\xi) |D_t(n,\xi)| \\ &+ \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_0^t A^{\lambda,1}(1,s) |\zeta_s(k)| A^{\lambda,q+1}(n-k,\xi-ks) |h_s(n-k,\xi-ks)| \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon \sum_{k=\pm 1} \int_0^t A^{\lambda,q+1}(1,s) |\zeta_s(k)| A^{\lambda,1}(n-k,\xi-ks) |h_s(n-k,\xi-ks)| \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

Since $e^{\lambda \langle 1, s \rangle} \langle 1, s \rangle^q \leq C e^{\lambda s} \langle s \rangle^q$, after taking the supremum over n, ξ we obtain the thesis.

Proposition 2.4. Let $p \ge q + 3$ with $q \ge 3$ fixed. Given $\zeta(\pm 1)$ such that $J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] < +\infty$ we have

$$K_{\lambda_{0},q}^{3,p+1}[h] \leq C \|h_{0}\|_{\lambda_{0},p} + CJ_{\lambda_{0}}^{p}[\zeta]\|\eta'\| + \varepsilon C \left(1 + \frac{1}{\delta}\right) J_{\lambda_{0}}^{p}[\zeta] K_{\lambda_{0},q}^{3,p+1}[h].$$

Proof. We first estimate the term of order one in (2.33). If $m \ge p$,

$$A^{\lambda,m}(n,\xi)|D_t(n,\xi)| \leq CJ^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \|\eta'\| \int_0^t e^{-(\gamma-\lambda)\langle\xi-ns\rangle} \langle s \rangle^{m-p} \langle \xi-ns \rangle^p \,\mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq CJ^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \|\eta'\| \langle t \rangle^{m-p}$$
(2.43)

where we have used that $A^{\lambda,q}(n,\xi) \leq CA^{\lambda,q}(n,\xi-ns)A^{\lambda,q}(n,ns)$ and the hypothesis on η' .

Now, since the norm (2.37) is composed of two parts, we start giving an estimate of the \mathcal{K}^3 norm. Using the result in (2.42) we obtain

$$\|h(t)\|_{\lambda,3} \leq \|h(0)\|_{\lambda_{0},p} + \|D(t)\|_{\lambda,3} + \varepsilon J_{\lambda_{0}}^{p}[\zeta] \int_{0}^{t} \frac{\mathcal{K}^{3}[h]}{\langle s \rangle^{p-4}} + \frac{\mathcal{K}_{q}^{p+1}[h]}{\langle s \rangle^{p-1-q}} \,\mathrm{d}s$$

Using (2.43), we get

$$\mathcal{K}^{3}[h] \leq \|h(0)\|_{\lambda_{0},p} + CJ^{p}_{\lambda_{0}}[\zeta]\|\eta'\|_{\gamma} + \varepsilon CJ^{p}_{\lambda_{0}}[\zeta]K^{3,p+1}_{\lambda_{0},q}[h].$$

Next, we focus on K_q^{p+1} . Using (2.42) with p + 1, we get

$$\|h(t)\|_{\lambda,p+1} \leq C \|h(0)\|_{\lambda_0,p} + \|D(t)\|_{\lambda,p+1} + \varepsilon J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta](A_1 + A_2),$$

where

$$A_1 = \int_0^t \langle s \rangle^2 \, \|h(s)\|_{\lambda,1} \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant C \, \langle t \rangle^3 \, \mathcal{K}^3[h], \quad A_2 = \int_0^t \frac{\|h(s)\|_{\lambda,p+2}}{\langle s \rangle^{p-1}} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

For what concern A_2 we take

$$\lambda'(s) = \frac{\lambda_0 - \delta \arctan(s) - \lambda}{2}$$

then

$$\|h(s)\|_{\lambda,p+2} \leqslant \frac{\|h(s)\|_{\lambda',p+1}}{\lambda' - \lambda}$$

and we get the bound

$$A_2 \leqslant C \int_0^t \frac{1}{\langle s \rangle^{p-q-1}} \frac{K_q^{p+1}[h]}{\beta^{3/2}(\lambda, s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{C}{\delta} \frac{K_q^{p+1}[h]}{\beta^{1/2}(\lambda, t)}$$

where we have used that $p \ge q + 3$ and the fact that the integral is exactly computable by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\beta^{-1/2}(\lambda,t) = \frac{\delta}{2} \frac{1}{\beta^{3/2}(\lambda,t)\langle t \rangle^2}$$

Then we get, using $q \ge 3$,

$$\frac{\beta(\lambda,t)^{1/2}}{\langle t \rangle^q} \varepsilon J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta](A_1 + A_2) \leqslant \varepsilon J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \Big(C\mathcal{K}^3[h] + \frac{C}{\delta} K^{p+1}_q[h] \Big).$$
(2.44)

It remains to estimate the term of order one $D_t(n,\xi)$. Using (2.43), we obtain

$$\frac{\beta(\lambda,t)^{1/2}}{\langle t \rangle^q} \|D(t)\|_{\lambda,p+1} \leqslant C J^p_{\lambda_0}[\zeta] \|\eta'\|.$$
(2.45)

Collecting the terms in (2.44) and (2.45) we conclude the proof.

2.3.3 The forward result

Theorem 2.4. Let us fix $p \ge q + 3$ with $q \ge 3$ and consider $h_0(x, v) \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})$ a mean-zero analytic initial perturbation such that $||h_0||_{\lambda_0,p} < +\infty$ for some $\lambda_0 > 0$. Let $\eta(v) \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ analytic such that $||\eta'||_{\gamma} < +\infty$ with $\lambda_0 < \gamma$. Moreover, assume

$$\mathcal{L}[j(1)](\sigma) \neq 1 \quad if \quad \Re \sigma \ge 0,$$

with j(1) as in (2.38). Then there exists a unique solution $h_t = h(t, x, v)$ of (2.4) with initial datum h_0 such that $K^{3,p+1}_{\lambda_0,q}[h] < +\infty$ and exist h_∞ with $\|h_\infty\|_{\overline{\lambda},p} < +\infty$ for $\overline{\lambda} < \lambda_0 - \delta \pi/2$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \|h_t - h_\infty\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

with exponential rate.

Proof. The proof is analogous to the first part of Theorem (2.2). By a standard iterative procedure as in (2.24) and using the smallness of the parameter ε , we get the existence of the unique solution h in the class of functions such that $K_q^{3,p+1} < +\infty$. Then the damping property follows from the estimate

$$\|\partial_t h(t)\|_{0,p} \leq C e^{-\lambda t}$$

with $\bar{\lambda} < \lambda_0 - \delta \pi/2$. It follows that $h(t) \rightarrow h_\infty$ with exponential rate.

2.4 Backward vs forward

In the scattering problem, the decay of the analytic regularity, in the spirit of the abstract Cauchy-Kovalevskaya theorem, is more difficult to establish (compare the definition of $\alpha^T(\mu, t)$ in (2.14), (2.15) with that of $\beta(\lambda, t)$ in (2.36)). Despite this fact, the scattering approach is easier. In particular, the bound on the norm (2.11) guarantees that for any $t \ge 0$

$$|\zeta_t(\pm 1)| \leqslant c e^{-\lambda t}$$

while the bound on the norm (2.35) guarantees an estimate with a time correction: for any $t \ge 0$ and $\lambda < \lambda_0 - \delta \arctan t$

$$|\zeta_t(\pm 1)| \leqslant c e^{-\lambda t} / \langle t \rangle^p.$$

More in general, the norm on h in (2.12), (2.13) is simpler than that in (2.37), in which we have to introduce algebraic weights like $\langle t \rangle^q$ in order to obtain closed estimates.

This technical issue is mainly due to the different treatment of the plasma echoes, the resonances which occur in (2.10) and (2.34) when nt = ks, i.e. when $n = k = \pm 1$, and t = s. In the a-priori estimate of $\zeta_{\pm 1}$ in Proposition (2.1), there are no difficulties and we control the resonant terms, those with k = n, in the same way as the nonresonant ones, those with k = -n. In Proposition (2.3), the echoes force us to introduce the additional term \mathcal{K}^3 in the norm of h. Note also that, in Theorem (2.3), we perform a more subtle control of the echoes in (2.31), with an estimate in two-time steps, by using (2.32) and the mean zero of $\omega - \overline{\omega}$. In this way, we obtain the backward nonperturbative result.

The main reason for this different behavior is that the solution h(t), with asymptotic datum h_{∞} , gains regularity as t increases, thanks to the damping properties of the free flow, while the solution h(t), with initial datum h_0 , loses regularity as t increases. This property, together with the hypothesis of analytical regularity, allows to tackle the problem without having to study resonances coming from the echo terms.

Chapter 3

On the scattering approach for the Vlasov-Poisson equation: analytic and Gevrey data

joint work with D. Benedetto and E. Caglioti ([13])

In this Chapter, we apply the Eulerian techniques to the backward Landau damping problem for the Vlasov-Poisson equation. We cover the cases of asymptotic data with analytic and $1/\gamma$ -Gevrey regularity, with $\gamma > 1/3$ (see (4) in the Introduction). The asymptotic regime allows us to provide a simplified proof in the perturbative setting with analytic regularity. In the Gevrey case, we recover the 3-Gevrey threshold. This is due to the resonance terms that, in our formulation, are hidden in a linear term of the equation.

3.1 The framework

We recall that, in the spatially periodic case, the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation reads as

$$\partial_t f(t, x, v) + v \partial_x f(t, x, v) + \mathcal{F}[f](t, x) \partial_v f(t, x, v) = 0,$$
(3.1)

where

$$\mathcal{F}[f](t,x) = -\partial_x \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} W(x-y) f(t,y,v) \,\mathrm{d}y \,\mathrm{d}v \right)$$
(3.2)

is the mean-field force. Here W(x) is the fundamental solution of the Laplace operator on \mathbb{T}^1 .

In the previous Chapter, we compared the scattering approach and the forward approach in the case of the Vlasov-HMF (Hamiltonian mean-field) equation. Indeed, concerning the backward Landau damping problem in the perturbative setting with analytic regularity, we showed that no estimates are needed to suppress the echoes, i.e. resonances at certain times between the Fourier modes of the solution, allowing a simple proof of the result. Here we extend the study of the backward problem to the Vlasov-Poisson equation, also exploring the case of asymptotic data with Gevrey regularity. In this case we recover the 3-Gevrey threshold, also obtained in [9, 22] for the Cauchy problem.

However, in the perturbative setting, the asymptotic regime allows us to observe that:

- in the case of analytic regularity, as in [17, 12], the echo terms are irrelevant, greatly facilitating the proof;
- in the case of Gevrey regularity, the echo terms cannot be neglected and lead to the 3-Gevrey regularity threshold, but it is possible to isolate naturally the reaction term (using the terminology in [36, 9]), i.e. the term of the equation where the echo mechanism is revealed. This allows us to highlight how the echo mechanism is inherent in a linear part of the equation (see also [44] where the echo chains are defined as a secondarily linear effect).

For this reason we divide the proof of the result into the two cases in which the asymptotic datum has analytic or Gevrey regularity. This is also done because in the former case simpler norms than the Gevrey case are used and there is no need to use the energy method in the estimates for the distribution function.

3.2 Notations and conventions

As in the previous Chapter, we introduce the Fourier transform in $\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}$, using the following notation:

$$\widehat{g}(n,\xi) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} e^{-inx} e^{-iv\xi} g(x,v) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}v$$

with $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ and $\xi \in \mathbb{R}$.

In order to quantify the regularity of the solutions, we will use L^2 -type Gevrey norms

$$\|g\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}}^2 = \sum_n \int e^{2\lambda \langle n,\xi \rangle^\gamma} \langle n,\xi \rangle^{2\sigma} \left(|\widehat{g}(n,\xi)|^2 + |\partial_\xi \widehat{g}(n,\xi)|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\xi, \tag{3.3}$$

with $\lambda,\sigma>0$ and $0<\gamma<1.$ In the analytic case, we will work with $L^\infty\text{-type}$ analytic norms

$$\|g\|_{\lambda;\sigma} = \sup_{n,\xi} e^{\lambda \langle n,\xi \rangle} \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\sigma} |\hat{g}(n,\xi)|$$
(3.4)

while, when working with the spatial density ρ_t , we will use

$$\|\rho_t\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} = \sup_n e^{\lambda \langle n,nt \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n,nt \rangle^{\sigma} \frac{|\hat{\rho}_t(n)|}{|n|^{\alpha}},$$
(3.5)

where $5/12 < \alpha < 1/2$. We consider solutions $f_t(x, v) = f(t, x, v)$ of (3.1) which are small perturbations of a spatially homogeneous solution η , i.e.

$$f_t(x,v) = \eta(v) + \varepsilon r_t(x,v),$$

and we assume η to be an analytic function of the velocities. The equation verified by the perturbation r is

$$\partial_t r_t(x,v) + v \partial_x r_t(x,v) + \mathcal{F}[r](t,x) \partial_v \big(\eta(v) + \varepsilon r_t(x,v) \big) = 0,$$

where the operator \mathcal{F} is defined in (3.2).

Let $h_t(x, v) = r_t(x + vt, v)$, then it verifies the following equation:

$$\partial_t h = \{\psi[h], \eta + \varepsilon h\},\tag{3.6}$$

where ψ is the potential field generated by the perturbation, evaluated along the free flow

$$\psi[h](t, x, v) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R}} W(x - y + (v - u)t)h_t(y, u) \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}u$$

and where $\{,\}$ is the Poisson bracket.

We study the damping problem by searching for a solution for (3.6) such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|h_t(x,v) - h_\infty(x,v)\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

where h_{∞} is a mean-zero analytic datum with $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$ for some $\lambda > 0, \sigma > 0$ as in (3.4).

Firstly, we study the evolution in the time interval [0, T] considering the following problem:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h_t^T = \{\psi[h_t^T], \eta + \varepsilon h_t^T\} & 0 \le t \le T, \\ h_T^T(x, v) = h_\infty(x, v). \end{cases}$$
(3.7)

Then, we show that, for $T \to +\infty$, h^T converges to a solution h, which solves the asymptotic problem.

The system (3.7) in Fourier space reads as

$$\partial_t \widehat{h_t^T}(n,\xi) = \mathrm{i}\frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(n)}{n}\widehat{\eta'}(\xi - nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)}{k}\widehat{h_t^T}(n - k,\xi - kt)(\xi - nt), \qquad (3.8)$$

where $\tilde{\eta'}$ is the Fourier transform of η' in the velocity and $\hat{\rho_t^T}(n) = \hat{h_t^T}(n, nt)$ is the Fourier transform of the spatial density.

Integrating equation (3.8) between [t, T] and putting $\xi = nt$, we get an equation for ρ^T :

$$\widehat{\rho_t^T}(n) = \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) - \int_t^T \widehat{\rho_s^T}(n)\widehat{\eta}(n(t-s))(s-t) \,\mathrm{d}s - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_t^T \widehat{\rho_s^T}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} \widehat{h_s^T}(n-k, nt-ks) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.9)

As usual, we are going to give a priori estimates on the coupled system (ρ^T, h^T) .

3.3 The analytic case

In this section we give a proof of the scattering result for an analytic asymptotic state $h_{\infty}(x, v)$ such that $\|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$, for a given $\lambda, \sigma > 0$. As we know from [17, 12], the asymptotic regime facilitates the analysis quite well in the analytic setting.

To do this, we define the following norm which quantifies the decaying of the spatial density

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in D_{\lambda,T}} e^{\frac{\lambda}{2}t} \|\rho_t^T\|_{\mu;\sigma},$$

where, with little abuse of notation, we denoted by $\|\rho_t^T\|_{\mu;\sigma}$ the quantity $\|\rho_t^T\|_{\mu;1,\sigma,1}$.

Here

$$D_{\lambda,T} = \{(\mu, t) \in [0, \lambda/2) \times [0, T], \mu < \alpha_T(t)\}$$

and $\alpha_T(t) = \lambda/2 - C_{\alpha}(e^{-\frac{\lambda}{4}t} - e^{-\frac{\lambda}{4}T})$, with C_{α} such that $\lambda/2 - C_{\alpha} > 0$.

To take into account the decay of the analytic regularity, we define the weighted-in-time analytic norm of $(h_t^T-h_\infty)$ as

$$N_{\lambda,T}[h_t^T - h_{\infty}] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in D_{\lambda,T}} (\alpha_T(t) - \mu)^{1/2} e^{\frac{\lambda}{4}t} \|h_t^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mu;\sigma}.$$
 (3.10)

3.3.1 Analytic a priori estimates for ρ^T

As we show more accurately in the following proposition, eq. (3.9) for the field ρ^T has the structure of a Volterra equation.

We set

$$j_n(t) \equiv t\hat{\eta}(-nt) \tag{3.11}$$

and

$$H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t) = \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \widehat{\rho_{s}^{T}}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} \widehat{h_{s}^{T}}(n-k, nt-ks) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.12)

In order to invert the term of order one in the equation, we use the following result.

Lemma 3.1. Let $\lambda > 0$ with $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$ and $||\eta||_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$. Assume that

$$\inf_{n \in \mathbb{Z}; \Re \sigma \ge 0} |\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma) + 1| \ge \kappa > 0,$$
(3.13)

where

$$\mathcal{L}[j](\sigma) = \int_0^{+\infty} e^{-\sigma t} j(t) \, \mathrm{d}t$$

is the Fourier-Laplace transform of j. Then

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \leq CM_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T].$$

Proof. Let us define $\phi_n(t) = \rho_{T-t}^T(n)$, $F_{\varepsilon}(t) = H_{\varepsilon}^T(T-t)$. Then, (3.9) can be rewritten as

$$\phi_n(t) + j_n * \phi_n(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t), \qquad (3.14)$$

for $t \in [0, T]$, where

$$j * f(t) = \int_0^t j(t-s)f(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

is the convolution between j and f.

Taking the Laplace transform on both sides, we get

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi_n](\sigma) = \frac{\mathcal{L}[F_{\varepsilon}](\sigma)}{1 + \mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)} = \mathcal{L}[F_{\varepsilon}](\sigma) - \frac{\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}{1 + \mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)} \mathcal{L}[F_{\varepsilon}](\sigma),$$

provided that $1 + \mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma) \neq 0$, which is guaranteed by (3.13). Moreover, taking the inverse Laplace transform, we get that $\phi_n(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t) - r_n * F_{\varepsilon}(t)$ where

$$r_n(t) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\sigma_0 - i\infty}^{\sigma_0 + i\infty} e^{\sigma t} \frac{\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}{1 + \mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)} \,\mathrm{d}\sigma, \tag{3.15}$$

with σ_0 sufficiently large. Then, it is not difficult to show that

$$\frac{\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}{1 + \mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}$$

is holomorphic in $\Re \sigma \ge -\mu$, for any $0 < \mu < \lambda$ and that, integrating by parts, it verifies

$$\left|\frac{\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}{1+\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma)}\right| \leq \frac{C}{1+|\Im\sigma|^2}$$

for $\Re \sigma = -\mu$ (see [22] for more details). Then, by contour deformation in (3.15), we get that $|r_n(t)| \leq C e^{-\nu |nt|}$ with $\lambda/2 < \nu < \lambda$.

Multiplying by $e^{\mu\langle n,n(T-t)\rangle}\langle n,n(T-t)\rangle^{\sigma}/|n|$, using the triangular inequality and taking the sup over n, we get

$$\|\rho_{T-t}^{T}\|_{\mu;\sigma} \leq \|H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(T-t)\|_{\mu;\sigma} + C \int_{0}^{T} e^{-(\nu-\lambda/2)(s-t)} \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\mu;\sigma} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Multiplying by $e^{\frac{\lambda}{2}(T-t)}$ and taking the sup over $D_{\lambda,T}$, we conclude that

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \leqslant M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T] + C_{\lambda}M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^T].$$

We now arrive at the main estimate of this section. In the proof we will notice that the echoes terms will be easily neglected thanks to the decay given by the analytic regularity.

Proposition 3.1. Let ρ^T solution of (3.9) and suppose $N_{\lambda,T}[h^T] < +\infty$. Then, under the hypothesis of Lemma (3.1), we have

$$M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \leq \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} + \varepsilon C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] N_{\lambda,T}[h^T - h_{\infty}] + \varepsilon C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma}.$$

Proof. From Lemma (3.1) we need only to estimate $M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}]$. From (3.12), we have

$$\begin{aligned} H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t) &= \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \widehat{\rho_{s}^{T}}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} (\widehat{h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}})(n-k, nt-ks) \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \widehat{\rho_{s}^{T}}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n-k, nt-ks) \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

By simple computations, we have

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\langle n,nt\rangle} \langle n,nt\rangle^{\sigma} \, \frac{|H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t)|}{|n|} &\leq e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}t} \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \\ &+ \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] \sum_{k\neq 0} \left(\frac{1}{\langle n-k\rangle^{\sigma}} + \frac{1}{\langle k\rangle^{\sigma}}\right) \int_{t}^{T} \frac{e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}s}(s-t)e^{-\frac{\lambda}{4}s}}{(\alpha_{T}(s) - \mu)^{1/2}} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon \sum_{k\neq 0} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^{T}] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}s}(s-t)e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}\langle n-k,nt-ks\rangle} \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Then, taking the sup over n, multiplying by $e^{\frac{\lambda}{2}t}$ and using the definition of $\alpha_T(t)$ we have:

$$M_{\lambda,T}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}] \leq \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} + \varepsilon C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] + \varepsilon C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^{T}] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma}.$$

3.3.2 Analytic a priori estimates for $h^T - h_{\infty}$

Now we turn to give a Cauchy-Kovalevskaya estimate on $h^T - h_{\infty}$. Due to the loss of analytic regularity in time, it is crucial to use the weighted norm introduced in (3.10).

Proposition 3.2. Under the hypothesis of the previous Proposition, let h^T a solution of (3.7) and assume $M_{\lambda,T}[\zeta^T] < +\infty$ then the following estimate holds:

$$N_{\lambda,T}[h^T - h_{\infty}] \leq C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T} \Big(\|\eta\|_{\lambda} + \varepsilon N_{\lambda,T}[h^T - h_{\infty}] + \varepsilon \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \Big).$$

Proof. From (3.8) we have

$$(\widehat{h_t^T - h_\infty})(n,\xi) = D_t^T(n,\xi) + \varepsilon E_t^T(n,\xi) + \varepsilon F_t^T(n,\xi),$$

where

$$D_t^T(n,\xi) = -\frac{\mathrm{i}}{n} \int_t^T \widehat{\rho_s^T}(n) \widehat{\eta'}(\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
$$E_t^T(n,\xi) = \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_t^T \frac{\widehat{\rho_s^T}(k)}{k} (\widehat{h_s^T - h_\infty}) (n - k, \xi - ks) (\xi - ns) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and

$$F_t^T(n,\xi) = \sum_{k\neq 0} \int_t^T \frac{\widehat{\rho_s^T(k)}}{k} \widehat{h_\infty}(n-k,\xi-ks)(\xi-ns) \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Fixing $\mu < \alpha_T(t)$, we estimate separately the three terms. As regards D_t , by the triangular inequality we get

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}\langle n,\xi\rangle^{\sigma} |D_t^T(n,\xi)| \leq CM_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \|\eta\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \int_t^T e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}s} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Taking the supremum over n, ξ , multiplying by $e^{\frac{\lambda}{4}t}$ and taking the supremum over $D_{\lambda,T}$, we arrive at

$$N_{\lambda,T}[D^T] \leq CM_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \|\eta\|_{\lambda;\sigma}$$

Concerning E^T , using that

$$\frac{\langle n,\xi\rangle^{\sigma}}{\langle k,ks\rangle^{\sigma}\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle^{\sigma}} \leqslant \left(\frac{1}{\langle n-k\rangle^{\sigma}} + \frac{1}{\langle k\rangle^{\sigma}}\right),\tag{3.16}$$

we have

$$\begin{split} e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle} \langle n,\xi\rangle^{\sigma} \left| E_t^T(n,\xi) \right| &\leq \sum_{k\neq 0} \left(\frac{1}{\langle n-k\rangle^{\sigma}} + \frac{1}{\langle k\rangle^{\sigma}} \right) M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \times \\ &\times \int_t^T e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}s} \|h_s^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mu_s;\sigma} e^{-(\mu_s - \mu)\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle} |\xi - ns| \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Taking $\mu_s = (\alpha_T(s) + \mu)/2$, i.e. the middle point between μ and $a_{T,\delta}(s)$, we have

$$e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle}|\xi-ns| \leq \frac{2(1+s)}{\alpha_T(s)-\mu}$$

Hence

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}\langle n,\xi\rangle^{\sigma} |E_t^T(n,\xi)| \leq CM_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T]N_{\lambda,T}[h^T - h_{\infty}] \int_t^T \frac{e^{-\frac{3\lambda}{4}s}(1+s)}{(\alpha_T(s) - \mu)^{3/2}} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Taking the supremum over n, ξ , multiplying by $e^{\frac{\lambda}{4}t}$ and that, from the definition of α_T

$$\frac{e^{-\frac{\lambda}{4}s}}{(\alpha_T(s)-\mu)^{3/2}} = -\frac{2}{C_{\alpha}}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}(\alpha_T(s)-\mu)^{-1/2},$$

we get

$$N_{\lambda,T}[E^T] \leqslant C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] N_{\lambda,T}[h^T - h_{\infty}].$$

We need only to estimate F^T . In this case we have

$$e^{\mu\langle n,\xi\rangle}\langle n,\xi\rangle^{\sigma} |F_t^T(n,\xi)| \leq \sum_{k\neq 0} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \int_t^T e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}s} \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma} e^{-\frac{\lambda}{2}\langle n-k,\xi-ks\rangle} |\xi-ns| \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and we use the extra-decay in h_{∞} to control the derivative and the sum in k. In the end, taking the supremum over n, ξ and multiplying by $e^{\frac{\lambda}{4}t}$, we conclude

$$N_{\lambda,T}[F^T] \leqslant C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}[\rho^T] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\sigma}$$

By collecting the estimates we get the thesis.

3.4 The Gevrey case

In this section, we give a priori estimates for the Gevrey regularity setting. It is worth noticing that the norms that will be introduced are more general than the ones introduced in the previous paragraph, hence the following estimates include also the analytic case.

In the Gevrey setting, we define the norm for the spatial density as

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in D_{\lambda,T}} \langle t \rangle^{4/\gamma+6+\delta} \, \|\rho_{t}^{T}\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha},$$

where $\|\cdot\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha}$ is defined in (3.5), $0 < \delta \ll 1$ and

$$D_{\lambda,T} = \{(\mu, t) \in [0, \lambda/2) \times [0, T], \mu < a_T(t)\},\$$

where $a_T(t) = \lambda/2 - C_a [1/\langle t \rangle^{\delta} - 1/\langle T \rangle^{\delta}]$ and $C_a > 0$ such that $\lambda/2 - C_a > 0$.

To take into account the decay of the Gevrey regularity, we define the weighted-in-time analytic norm of $h_t^T-h_\infty$ as

$$N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h_t^T - h_{\infty}] = \sup_{(\mu,t)\in D_{\lambda,T}} (a_T(t) - \mu)^{1/4} \langle t \rangle^{2/\gamma+2} \|h_t^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}},$$
(3.17)

where $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}}$ as in (3.3).

3.4.1 Gevrey a priori estimates for ζ^T

We now turn to give Gevrey estimates for (3.9). As before, we're going to use Lemma (3.1) to invert the linear part of the equation. We recall the notations in (3.11) and (3.12).

Lemma 3.2. Let $\gamma < 1$ and assume that h_{∞} is a Gevrey function such that $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} = ||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,0} < +\infty$ (see (3.5)). Assume that η is analytic with $||\eta||_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$ and such that

$$\inf_{n \in \mathbb{Z}; \Re \sigma \ge 0} |\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma) + 1| \ge \kappa > 0$$

then

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^T] \leqslant C M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[H_{\varepsilon}^T].$$

Proof. With the same notations of (3.14), equation (3.9) can be rewritten as

$$\phi_n(t) + j_n * \phi_n(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t),$$

for $t \in [0, T]$. Then, from Lemma (3.1), we know that

$$\phi_n(t) = F_{\varepsilon}(t) - \int_0^t r_n(t-s)F_{\varepsilon}(s) \,\mathrm{d}s$$

and $|r_n(t)| \leq C e^{-\nu |nt|}$ with $\nu < \lambda$.

Taking $\mu < a_T(T-t)$, multiplying by $e^{\mu \langle n, n(T-t) \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n, n(T-t) \rangle^{\sigma}$ and using the triangular inequalities as in (3.16), we have

$$\|\phi(t)\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \leqslant \|F_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} + \int_0^t e^{-C_{\lambda}(s-t)} \|\phi(s)\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Therefore, multiplying by $\langle T-t\rangle^{4/\gamma+6+\delta}$ and taking the sup, we get

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] \leqslant M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}] + C_{\lambda}M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}].$$

The main result of this paragraph concerns the Gevrey estimate of the nonlinear part of equation (3.9). Here we will discover how the echo mechanism is revealed in a linear term of the equation and we will understand the need for the Gevrey regularity threshold $\gamma > 1/3$.

Proposition 3.3. Let ρ^T solution of (3.9) and suppose $N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^T] < +\infty$. Then, under the hypothesis of Lemma (3.2), we have

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] \leq C \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} + \varepsilon C M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] + \varepsilon C M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}.$$

Proof. From Lemma (3.2) we need only to estimate $M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[H_{\varepsilon}^{T}]$. From (3.12) we have that

$$H_{\varepsilon}^{T}(t) = \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \widehat{\rho_{s}^{T}}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} (\widehat{h_{s}^{T}} - \widehat{h_{\infty}})(n-k, nt-ks) \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$-\varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \widehat{\rho_{s}^{T}}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n-k, nt-ks) \,\mathrm{d}s \equiv \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) + B_{1}(t) + B_{2}(t). \quad (3.18)$$

Taking $\mu < a_T(t)$, multiplying by $e^{\mu \langle n, nt \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n, nt \rangle^{\sigma}$ and using the triangular inequalities as in (3.16), we get $||B_1(t)||_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha}$ is bounded by

$$\varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n,nt\rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n,nt\rangle^{\sigma}}{\langle n-k,nt-ks\rangle^{\sigma} \langle k,ks\rangle^{\sigma}} \frac{|n|^{1-\alpha}(s-t)}{|k|^{1-\alpha}} \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\mu(s);\gamma,\sigma} \|h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(3.19)

Choosing $\mu(s) = \mu + a_T(s) - a_T(t)$, we have that

$$\exp\{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n,nt\rangle^{\gamma}\} \leqslant \exp\{-a_T'(s)(s-t)|nt|^{\gamma}\}.$$

From which follows that

$$e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle n,nt\rangle^{\gamma}}|n|^{1-\alpha}(s-t) \leq \frac{\langle s\rangle^{(1+\delta)(1-\alpha)/\gamma}}{\langle t\rangle^{1-\alpha}(s-t)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\gamma}-1}}.$$

Hence

$$\begin{split} \|B_{1}(t)\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} &\leqslant \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}]N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T}-h_{\infty}] \times \\ &\times \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{\langle k \rangle^{\sigma}} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\langle s \rangle^{-4/\gamma-6-\delta}}{\langle t \rangle^{1-\alpha} (s-t)^{\frac{1-\alpha}{\gamma}-1}} \frac{1}{(a_{T}(s)-\mu)^{1/4}} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}]N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T}-h_{\infty}] \frac{1}{\langle t \rangle^{1-\alpha}} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{\langle s \rangle^{-4/\gamma-6-\delta}}{\langle s \rangle^{3/4} (s-t)^{|\frac{1-\alpha}{\gamma}-3/4|}} \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Noting that $\frac{1-\alpha}{\gamma}-3/4<1$ since $1/3<\gamma\leqslant 1$ and $5/12<\alpha<1/2$, multiplying by $\langle t\rangle^{4/\gamma+6+\delta}$ and taking the sup,

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[B_1] \leqslant C \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^T] N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^T - h_{\infty}].$$

We now give an estimate of $B_2(t)$. As in (3.19), $||B_2(t)||_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha}$ is bounded by

$$\varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{1}{\langle k \rangle^{\sigma}} \int_{t}^{T} e^{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle k, ks \rangle^{\gamma}} \frac{|n|^{1-\alpha}(s-t)}{|k|^{1-\alpha}} \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\mu(s);\gamma,\sigma} e^{-\lambda \langle n-k, nt-ks \rangle^{\gamma}/2} \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

We divide the estimate in two cases: if |nt - ks| > t/2 then

$$\exp\{-\frac{\lambda}{2}\langle n-k, nt-ks\rangle^{\gamma}\} \leqslant \exp\{-\frac{\lambda}{2}\langle n-k, t/2\rangle^{\gamma}\},\$$

from which is easy to close the estimate, since we have sufficient decay.

If |nt - ks| < t/2 then $|k| \le |n|$, since s > t. If k = n, we get sufficient decay as in the previous case. Hence we reduce to |k| < |n|, where we have to overcome the resonances due to plasma echoes. Here, since $\frac{|n|-1/2}{|k|}t < s < \frac{|n|+1/2}{|k|}t$, we get that, choosing $\mu(s) = \mu + a_T(s) - a_T(t)$,

$$\exp\{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle k,ks\rangle^{\gamma}\} \leqslant \exp\{-C_a\langle k\rangle^{\gamma}\frac{|n-k|}{|n|}|s|^{\gamma-\delta}\}.$$

It follows that, if $|n - k| \ge |n|/2$, then we get sufficient decay one more time. Hence, we focus on |n - k| < |n|/2, that means |k| > |n|/2. Then, we get

$$\exp\{-(\mu(s)-\mu)\langle k,ks\rangle^{\gamma}\}\frac{(s-t)}{|k|} \leqslant e^{-C_a\langle k\rangle^{\gamma}\frac{|n-k|}{|n|}|s|^{\gamma-\delta}}s\frac{|n-k|}{|n||k|} \leqslant C\frac{|n|^{-2+\frac{1-\gamma}{\gamma-\delta}}}{|n-k|^{\frac{1}{\gamma-\delta}-1}}$$

and we have that $-2+\frac{1-\gamma}{\gamma-\delta}<0$ if $\gamma>1/3.$ Hence, we get

$$M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[B_2] \leqslant C \varepsilon M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^T] \|h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}}.$$

Collecting the estimates on B_1 and B_2 we get the thesis.

3.4.2 A priori Gevrey estimates for h^T

This proof is analogous to the one given in [22]. Here, instead of the generator functions approach, we use the global-in-time norms defined in (3.17).

Given $\mu < a_T(t)$, the Fourier multiplier operator

$$A_{\mu}(\nabla) = e^{\mu \langle \nabla \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle \nabla \rangle^{\sigma}$$

is defined by

$$(\widehat{A_{\mu}(\nabla)}h)(n,\xi) \coloneqq e^{\mu \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\gamma}} \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\sigma} \, \widehat{h}(n,\xi)$$

From (3.6), we have

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|h_t^T - h_\infty\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}}^2 = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty)\|_2^2$$

$$= 2 \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \Big| A_\mu(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], \eta\} \right\rangle$$

$$+ 2\varepsilon \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \Big| A_\mu(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], h_\infty\} \right\rangle$$

$$+ 2\varepsilon \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \Big| A_\mu(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], h_t^T - h_\infty\} \right\rangle,$$
(3.20)

where $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$ is the L^2 scalar product. We rewrite the last term as

$$\begin{split} \left\langle A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty}) \middle| A_{\mu}(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], h_t^T - h_{\infty}\} - \{\psi[h_t^T], A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty})\} \right\rangle \\ + \left\langle A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty}) \middle| \{\psi[h_t^T], A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty})\} \right\rangle \end{split}$$

and we notice that

$$\left\langle A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty}) \middle| \{\psi[h_t^T], A_{\mu}(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_{\infty})\} \right\rangle = 0,$$

since $\langle f|\{\psi,g\}\rangle$ is skew-symmetric. We denote the three terms we are going to estimate in (3.20) by

$$A_t^1 = \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \middle| A_\mu(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], \eta\} \right\rangle,$$

$$A_t^2 = \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \middle| A_\mu(\nabla) \{\psi[h_t^T], h_\infty\} \right\rangle,$$

$$A_t^3 = \left\langle A_\mu(\nabla)(h_t^T - h_\infty) \middle| [A_\mu(\nabla), \mathcal{U} \cdot \nabla](h_t^T - h_\infty) \right\rangle,$$

where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ is the commutator and $\mathcal{U} = (-\partial_v \psi, \partial_x \psi)$.

By the Plancherel identity we have that

$$\begin{split} |A_t^1| &\leq \sum_n \int \mathrm{d}\xi A_\mu(n,\xi) |(\hat{h_t^T - h_\infty})(n,\xi)| A_\mu(n,\xi) \frac{|\hat{\rho_t^T}(n)|}{n} |\hat{\eta'}(\xi - nt)| \\ &\leq C \sum_n A_\mu(n,nt) \frac{|\hat{\rho_t^T}(n)|}{n} \int \mathrm{d}\xi A_\mu(n,\xi) |(\hat{h^T - h_\infty})(n,\xi)| A_\mu(\xi - nt) |\hat{\eta'}(\xi - nt)| \\ &\leq C_\lambda \|\eta'\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \left(\sum_n A_\mu^2(n,nt) \frac{|\hat{\rho_t^T}(n)|^2}{n^2} \right)^{1/2} \left(\sum_n \int \mathrm{d}\xi A_\mu^2(n,\xi) |(\hat{h^T - h_\infty})(n,\xi)|^2 \right)^{1/2}, \end{split}$$

where in the second estimate we have used the triangular inequality, while in the third we have used two times the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality (firstly in the ξ variable and then in n).

The estimate on A_t^1 is closed using the definition of the norm $\|\cdot\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha}$ and the fact that $\alpha < 1/2$:

$$|A_t^1| \leqslant C_{\lambda} \|\eta'\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \|\rho_t^T\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \|h_t^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}}.$$

For A_t^2 we get

$$\begin{split} |A_t^2| &\leq \sum_{n,k\neq 0} \int \mathrm{d}\xi |A_{\mu}(h_t^{\widehat{T}} - h_{\infty})(n,\xi)| \frac{|A_{\mu}(k,kt)\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)|}{k} |\xi - nt| |A_{\mu}\widehat{h_{\infty}}(n-k,\xi-kt)| \\ &\leq \langle t \rangle \sum_n \left(\int |A_{\mu}(h_t^{\widehat{T}} - h_{\infty})(n,\xi)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\xi \right)^{1/2} \times \\ &\times \sum_{k\neq 0} \frac{|A_{\mu}(k,kt)\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)|}{k} \left(\int |A_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla h_{\infty}}(n-k,\xi-kt)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\xi \right)^{1/2} \\ &\leq \langle t \rangle \|h_t^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu}} \left[\sum_n \left(\sum_{k\neq 0} \frac{|A_{\mu}(k,kt)\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)|}{k} \left(\int |A_{\mu}\widehat{\nabla h_{\infty}}(n-k,\xi)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\xi \right)^{1/2} \right)^2 \right]^{1/2} \end{split}$$

and noting that, in the square brackets, we have the L_2 -norm of a convolution in n, we get by the Young inequality:

$$|A_2(t)| \leq \langle t \rangle C_{\lambda} \|h_t^T - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}} \left(\sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{|A_{\mu}(k,kt)\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)|^2}{k^2} \right) \|\nabla h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}.$$

Using the definition of the norm $M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}$ and the fact that $\alpha < 1/2$ we obtain:

$$|A_2(t)| \leq \langle t \rangle C_\lambda \|h_t^T - h_\infty\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}} \|\rho_t^T\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \|\nabla h_\infty\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}$$

We conclude by estimating $A_t^3.$ We have that

$$\begin{aligned} |A_t^3| &\leq \sum_{n,k\neq 0} \int d\xi A_{\mu}(n,\xi) |(h_t^T - h_{\infty})(n,\xi)| \frac{|\rho_t^T(k)|}{k} \times \\ &\times |A_{\mu}(n,\xi) - A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)| |\xi - nt| |(\widehat{h_t - h_{\infty}})(n-k,\xi-kt)|. \end{aligned}$$

We split the estimate into two dichotomous cases:

(a) $\langle k, kt \rangle \ge \langle n, \xi \rangle / 2$ and (b) $\langle n - k, \xi - kt \rangle \ge \langle n, \xi \rangle / 2$.

In case (a) we have that:

$$\frac{|\xi - nt||A_{\mu}(n,\xi) + A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)|}{A_{\mu}(k,kt)A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)} \leq C \langle t \rangle \left(\frac{1}{\langle n-k \rangle^{\sigma-1}} + \frac{1}{\langle k \rangle^{\sigma-1}}\right).$$

In case (b) we use that

$$|A_{\mu}(n,\xi) - A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)| \leq C \frac{|k,kt|A_{\mu}(n,\xi)A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)}{\langle n,\xi \rangle^{1-\gamma} + \langle n-k,\xi-kt \rangle^{1-\gamma}},$$

gaining that

$$\frac{|\xi - nt||A_{\mu}(n,\xi) - A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)|}{A_{\mu}(k,kt)A_{\mu}(n-k,\xi-kt)} \leqslant C \frac{|\xi - nt|\langle k,kt\rangle^{-\sigma+1}}{\langle n,\xi\rangle^{1-\gamma} + \langle n-k,\xi-kt\rangle^{1-\gamma}} \\ \leqslant C \langle k \rangle^{-\sigma+1} \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\gamma/2} \langle n-k,\xi-kt\rangle^{\gamma/2} \rangle$$

Then we have, using again that $2ab \leq a^2 + b^2$:

$$\begin{split} |A_t^3| &\leq \sum_{n,k\neq 0} \Big(\frac{\langle t \rangle}{\langle n-k \rangle^{\sigma}} + \frac{\langle t \rangle}{\langle k \rangle^{\sigma}}\Big) \|\rho_t^T\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \int \langle n,\xi \rangle^{\gamma} A_{\mu}^2(n,\xi) |(\widehat{h_t^T - h_{\infty}})(n,\xi)|^2 \\ &+ \langle n-k,\xi - kt \rangle^{\gamma} \, \frac{A_{\mu}^2(n-k,\xi - nt)}{k^{2-2\alpha}} |(\widehat{h_t^T - h_{\infty}})(n-k,\xi - kt)| \, \mathrm{d}\xi, \end{split}$$

obtaining

$$|A^{3}(t)| \leq \langle t \rangle C_{\lambda} \| \rho_{t}^{T} \|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \| h_{t}^{T} - h_{\infty} \|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma+\gamma/2}}^{2}.$$

Moreover $\partial_t\partial_\xi(h_t^{\widehat{T}}-h_\infty)(n,\xi)$ verifies the equation

$$\begin{split} \partial_t \partial_{\xi} (h_t^{\widehat{T}} - h_{\infty})(n, \xi) &= \mathrm{i} \frac{\rho_t^T(n)}{n} \partial_{\xi} \widehat{\eta'}(\xi - nt) \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)}{k} \partial_{\xi} (h_t^{\widehat{T}} - h_{\infty})(n - k, \xi - kt)(\xi - nt) \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)}{k} (h_t^{\widehat{T}} - h_{\infty})(n - k, \xi - kt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)}{k} \partial_{\xi} \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n - k, \xi - kt)(\xi - nt) \\ &- \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \frac{\widehat{\rho_t^T}(k)}{k} \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n - k, \xi - kt). \end{split}$$

Since the new terms appearing don't have derivatives, they are easier to analyze and similar estimates to the previous one hold. We omit the details.

Putting all togheter, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{t}^{T} |A_{s}^{1}| \,\mathrm{d}s &\leq C_{\lambda} \|\eta'\|_{\lambda;\sigma} \int_{t}^{T} \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \|h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C_{\lambda} \|\eta'\|_{\lambda;\sigma} M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma} [\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma} [h^{T} - h_{\infty}] \int_{t}^{T} \frac{C_{a}}{\langle s \rangle^{4/\gamma+6+\delta+2/\gamma+2} (a_{T}(s) - \mu)^{1/4}} \,\mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

while

$$\int_{t}^{T} |A_{s}^{2}| \,\mathrm{d}s \leqslant C_{\lambda} \|\nabla h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} \int_{t}^{T} \langle s \rangle \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \|h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma}} \,\mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leqslant C_{\lambda} \|\nabla h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma} M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] \int_{t}^{T} \frac{C_{a}}{\langle s \rangle^{4/\gamma+5+\delta}} \frac{1}{\langle s \rangle^{4/\gamma+4} (a_{T}(s) - \mu)^{1/4}} \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

and, choosing $\mu(s) = (a_T(s) + \mu)/2$, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{t}^{T} |A_{s}^{3}| \, \mathrm{d}s &\leq C_{\lambda} \int_{t}^{T} \langle s \rangle \, \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \|h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu;\gamma,\sigma+\gamma/2}}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C_{\lambda} \int_{t}^{T} \langle s \rangle \, \|\rho_{s}^{T}\|_{\mu;\gamma,\sigma,\alpha} \frac{\|h_{s}^{T} - h_{\infty}\|_{\mathcal{G}^{\mu(s);\gamma,\sigma}}^{2}}{(\mu(s) - \mu)} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C_{\lambda} M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma} [\rho^{T}] N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma} [h^{T} - h_{\infty}]^{2} \int_{t}^{T} \frac{C_{a}}{\langle s \rangle^{4/\gamma + 5 + \delta}} \frac{1}{\langle s \rangle^{4/\gamma + 4} \, (a_{T}(s) - \mu)^{3/2}} \, \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Hence, integrating in time (3.20), multiplying by $\langle t \rangle^{4+4/\gamma} (a_T(t) - \mu)^{1/2}$, taking the sup and dividing by $N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^T - h_{\infty}]$, we have proved the following Proposition.

Proposition 3.4. Let h^T a solution of (3.7) and assume $M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\zeta^T] < +\infty$, then the following estimate holds:

$$N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] \leq C_{\lambda}M_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[\rho^{T}]\Big(\|\eta\|_{\lambda;\sigma} + \varepsilon N_{\lambda,T}^{\gamma}[h^{T} - h_{\infty}] + \varepsilon \|h_{\infty}\|_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma}\Big).$$

3.5 The backward result

We can now present the main theorem of this Chapter. Since it is more general, we will state it considering the Gevrey case.

Theorem 3.1. Let $h_{\infty} \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})$ of Gevrey regularity such that $||h_{\infty}||_{\lambda;\gamma,\sigma,0} < +\infty$, with $\lambda > 0, \sigma > 3, \gamma \in (1/3, 1]$. Consider $\eta \in L^1(\mathbb{R})$ analytic such that $||\eta||_{\lambda;\sigma} < +\infty$ and assume that

$$\inf_{n\in\mathbb{Z};\Re\sigma\geqslant 0} |\mathcal{L}[j_n](\sigma) + 1| \ge \kappa > 0,$$

with j_n as in (3.11). Then, for small values of ε , there exists a unique Gevrey regular solution $h_t(x, v)$ of (3.6) such that

$$\lim_{t \to +\infty} \|h_t(x,v) - h_\infty(x,v)\|_{L^\infty(\mathbb{T}^1 \times \mathbb{R})} = 0$$

with exponential rate.

We don't give the proof of this result, which is similar to the one given in Theorem (2.2) of the previous Chapter.

3.6 On the linear part of the equation for $\gamma < 1/3$

Here we want to give a formal argument to show that the linear part of the equation is ill-posed for asymptotic data of Gevrey regularity $0 < \gamma < 1/3$.

Let us consider the equation for the density in (3.18) and assume that $T = +\infty$. Neglecting the Volterra linear term and the nonlinear one, we get

$$\widehat{\rho_t}(n) = \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt) - \varepsilon \sum_{k \neq 0} \int_t^{+\infty} \widehat{\rho_s}(k) \frac{n(s-t)}{k} \widehat{h_{\infty}}(n-k, nt-ks) \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

Assume n > 0, as we have seen in the previous section, the challenging terms presenting resonances due to plasma echoes are those with 0 < k < n in the integral. We restrict our analysis to these modes and in the sum over k we take only the worst term k = n - 1.

We get, after a change of variable,

$$\phi_t(n) = \frac{\widehat{h_{\infty}}(n, nt)}{n} - \varepsilon t \int_1^{+\infty} \phi_{t\tau}(n-1)(\tau-1)t \,\widehat{h_{\infty}}(1, t(n-(n-1)\tau)) \,\mathrm{d}\tau,$$

where $\phi_t(n) = \hat{\rho}_t(n)/n$.

We expect that, as $t \to +\infty$, the given function

$$t\,\widehat{h_{\infty}}\Big(1,t(n-(n-1)\tau)\Big) \to \delta\Big((n-1)(\tau-\frac{n}{n-1})\Big) = \frac{1}{n-1}\delta\Big(\tau-\frac{n}{n-1}\Big).$$

Hence, we want to study the toy model

$$\phi_t(n) = \frac{\dot{h}_{\infty}(n, nt)}{n} - \varepsilon \frac{t}{(n-1)^2} \phi_{\frac{n}{n-1}t}(n-1).$$
(3.21)

Iterating (3.21), we get the expression

$$\phi_t(n) = \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} (-1)^k (\varepsilon t n)^k \Big[\frac{(n-k)!}{n!} \Big]^3 \frac{\widehat{h_{\infty}}(n-k,nt)}{n-k}.$$

By Laplace's method and by using that h_{∞} is analytic, after some computations we get that

$$|\phi_t(n)| \approx C\varepsilon^n \Big[(n-1)^{n-1} e^{-(n-1)} \Big]^{1/\gamma} \frac{1}{(n!)^3} \approx C\varepsilon^n [(n-1)!]^{1/\gamma-3},$$

where we used the Stirling formula in the last inequality.

From this it follows that $\phi_t(n)$ is unbounded in n for $\gamma < 1/3$ and this suggests the ill-posedness of the problem in this setting. We note that, differently from what happens in the forward problem, the resonant terms due to the echoes are finite in number for each fixed n. It is not yet clear what this might imply.

Bibliography - Part I

- M. Antoni, S. Ruffo *Clustering and relaxation in Hamiltonian long-range dynamics* Phys. Rev. E 52 2361 (1995) (See page xiii.)
- [2] A. A. Arsen'ev Existence in the large of a weak solution of Vlasov's system of equations Z. Vy cisl. Mat. i Mat. Fiz. 15 136–147 (1975) (See page 4.)
- [3] A. A. Arsen'ev Existence and uniqueness of the classical solution of Vlasov's system of equations
 Z. Vy cisl. Mat. i Mat. Fiz. 15 1344–1349 (1975) (See page 4.)
- G. Backus Linearized plasma oscillations in arbitrary electron distributions J. Math. Phys. 559 178–191 (1960) (See page 8.)
- [5] J. Barré, F. Bouchet, T. Dauxois, S. Ruffo, Y. Yamaguchi Stability criteria of the Vlasov equation and quasi stationary states of the HMF model Physica A 337 36 (2004) (See page xiii.)
- [6] J. Bedrossian Nonlinear echoes and Landau damping with insufficient regularity Tunis. J. of Math. 3 (1) 121–205 (2020) (See page 11.)
- [7] J. Bedrossian A brief introduction to the mathematics of Landau damping arXiv:2211.13707 (2022) (See page 11.)
- [8] J. Bedrossian, N. Masmoudi Inviscid damping and the asymptotic stability of planar shear flows in the 2D Euler equations Publ. Math. IHES 122 (1) 195–300 (2015) (See page 11.)
- [9] J. Bedrossian, N. Masmoudi, C. Mouhot Landau Damping: Paraproducts and Gevrey Regularity Ann. PDE 2 (4) (2016) (See pages xiv, 11, and 34.)
- [10] D. Benedetto, E. Caglioti, U. Montemagno Dephasing of Kuramoto oscillators in kinetic regime towards a fixed asymptotically free state Rend. Mat. Appl. VII (35) 189–206 (2014) (See page 11.)
- [11] D. Benedetto, E. Caglioti, U. Montemagno Exponential dephasing of oscillators in the kinetic Kuramoto model J. Stat. Phys. 162 (4) 813–823 (2016) (See page 15.)
- [12] D. Benedetto, E. Caglioti, S. Rossi Comparison between the Cauchy problem and the scattering problem for the Landau damping in the Vlasov-HMF equation. Asymptot. Anal. 129 (2) 215–238 (2022) (See pages 13, 34, and 35.)
- [13] D. Benedetto, E. Caglioti, S. Rossi *On the scattering approach for the Landau damping in the Vlasov-Poisson equation with Gevrey data* in preparation (See page 33.)
- [14] I. B. Bernstein, J. M. Greene, M. D. Kruskal *Exact nonlinear plasma oscillations* Physical Review 108 3 (1957) (See page 5.)

- [15] F. Bouchut Introduction à la théorie mathématique des équations cinétiques In Session "L'Etat de la Recherche" de la SMF (1998) in "Kinetic equations and asymptotic theory", F. Bouchut, F. Golse, M. Pulvirenti, coll. "Series in Appl. Math.", Gauthier-Villars (2000) (See page 4.)
- [16] R. E. Caflish A simplified version of the abstract Cauchy-Kowalewski Theorem with weak singularities Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 23 (2) 495–500 (1990) (See page 15.)
- [17] E. Caglioti, C. Maffei *Time asymptotics for solutions of Vlasov-Poisson equation in a circle* J. Stat. Phys. **92** (1-2) 301–323 (1998) (See pages vii, xii, xiii, 3, 8, 11, 21, 24, 34, and 35.)
- [18] E. Faou, F. Rousset Landau Damping in Sobolev Spaces for the Vlasov-HMF Model Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 219 887–902 (2016) (See pages xiii and 11.)
- [19] C. Foias, R. Temam Gevrey class regularity for the solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations J. Funct. Anal. 87 359–369 (1989) (See page xiii.)
- [20] M. Gevrey Sur la nature analytique des solutions des équations aux dérivées partielles. Premier mémoire Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. 35 129–190 (1918) (See page xiii.)
- [21] R. T. Glassey *The Cauchy problem in kinetic theory* Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA (1996) (See page 4.)
- [22] E. Grenier, T. T. Nguyen, I. Rodnianski Landau damping for analytic and Gevrey data Mathematical Research Letters 28 (6) 1679–1702 (2021) (See pages 11, 34, 37, and 42.)
- [23] G. Gripenberg, S.-O. Londen, O. Staffans Volterra Integral and Functional Equations Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Its Applications, vol. 34 Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (1990) (See page 17.)
- [24] H.J. Hwang, J.-L.L. Velaźquez On the existence of exponentially decreasing solutions of the nonlinear Landau damping problem Indiana Univ. Math. J. 58 (6) 2623–2660 (2009) (See page 8.)
- [25] L. Kelvin Stability of fluid motion-rectilinear motion of viscous fluid between two parallel plates Phil.Mag. 188 (24) (1887) (See page 11.)
- [26] L. Landau On the vibrations of the electronic plasma Acad. Sci. USSR. J. Phys. 10 25–34 (1946) (See pages xii, 3, 6, and 8.)
- [27] Z. Lin, C. Zeng Inviscid dynamic structures near Couette flow Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 200 1075–1097 (2011) (See pages 6 and 11.)
- [28] Z. Lin, C. Zeng Small BGK waves and nonlinear Landau damping Comm. Math. Phys. 306 (2) 291–331 (2011) (See page 11.)
- [29] P. L. Lions, B. Perthame Propagation of moments and regularity for the 3-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson system Invent. Math. 105 (2) 415-430 (1991) (See page 4.)
- [30] D. Lynden-Bell The stability and vibrations of a gas of stars Mon. Not. R. Astron. Soc. 124 (4) 279–296 (1962) (See page 6.)
- [31] J. H. Malmberg, C. B. Wharton Collisionless damping of electrostatic plasma waves Phys. Rev. Lett. 13 (6) 184–186 (1964) (See page 6.)
- [32] J. H. Malmberg, C. B. Wharton, C. Gould, T. O'Neil Plasma wave echo Phys. Rev. Lett. 20 (3) 95–97 (1968) (See page xii.)
- [33] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti A note on the nonlinear stability of a spatially symmetric Vlasov-Poisson flow Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 8 (2) 284–288 (1986) (See page 5.)
- [34] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti *Mathematical theory of incompressible nonviscous fluids* Springer-Verlag (1994), New York (See page 11.)
- [35] C. Marchioro, M. Pulvirenti Some considerations on the nonlinear stability of stationary planar Euler flows Commun Math. Phys. 100 343–354 (1985) (See page 5.)
- [36] C. Mouhot, C. Villani On Landau damping Acta Math. 207 (1) 29–201 (2011) (See pages xii, xiv, 11, and 34.)

- [37] V. P. Maslov, M. V. Fedoryuk The linear theory of Landau damping Mat. Sb. (N.S.) 127 (4) 445–475 (1985) (See page 7.)
- [38] W. Mc. F. Orr Stability and instability of steady motions of a perfect liquid Proc. Ir. Acad. Sect. A, Math Astron. Phys. Sci. 27 9–66 (1907) (See page 11.)
- [39] O. Penrose *Electrostatic instability of a non-Maxwellian plasma* Phys. Fluids **3** 258–265 (1960) (See page 7.)
- [40] K. Pfaffelmoser Global classical solutions of the Vlasov-Poisson system in three dimensions for general initial data J. Diff. Eq. 95 (2) 281–303 (1992) (See page 4.)
- [41] L. Rayleigh On the stability, or instability, of certain fluid motions Proc. London Math. Soc. S1-11(1):57 (1880) (See page 11.)
- [42] L. Rodino Linear partial differential operators in Gevrey spaces World Sci. (1993) (See page xiii.)
- [43] A. A. Vlasov On the oscillation properties of an electron gas Zh. Eksper.Teoret. Fiz. 8 291–318 (1938) (See page 3.)
- [44] C. Zillinger On Echo Chains in Landau damping: Traveling Wave-like Solutions and Gevrey 3 as a Linear Stability Threshold Ann. PDE 7 1 (2021) (See page 34.)

Part II

Mean-field limit and propagation of chaos for topological interactions

CHAPTER 4

The validity problem in the mean-field scaling

By validity problems we mean those procedures in mathematical physics which justifies the use of a limit effective partial differential equation by a rigorous derivation from a system of N particles in a suitable scaling limit as $N \to +\infty$.

In this Chapter, we mainly focus on a review of the classic works by Dobrushin [23] and Neunzert and Wick [47] on the validity of the Vlasov equation for regular potentials, starting from an N-body system in the mean-field scaling.

In particular, the point of view of Neunzert and Wick in [47] - the first work to give a mean-field limit result - will be very useful in the next Chapter to study topological interactions.

4.1 Mean-field scaling and empirical measures

We focus on a N-particle system governed by the following ODEs¹

$$\dot{z}_i(t) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N F(z_i - z_j), \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$
(4.1)

where $z_i \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $F : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a bounded two-body interaction such that F is globally Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant $L_F = \text{Lip}(F)$.

The justification of the 1/N scaling in (4.1) is insidious since it is not a priori clear why the magnitude of the single-particle interaction should depend on the number of particles in the system. It can be motivated by considering a dynamic with a different time scaling: if $\bar{z}_i(t)$ is a solution of the N-body problem

$$\dot{\bar{z}}_i(t) = \sum_{j=1}^N F(\bar{z}_i - \bar{z}_j), \quad i = 1, \dots, N,$$

¹Only in this Chapter, not considering mechanical systems but ODEs generally defined by (4.1), the dimension of the space will not be denoted by d as in the rest of the thesis but by n.

then $z_i(t) = \overline{z}_i(\frac{t}{N})$ solves the equation (4.1).

Otherwise one can consider phenomenological examples in which for fixed $N \gg 1$ the term NF is approximately of order 1, justifying both the use of the model (4.1) and the validity problem thanks to the size of the system considered.

For example, let n = 6, z = (x, v) and $\bar{z}_i(t) = (\bar{x}_i(t), \bar{v}_i(t)) \in \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$. Considering the Milky Way with all the stars with average mass m and $F(x, v) = (v, -\mathcal{G}mx/|x|^3)$, we have

$$\dot{\bar{x}}_i = \bar{v}_i, \quad \dot{\bar{v}}_i = -\sum_{j \neq i}^N \frac{\mathcal{G}m(\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}_j)}{|\bar{x}_i - \bar{x}_j|^3}, \quad 1 \le i \le N$$

where $\mathcal{G}=6.67\times 10^{-11}\,\mathrm{N}\cdot\mathrm{m}^2\cdot\mathrm{kg}^{-2}$ is the gravitational constant.

Writing the equation in adimensional coordinates:

$$(x_i(t), v_i(t)) = \left(\frac{\bar{x}_i(\tau t)}{L}, \frac{\tau}{L}\bar{x}_i(\tau t)\right),$$

where $\tau \approx 2.4 \cdot 10^8$ years is the typical temporal dimension related to the rotational period of the sun and L is the typical spatial dimension related to the volume of the galaxy, we get

$$\dot{x}_i = v_i, \quad \dot{v}_i = -\frac{1}{N} \sum_{j \neq i}^N N \frac{\mathcal{G}m\tau^2}{L^3} \frac{(x_i - x_j)}{|x_i - x_j|^3}, \quad 1 \le i \le N.$$

Using that $N \approx 2 \cdot 10^{11}$, the solar masses $m \approx 10^{31}$ kg and that the Milky Way is $1.7 - 2 \cdot 10^5$ ly in diameter and approximately 10^3 ly thick, we have

$$N\frac{\mathcal{G}m\tau^2}{L^3} = O(1).$$

4.1.1 Empirical measures

The *N*-particle dynamics in (4.1) lives in the configuration space \mathbb{R}^{nN} which depends on *N*. It is useful to introduce the notion of empirical measure related to (4.1):

$$\mu_t^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{z_i(t)},$$
(4.2)

which is an element of $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the space of Borel probability measures on the single-particle configuration space. Notice that μ_t^N is invariant under permutations of $\{z_1(t), \ldots, z_N(t)\}$.

It is easy to see that, if F(0) = 0, then μ_t^N solves in the weak sense the following Vlasov equation

$$\partial_t f_t + \nabla_z \cdot \left(\mathcal{F}[f_t] f_t \right) = 0, \tag{4.3}$$

where $f_t = f(t, z)$ and

$$\mathcal{F}[f_t](z) = \int F(z-w)f_t(\mathrm{d}w)$$

is the mean-field force. Since F is bounded and globally Lipschitz we have that

$$\|\mathcal{F}[f]\|_{\infty} \leq \|F\|_{\infty}, \quad |\mathcal{F}[f_t](x) - \mathcal{F}[f_t](y)| \leq \operatorname{Lip}(F)|x-y|.$$
(4.4)

The mean-field limit thus consists in proving that, for large N, the empirical measure μ_t^N , already solution of the kinetic limit equation, closely approximates a given solution f of (4.3), possibly providing an estimate with a convergence rate in N.

In the case of regular potentials, this result is classical and has been given in various independent works in [47], [10] and [23].

In the next sections we will explain the point of view of Dobrushin in [23] and Neunzert-Wick in [47]. Dobrushin's approach relies more on the fact that μ_t^N and f are both solutions of the kinetic equation in the same functional space, on which it is possible to introduce a structure of metric space. Neunzert and Wick were inspired more by the results on the uniform distribution of sequences and the discrepancy theory (see [41, 40, 36]) and their approach is more involved but interesting for the following chapters of the thesis.

4.2 The Dobrushin approach

In 1979 the Russian mathematician Roland L. Dobrushin strengthened the connection between statistical mechanics and optimal transport problems - already noted in works of the '70s about the theory of stochastic fields [24, 15] - using for the first time the Wasserstein (or Kantorovich-Rubinshtein²) distance in kinetic theory problems, to prove uniqueness³ of solutions of the Vlasov equation.

The approach in [23] is to construct a contractive map in the metric space of probability measures equipped with the Wasserstein distance. Thus existence and uniqueness of the solution follow from the usual Banach fixed point theorem. The same approach also allows proving continuity with respect to the initial data, providing the necessary stability estimate from which the mean-field limit follows.

As mentioned before, the tool used to prove stability estimates is the Wasserstein distance on $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Given two measures $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, in this Chapter we define it in the following way:

$$\mathcal{W}_1(\mu,\nu) \coloneqq \inf_{\pi \in \mathcal{C}(\mu,\nu)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} \min\{|x-y|,1\} \,\mathrm{d}\,\pi(x,y),$$

where $C(\mu, \nu)$ is the set of all possible *couplings* between μ and ν , i.e. the set of Borel probability measures $\pi \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\pi(A \times \mathbb{R}^n) = \mu(A)$$
 and $\pi(\mathbb{R}^n \times B) = \nu(B)$,

for all $A, B \in \mathcal{B}$, the σ -algebra of the Borel sets.

Note that, with this definition, the Wasserstein distance between two measures is necessarily finite, having replaced the usual euclidean distance |x - y| between two points $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with the bounded distance $\min\{|x - y|, 1\}$ (otherwise we would have had to give the definition only for measures with finite first moment).

²The attribution of the distance to the name of Wasserstein was given by Dobrushin in [24] after having come into contact with the work of Leonid N. Vaserstein [57]. This distance had already been used in the '40s in the theory of transportation of mass (see [38] and [39]). Only later in [23] this incorrect attribution was recognized.

³In [23] the focus is on the proof of uniqueness since existence was already obtained in [10].

We refer to [60] and [61] for the proof that W_1 is indeed a distance and for a discussion of its properties, including the fact that

$$\mu_j \to \mu \iff \mathcal{W}_1(\mu_j, \mu) \to 0,$$
(4.5)

where $\mu_j \rightarrow \mu$ denotes the weak convergence of the sequence of measures $\{\mu_j\}$ to μ .

Theorem 4.1 ([23]). It holds that:

- i) Given an initial datum $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and a bounded interaction F that is globally Lipschitz, there exists a unique global weak solution $f \in C([0, +\infty); \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ of the Vlasov meanfield equation (4.3).
- ii) Solutions of (4.3) are weakly-continuous with respect to the initial datum. It follows that, fixed T > 0 and being f_t solution of the Vlasov equation (4.3) with initial datum f_0 and μ_t^N the empirical measure in (4.2) related to the particle system (4.1) with initial datum μ_0^N , for $0 \le t \le T$, it holds

$$\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant e^{2\max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, Lip(F)\}T} \mathcal{W}_1(f_0, \mu_0^N).$$

Proof of i) of Theorem 6.1. We divide the proof into several steps.

Step 1 Given $f \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ and $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we define the flow

$$z^f(t) \equiv z^f(t,z)$$

that solves

$$\begin{cases} \dot{z}^f(t) = \mathcal{F}[f_t](z^f(t)) \\ z^f(0) = z. \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

Note that $\mathcal{F}[f_t](x)$ is also continuous in t since in general, given two probability measures $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,

$$|\mathcal{F}[\mu](x) - \mathcal{F}[\nu](x)| \leq \max\{\operatorname{Lip}(F), 2\|F\|_{\infty}\}\mathcal{W}_{1}(\mu, \nu).$$
(4.7)

Indeed, let $\pi \in \mathcal{C}(\mu, \nu)$, from the hypothesis on *F* we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{F}[\mu](x) - \mathcal{F}[\nu](x)| &= \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} F(x - x_1) \, \mathrm{d}\pi(x_1, x_2) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} F(x - x_2) \, \mathrm{d}\pi(x_1, x_2) \right| \\ &\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} |F(x - x_1) - F(x - x_2)| \, \mathrm{d}\pi(x_1, x_2) \\ &\leqslant \max\{\mathrm{Lip}(F), 2\|F\|_{\infty}\} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \min\{|x_1 - x_2|, 1\} \, \mathrm{d}\pi(x_1, x_2). \end{aligned}$$

Taking the infimum between the couplings we get (4.7).

By this and thanks to (4.4), we know that the solution (4.6) is uniquely defined, globally in [0, T].

Step 2 Given a fixed T > 0 and $f_0 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we define the map

$$\Phi \colon C\Big([0,T];\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)\Big) \to C\Big([0,T];\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)\Big),$$
where $(\Phi f)_t$ is the push-forward of f_0 along the flow $z^f(t, x)$ defined in (4.6), i.e. $(\Phi f)_t$ is defined by the relation

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \alpha(z) \,\mathrm{d}(\Phi f)_t(z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \alpha(z^f(t, z)) \,\mathrm{d}f_0(z) \tag{4.8}$$

for any function $\alpha \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Thanks to (4.8), $(\Phi f)_t$ is a probability measure for each $t \in [0, T]$. The weak continuity of $(\Phi f)_t$ with respect to time t follows from the continuity of $z^f(t)$. Hence the map Φ is well-defined.

Notice that if $f \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n))$ is a fixed point of the map Φ , then it is a weak solution of the Vlasov equation. Hence, introducing the following distance

$$\overline{\mathcal{W}}_1(f,g) = \int_0^T \mathcal{W}_1(f_t,g_t) \, \mathrm{d}t, \tag{4.9}$$

for $f, g \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, the aim is to prove that Φ is a contractive map with respect to \overline{W}_1 .

Step 3 Given $z \in \mathbb{R}^n$, let

$$\delta(z) \coloneqq \max_{t \in [0,T]} \left| z^f(t,z) - z^g(t,z) \right|.$$

By the triangular inequality, we have

$$\delta(z) \leq \int_{0}^{T} \left| \mathcal{F}[f_{t}](z^{f}(t,z)) - \mathcal{F}[g_{t}](z^{g}(t,z)) \right| dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \left| \mathcal{F}[f_{t}](z^{f}(t,z)) - \mathcal{F}[f_{t}](z^{g}(t,z)) \right| dt + \int_{0}^{T} \left| \mathcal{F}[f_{t}](z^{g}(t,z)) - \mathcal{F}[g_{t}](z^{g}(t,z)) \right| dt.$$

Using (4.4) and (4.7), we obtain

$$\delta(z) \leq \operatorname{Lip}(F)T\delta(z) + \max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\} \int_{0}^{T} \mathcal{W}_{1}(f_{t}, g_{t}) \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

Hence, if $\operatorname{Lip}(F)T < 1$ we have that

$$\delta(z) \leq \frac{\max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\}}{1 - T\operatorname{Lip}(F)}\overline{\mathcal{W}}_{1}(f, g).$$
(4.10)

Step 4 We now pass to the proof of the contractivity of Φ . Let $\pi_t \in C((\Phi f)_t, (\Phi g)_t)$ defined in this way:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n} \alpha(z_1, z_2) \,\mathrm{d}\pi_t(z_1, z_2) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \alpha(z^f(t, z), z^g(t, z)) \,\mathrm{d}f_0(z),$$

for any function $\alpha \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n)$, i.e. π_t is the push-forward of f_0 along the product flow defined by $z^f(t, z)$ and $z^g(t, z)$.

Using (4.10), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2n}} \min\{|z_1 - z_2|, 1\} \, \mathrm{d}\pi_t(z_1, z_2) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \min\{|z^f(t, z) - z^g(t, z)|, 1\} \, \mathrm{d}f_0(z)$$
$$\leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \delta(z) \, \mathrm{d}f_0(z) \leqslant \frac{\max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\}}{1 - T\operatorname{Lip}(F)} \overline{\mathcal{W}}_1(f, g)$$

and since the Wasserstein is an infimum over the couplings,

$$\mathcal{W}_1((\Phi f)_t, (\Phi g)_t) \leqslant \frac{\max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\}}{1 - T\operatorname{Lip}(F)} \overline{\mathcal{W}}_1(f, g).$$

Hence, from (4.9),

$$\overline{\mathcal{W}}_1(\Phi f, \Phi g) \leqslant \lambda(T)\overline{\mathcal{W}}_1(f, g),$$

where

$$\lambda(T) = \frac{T \max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\}}{1 - T\operatorname{Lip}(F)} < 1$$

for T small.

To prove the second part of Theorem (4.1), we introduce a duality formulation of the Wasserstein distance. This point of view is much used in the theory of optimal transport and it will also be useful in the next Chapter.

Theorem 4.2 (Kantorovich duality). Given two probability measures $\mu, \nu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, we have

$$\mathcal{W}_{1}(\mu,\nu) = \sup \left\{ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} \psi \,\mathrm{d}(\mu-\nu); \, \psi \quad s. \ t. \quad \sup_{x,y\in\mathbb{R}^{n}} \frac{|\psi(x)-\psi(y)|}{\min\{1,|x-y|\}} \leqslant 1 \right\}.$$
(4.11)

We refer to [60] and [61] for the proof of this result, we note only that from (4.11) it is clear that (4.5) holds.

Moreover, we introduce the "intermediate" dynamics that, for i = 1, ..., N and $f \in C([0,T]; \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^n))$, is given by

$$\dot{z}_i^f(t) = \mathcal{F}[f_t](z_i^f),$$

and the empirical measure

$$\nu_t^N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{z_i^f(t)}$$

The initial datum is $\nu_0^N = \mu_0^N$, i.e.

$$\{z_i^f(0)\}_{i=1}^N = \{z_i\}_{i=1}^N.$$

Proof of ii) of Theorem (4.1). We estimate $W_1(f_t, \mu_t^N)$ using the triangular inequality

$$\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leq \mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \nu_t^N) + \mathcal{W}_1(\nu_t^N, \mu_t^N).$$

Given a function $\psi: \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ which is Lipschitz with respect to the bounded distance in (4.11) and such that

$$\sup_{x,y\in\mathbb{R}^n}\frac{|\psi(x)-\psi(y)|}{\min\{1,|x-y|\}}\leqslant 1,$$

we have

$$\int \psi \, \mathrm{d}(f_t - \nu_t^N) = \int \psi(z^f(t, z)) \, \mathrm{d}(f_0 - \mu_0)(z),$$

this because both f_t and $\nu^N t$ are the push-forward of (respectively) f_0 and μ_0 along the flow $z^f(t)$.

Since

$$|z^{f}(t,z) - z^{f}(t,z')| \leq |z - z'| + \max\{2\|F\|_{\infty}, L_{F}\} \int_{0}^{t} |z^{f}(s,z) - z^{f}(s,z')| \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

we have that

$$|z^{f}(t,z) - z^{f}(t,z')| \leq e^{\max\{2\|F\|_{\infty},L_{F}\}t}\min\{1, |z-z'|\}$$

Hence $z^f(t, z)$ is Lipschitz with respect to the bounded distance and so the function $\psi(z^f(t, z))$ is Lipschitz too with constant $e^{\max\{\|F\|_{\infty}, L_F\}t}$, hence

$$\int \psi \,\mathrm{d}(f_t - \nu_t^N) \leqslant e^{\max\{2\|F\|_{\infty}, L_F\}t} \mathcal{W}_1(f_0, \mu_0).$$

by the Kantorovich duality in (4.11).

From this and from the definition of Wasserstein distance we get

$$\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant \int \min\{1, |z^f(t, z) - z_i(t, z)|\} \,\mathrm{d}\mu_0^N(z) + e^{\max\{2\|F\|_{\infty}, L_F\}t} \mathcal{W}_1(f_0, \mu_0^N).$$

We now estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |z_i^f(t) - z_i(t)| &\leq |\mathcal{F}[f_t](z_i^f(t)) - \mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z_i(t))| \\ &\leq |\mathcal{F}[f_t](z_i^f(t)) - \mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z_i^f(t))| + |\mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z_i^f(t)) - \mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z_i(t))| \\ &\leq \max\{2\|F\|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\} \Big(\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) + \min\{1, |z_i^f(t) - z_i(t)|\} \Big), \end{aligned}$$

where we have used again the Kantorovich duality in the first term.

By Gronwall's lemma, we get

$$\min\{1, |z_i^f(t) - z_i(t)|\} \leq \beta \int_0^t e^{\beta(t-s)} \mathcal{W}_1(f_s, \mu_s^N) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

where $\beta \coloneqq \max\{2 \| F \|_{\infty}, \operatorname{Lip}(F)\}$. We arrive at

$$\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant \beta \int_0^t e^{\beta(t-s)} \mathcal{W}_1(f_s, \mu_s^N) \, \mathrm{d}s + e^{\beta t} \mathcal{W}_1(f_0, \mu_0^N).$$

Multiplying on both sides by $e^{-\beta t}$ and using again Gronwall's lemma, we obtain the thesis

$$\mathcal{W}_1(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant e^{2\beta t} \mathcal{W}_1(f_0, \mu_0^N).$$

We cite that this approach by duality is also used in the proof of the mean-field limit given by W. Braun and W. K. Hepp in [10], where they work with the so-called bounded Lipschitz norm defined by

$$\|\mu\|_{BL} \coloneqq \sup_{\|\psi\|_{\infty} + \|\nabla\psi\|_{\infty} \leqslant 1} \int \psi \, \mathrm{d}\mu.$$

4.3 The Neunzert and Wick approach

In 1974, Helmut Neunzert and Joachim Wick in [47] gave the first proof of the mean-field limit, inspired by the work [63] of Hermann Weyl on equidistributed sequences modulo 1 of real numbers and using the discrepancy theory.

We are particularly interested in this result for two reasons: it is historically the first rigorous proof of the mean-field limit; moreover, its strategy is generalizable to cases with nonsmooth interaction, as in the proof of the mean-field limit for topological interactions given in the next Chapter.

The authors work in \mathbb{R}^2 and use the following notion of discrepancy distance

$$\mathcal{D}^*(\rho_1,\rho_2) = \sup_{z \in \mathbb{R}^2} \left| \int_{R(z)} \mathrm{d}\rho_1 - \int_{R(z)} \mathrm{d}\rho_2 \right|$$

where $R(z) = \{w \in \mathbb{R}^2 \text{ s.t. } w \leq z\}$ and $w \leq z$ is the product order (or component-wise order) on \mathbb{R}^2 .

In this work F is assumed to be of bounded variation in the sense of Hardy-Krause: this means that F has one-dimensional bounded variation in each variable $F(z^1, \cdot)$ and $F(\cdot, z^2)$, $z = (z^1, z^2)$ and moreover that

$$V_2[F] = \sup_R \sum_{i,k} |\Delta_{R_{i,k}}(F)| < +\infty,$$

where $R = \bigcup_{i,k} R_{i,k}$ is the finite union of ordered intervals $R_{i,k} = (z_i^1, z_k^2)$ with $z_1^1 < \cdots < z_i^1, z_1^2 < \cdots < z_k^2$ and

$$\Delta_{R_{i,k}}(F) = F(z_{i+1}^1, z_{k+1}^2) + F(z_i^1, z_k^2) - F(z_{i+1}^1, z_k^2) - F(z_i^1, z_{k+1}^2).$$

Then $V_H(F)$ is defined as the sum of $V_2[F]$ and of the one-dimensional total variations.

We introduce again the intermediate dynamic that, given $f \in C([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$ and i = 1, ..., N, is given by

$$\dot{z}_i^f(t) = \mathcal{F}[f_t](z_i^f)$$

and the empirical measure

$$\nu_t^N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^N \delta_{z_k^f(t)}$$

The initial datum is $\nu_0^N=\mu_0^N,$ i.e.

$$\{z_i^f(0)\}_{i=1}^N = \{z_i\}_{i=1}^N.$$

For functions F of bounded variation in the above sense, the following inequalities hold. They are widely used in the study of uniform distributions of sequences and discrepancy theory (see [41, 40, 36, 48]) and can be generalized to any dimension.

Proposition 4.1 (Koksma-Hlawka inequality). Given an interaction F of bounded variation in the Hardy-Krause sense and a probability measure $f \in C([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$, we have that

$$|\mathcal{F}[f_t](z) - \mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z)| \leq V_H(F)\mathcal{D}^*(f_t, \mu_t^N),$$

where μ_t^N is the empirical measure in (4.2). Moreover

$$|\mathcal{F}[\mu_t^N](z) - \mathcal{F}[\nu_t^N](z)| \leq V_H(F)\mathcal{D}^*(\mu_t^N,\nu_t^N) + 2\mathcal{D}^*(\nu_t^N,f_t).$$

Thanks to these properties, a version of the mean-field limit can be proved. Notice that we don't specify the convergence rate.

Theorem 4.3. Let $F : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ be a function of bounded Hardy-Krause variation. Given a probability measure $f \in C([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^2))$ solution of the Vlasov equation, assume that $\mathcal{F}[f_t]$ is globally Lipschitz with Lipschitz constant L_F . Given the empirical measure μ_t^N related to (4.2), we have that

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \mathcal{D}^*(f_t, \mu_t^N) = 0$$

if

$$\lim_{N \to +\infty} \mathcal{D}^*(f_0, \mu_0^N) = 0.$$

Proof of Theorem (4.3). We avoid giving all the details since a similar proof will be given in detail in the next Chapter. We have that

$$\mathcal{D}^*(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leq \mathcal{D}^*(f_t, \nu_t^N) + \mathcal{D}^*(\nu_t^N, \mu_t^N).$$

It can be proved that the first term goes to zero, since

$$\left| \int_{z^f(t,R(z))} \mathrm{d}(f_0 - \mu_0^N) \right| \to 0.$$

Concerning the second term, we use the following lemma which we don't prove (see [47] and Proposition (5.3) where an exact analog of this is proved).

Lemma 4.1. Let

$$\mu^{N} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{z_{i}} \text{ and } \nu^{N} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \delta_{w_{i}}$$

be two empirical measures on \mathbb{R}^2 and take $\delta > 0$ such that $|z_i - w_i| \leq \delta$ for all i = 1, ..., N. It holds that, for any probability measure $f \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^2)$,

$$\mathcal{D}^*(\mu^N, \nu^N) \leq 2\sigma_f(\delta) + \mathcal{D}^*(\nu^N, f),$$

where

$$\sigma_f(\delta) = \sup_{z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^2} \Big(\sup_{|z_1 - z_2| < \delta} \Big| \int_{R(z_2)} f(z') \, \mathrm{d}z' - \int_{R(z_1)} f(z') \, \mathrm{d}z' \Big| \Big).$$

The proof follows by estimating the difference of the flows $|z_i^f(t, z) - z_i(t, z)|$ and using the Koksma-Hlawka inequalities (4.1) and Gronwall's lemma.

Besides what is briefly introduced here, there would be many interesting topics on mean-field validity problems such as the approach with BBGKY hierarchies, the quantum mean-field limit and the validity for the Vlasov-Poisson equation which are not covered here. We refer the reader to the many references on the subject ([17, 18, 29, 37, 53, 52, 54]).

We only mention that, although the theory for regular pairwise interactions is sufficiently well understood, going beyond it considering singular potentials, is a harder task. This is the case of the three-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation. In this equation, the potential 1/r is singular at the origin and does not belong to any L^p space. Although the mean-field limit for the Vlasov-Poisson equation remains an open problem, there has been important progress in recent years, see the works [34, 35] where the mean-field limit is proven for potentials with singularities "weaker than 1/r" and also [42, 43].

However, in the case of the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation, the problem has been solved in [55, 56] and with a simpler proof in [33], being the force discontinuous, but not diverging. The analogy with the discontinuity of the Coulomb/Newton interaction in the one-dimensional case suggested the strategy for the proof of the mean-field limit for topological models which will be presented in the next Chapter.

Chapter 5

Topological interaction: mean-field limit for a Cucker-Smale type model

joint work with D. Benedetto and E. Caglioti ([5])

In this Chapter we present a mean-field limit result for the Cucker-Smale model with topological interaction. In topological models an agent reacts to the presence of another not according to the distance, but according to the proximity rank (see eq.s (5.1), (5.2), (5.3) below for a rigorous formulation). Due to this dependence on the rank, the interaction comes out of the two-body case, and present various problems in the kinetic treatment. In particular, in the case considered here, solutions of the kinetic equation are not weakly continuous with respect to the initial datum and there are also some difficulties in defining particle motion.

5.1 Topological Cucker-Smale model

In recent years, the conceptual and mathematical apparatus of kinetic equations has been used in the study of self-propelled particle systems of biological nature undergoing local interactions, as the motion of migrating cells [28], locust swarms [3] and fish schools [44]. Starting with the pioneering paper in [58], several models have been proposed to explain the evolution of these systems (see [59]). In the simplest [19, 20, 58], a bird is modeled as a self-propelling particle that interacts with its neighbors. The interaction is such that neighboring birds tend to align their velocities. For many of these models, the mean-field limit has often been used to obtain a kinetic description of the dynamics (see, for instance, [31, 14, 12, 13, 30, 4]).

A few years ago, supported by observational data ([2, 16, 1]), "topological" models for interaction were introduced: in these models, the strength of the interaction of an agent with another one is a function of the proximity rank of the latter with respect to the former.

The seminal paper [2] has been followed by several papers studying various aspects of this phenomenon see e.g. [9, 11, 27, 49, 50].

Mathematically, flocking of systems of topologically interacting particles has been investigated in [45, 51, 62] and as regards stochastic models with topological interaction also in [7, 8].

In [32], the author introduced the topological Cucker-Smale model which we are going to consider here. In addition to studying flocking, he proposes kinetic and fluid models derived from this mean-field topological interaction and a first mean-field limit result is proved for a smoothed version of the model in which the weak continuity in the initial datum is recovered.

In this Chapter instead, besides studying the well-posedness of the microscopic dynamics and the kinetic equation, we prove the mean-field limit for the effective dynamics with topological interaction, without hypotheses of further regularizations.

A Cucker-Smale type model for the motion of N agents, in the mean-field scaling, is the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_i(t) = v_i(t) \\ \dot{v}_i(t) = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{j=1}^N p_{ij}(v_j(t) - v_i(t)), \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where the "communication weights" $\{p_{ij}\}_{i,j=1}^{N}$ are positive functions that take into account the interactions between agents. In classical models, p_{ij} depends only on the distance $|x_i - x_j|$ between the agents. In topological models the weights depend on the positions of the agents by their rank

$$p_{ij} \coloneqq K\big(M(x_i, |x_i - x_j|)\big),\tag{5.2}$$

where $K: [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is a positive decreasing Lipschitz continuous function such that $\int_0^1 K(z) \, dz = \gamma$ and, for r > 0, the function

$$M(x_i, r) \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \mathcal{X}\{|x_i - x_k| \le r\}$$
(5.3)

counts the number of agents at distance less than or equal to r from x_i , normalized with N.

Here and after, $\mathcal{X}\{|x_i - x_k| \leq r\} = \mathcal{X}_{B_r(x_i)}(x_k)$ where \mathcal{X}_A is the characteristic function of the set A and $B_r(x)$ denotes the closed ball of center x and radius r in \mathbb{R}^d . Note that in this case p_{ij} is a stepwise function of the positions of all the agents.

In the mean-field limit $N \to +\infty$, the one-agent distribution function $f_t = f(t, x, v)$ is expected to verify the equation

$$\partial_t f_t + v \cdot \nabla_x f_t + \nabla_v \cdot (W[Sf_t, f_t](x, v)f_t) = 0,$$
(5.4)

where, in this Chapter, instead of ρ we denote by $Sf_t(x) \coloneqq \int f_t(x, v) dv$ the spatial distribution and where, given a probability density f in $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ and a probability density ρ in \mathbb{R}^d ,

$$W[\rho, f](x, v) \coloneqq \int K(M[\rho](x, |x - y|)) \ (w - v)f(y, w) \ \mathrm{d}y \ \mathrm{d}w, \tag{5.5}$$

with

$$M[\rho](x,r) \coloneqq \int_{|x'-x| \leqslant r} \rho(x') \, \mathrm{d}x'.$$
(5.6)

A weak formulation of this equation is given requiring that the solution f_t fulfills

$$\int \alpha(x,v) \,\mathrm{d}f_t(x,v) = \int \alpha\left(x^f(t,x,v), v^f(t,x,v)\right) \,\mathrm{d}f_0(x,v)$$

for any $\alpha \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, where f_0 is the initial probability measure and $(x^f(t), v^t(f)) \equiv (x^f(t, x, v), v^f(t, x, v))$ is the flow defined by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}^{f}(t, x, v) = v^{f}(t, x, v) \\ \dot{v}^{f}(t, x, v) = W[Sf_{t}, f_{t}](x^{f}(t, x, v), v^{f}(t, x, v)) \\ x(0, x, v) = x, \quad v(0, x, v) = v. \end{cases}$$
(5.7)

In other words, f_t is the push-forward of f_0 along the flow generated by the velocity field, determined by f_t itself.

It is easy to verify that the empirical measure

$$\mu_t^N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i^N(t)} \, \delta_{v_i^N(t)}$$

associated with the solution of (5.1), (5.2) and (5.3) is a weak solution of (5.4). Namely, $M[S\mu_t^N](x,r)$ is exactly M(x,r) defined in (5.3) (from now on we use the more complete notation $M[S\mu_t^N](x,r)$). Thus, we can rewrite the agent evolution in (5.1) as

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_{i}^{N}(t) = v_{i}^{N}(t) \\ \dot{v}_{i}^{N}(t) = W[S\mu_{t}^{N}, \mu_{t}^{N}](x_{i}^{N}(t), v_{i}^{N}(t)). \end{cases}$$
(5.8)

As seen in the previous Chapter, in the Dobrushin approach to the mean-field limit, the result is achieved from this fact and from the weak continuity, with respect to the initial datum, of the weak solutions of (5.4).

We cannot use this approach in presence of topological interaction, since in general the solutions of (5.7) are not weakly continuous with respect to the initial datum (see section (5.3)).

We can overcome this difficulty if the solution of (5.4) has a bounded density. To obtain our result, we were inspired by the work of Trocheris [55] in which the author uses the previously mentioned discrepancy theory techniques of Neunzert and Wick [47, 48] to prove the mean-field limit for the one-dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation, where the interaction has a jump-type discontinuity at the origin.

5.2 Distances and weak convergence

In this Chapter we use the following definition of the 1-Wasserstein distance \mathscr{W} between two probability measures ρ_1 and ρ_2 on \mathbb{R}^d :

$$\mathcal{W}(\rho_1, \rho_2) = \sup_{\phi \in C_b(\mathbb{R}^d), \operatorname{Lip}(\phi) \leq 1} \int \phi(\mathrm{d}\rho_1 - \mathrm{d}\rho_2)$$
$$= \sup_{\phi \in C_b^1(\mathbb{R}^d), \|\nabla\phi\|_{\infty} \leq 1} \int \phi(\mathrm{d}\rho_1 - \mathrm{d}\rho_2),$$

where $\text{Lip}(\phi)$ is the Lipschitz constant of ϕ .

The counter of the number of particles in (5.6) is not continuous with respect to \mathcal{W} , so we work with the weaker topology induced by another distance, the discrepancy, defined as

$$\mathscr{D}(\rho_1, \rho_2) \coloneqq \sup_{x, r > 0} \left| \int_{B_r(x)} \mathrm{d}\rho_1 - \int_{B_r(x)} \mathrm{d}\rho_2 \right|.$$

In the sequel, we also indicate by B_R the closed ball $B_R(0)$.

As discussed in the previous Chapter, the discrepancy distance is mostly used to quantify the uniformity of sequences of points (see [41, 26]), but its multidimensional version is used for the proof of the mean-field limit in [47] and is mentioned by Neunzert in his lecture notes[46].

By definition, it holds the following proposition.

Proposition 5.1 (Lipschitzianity of M with respect to \mathscr{D}). Let ρ_1 and ρ_2 be two probability measures on \mathbb{R}^d . Then, for any $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and r > 0,

$$|M[\rho_1](x,r) - M[\rho_2](x,r)| \leq \mathscr{D}(\rho_1,\rho_2).$$

We can also define \mathscr{D} in terms of regular functions. Let X be the subset of $C_b^1([0, +\infty); \mathbb{R})$, and define

$$\|\phi\|_X \coloneqq \int_0^{+\infty} |\phi'(r)| \,\mathrm{d}r.$$

Then

$$\mathscr{D}(\rho_1,\rho_2) = \sup_{\phi \in X: \, \|\phi\|_X \leqslant 1} \sup_x \int \phi\big(|x-y|\big) \big(\mathrm{d}\rho_1(y) - \mathrm{d}\rho_2(y)\big).$$

This assertion is an easy consequence of the following lemma.

Lemma 5.1. Let g_1 and g_2 be two probability measures on $[0, +\infty)$. Then

$$\sup_{r \ge 0} \left| \int_{[0,r]} \mathrm{d}g_1 - \int_{[0,r]} \mathrm{d}g_2 \right| = \sup_{\phi \in X: \, \|\phi\|_X \le 1} \int_0^{+\infty} \phi \left(\mathrm{d}g_1 - \mathrm{d}g_2 \right).$$
(5.9)

Proof. Fix r > 0, there exists $\phi_{r,\varepsilon} \in X$ with $\|\phi_{r,\varepsilon}\|_X = 1$ and such that $\phi_{r,\varepsilon}(s) = 1$ if $0 \leq s \leq r$ and $\phi_{r,\varepsilon}(s) = 0$ if $s \geq r + \varepsilon$. For any measure g,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^{+\infty} \left(\phi_{r,\varepsilon}(s) - \mathcal{X}\{s \in [0,r]\} \right) \mathrm{d}g(s) = 0,$$

then

$$\int_{[0,r]} (\mathrm{d}g_1 - \mathrm{d}g_2) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^{+\infty} \phi_{r,\varepsilon} (\mathrm{d}g_1 - \mathrm{d}g_2) \leqslant \sup_{\phi \in X: \|\phi\|_X \leqslant 1} \int_0^{+\infty} \phi (\mathrm{d}g_1 - \mathrm{d}g_2).$$

To prove the opposite inequality, we denote by G_1 and G_2 the distribution functions of g_1 and g_2 :

$$G_i(r) \coloneqq \int_{[0,r]} \mathrm{d}g_i.$$

Then, integrating by parts,

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \phi(\mathrm{d}g_1 - \mathrm{d}g_2) = -\int_0^{+\infty} \phi'(r) \big(G_1(r) - G_2(r)\big) \,\mathrm{d}r \leqslant \|\phi\|_X \|G_1 - G_2\|_\infty.$$

We conclude the proof by noticing that $||G_1 - G_2||_{\infty}$ is exactly the left-hand-side of (5.9). \Box

For our purposes, we need the equivalence of \mathscr{D} and \mathscr{W} in the case in which one of the two measures has bounded density. We note that in the general case the equivalence is false, as can be easily checked by considering two Dirac measures δ_{x_1} and δ_{x_2} : \mathscr{W} vanishes when $|x_1 - x_2| \to 0$, while \mathscr{D} is one whenever $x_1 \neq x_2$. Nevertheless, using the covering principles as in [6], for measures on a compact set, it can be proved the continuity of the Wasserstein distance \mathscr{W} with respect to the discrepancy distance \mathscr{D} . We refer to the appendix of [5] for a proof of this fact.

In the sequel, in the definition of \mathscr{D} we choose functions in $\phi \in C([0, +\infty), \mathbb{R})$, with first derivative continuous up to a finite number of jumps. With abuse of notation, we keep calling this set of functions X. Let us expose some technical properties.

Given $\phi \in X$, we define some useful regularizations, ϕ^{\pm} , ϕ_{ε} and ψ_{ε} , with $\varepsilon > 0$, as follows. Denoting by $\tilde{\phi}$ the function

$$\tilde{\phi}(r) \coloneqq \int_0^r |\phi'(s)| \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

we define

$$\phi^{\pm}(r) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{\phi}(r) \pm \phi(r)), & \text{if } r \ge 0, \\ \pm \frac{1}{2}\phi(0), & \text{if } r < 0, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\phi_{\varepsilon}(r) \coloneqq \phi^+(r+\varepsilon) - \phi^-(r-\varepsilon).$$
(5.10)

Finally, fixed a regular mollifier η supported in (0, 1), we define

$$\psi_{\varepsilon}(r) \coloneqq \int_{0}^{\varepsilon} \eta_{\varepsilon}(s)\phi^{+}(r+s)\,\mathrm{d}s - \int_{0}^{\varepsilon} \eta_{\varepsilon}(s)\phi^{-}(r-s)\,\mathrm{d}s.$$
(5.11)

where $\eta_{\varepsilon}(s) \coloneqq \varepsilon^{-1} \eta(s/\varepsilon)$.

We summarize the properties of these regularizations in the following lemma, where we indicate with c any constant which does not depends on ϕ and ε .

Lemma 5.2. *i*) ϕ^{\pm} are not decreasing. Moreover

$$\int_0^{+\infty} (\phi^{\pm})'(r) \, \mathrm{d}r \leqslant \|\phi\|_X \tag{5.12}$$

and
$$\phi(r) = \phi^+(r) - \phi^-(r)$$
 for $r \ge 0$

ii) $\phi_{\varepsilon} \in X$, $\phi(r) \leq \phi_{\varepsilon}(r)$ and

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} \left(\phi_{\varepsilon}(r) - \phi(r) \right) \mathrm{d}r \leq 2\varepsilon \|\phi\|_{X}.$$
(5.13)

iii) $\psi_{\varepsilon}(r) \ge \phi(r)$. Moreover ψ_{ε} is a C^1 function in X,

$$\|(\psi_{\varepsilon})'\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \|\eta\|_{\infty} \|\phi\|_{X}$$
(5.14)

and

$$\int_{0}^{+\infty} |\psi_{\varepsilon}(r) - \phi(r)| \, \mathrm{d}r \leqslant c\varepsilon \|\phi\|_{X}.$$
(5.15)

Proof. The proof is elementary, we only describe how to get the bounds in ii) and iii). Since $\phi = \phi^+ - \phi^-$, we rewrite the l.h.s. of (5.13) as

$$\int_0^{+\infty} \left(\phi^+(r+\varepsilon) - \phi^+(r) \right) + \left(\phi^-(r) - \phi^-(r-\varepsilon) \right) \mathrm{d}r$$
$$= \int_0^{+\infty} \left(\int_0^{\varepsilon} \left((\phi^+)'(r+\xi) + (\phi^-)'(r-\xi) \right) \mathrm{d}\xi \right) \mathrm{d}r \leqslant 2\varepsilon \|\phi\|_X$$

The estimate in (5.14) is immediate while, regarding (5.15), we rewrite $\psi_{\varepsilon}(r) - \phi(r)$ as

$$\int_0^1 \eta(s) \left(\phi^+(r+\varepsilon s) - \phi^+(r) + \phi^-(r) - \phi^-(r-\varepsilon s) \right) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$= \varepsilon \int_0^1 s \eta(s) \left(\int_0^1 (\phi^+)'(r+\varepsilon s\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi + \int_0^1 (\phi^-)'(r-\varepsilon s\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \right) \mathrm{d}s.$$

We conclude by integrating in r, switching the order of integration and using (5.12).

Now we can prove the following proposition.

Proposition 5.2. Let ρ and ν be two probability measures on \mathbb{R}^d with support in a ball B_R and such that $\rho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. Then

$$\mathscr{D}(\nu,\rho) \leqslant C(\|\rho\|_{\infty}, R)\sqrt{\mathscr{W}(\nu,\rho)},$$

where C is a constant that depends on the dimension d, as well as on $\|\rho\|_{\infty}$ and on R.

Proof. Let ϕ be in X and consider ψ_{ε} as in (5.11). Fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, let Φ and Ψ_{ε} be the functions

$$\Phi(y) \coloneqq \phi(|x-y|) \text{ and } \Psi_{\varepsilon}(y) \coloneqq \psi_{\varepsilon}(|x-y|).$$

Then, from iii) of Lemma (5.2),

$$\int \Phi \,\mathrm{d}\nu - \int \Phi \,\mathrm{d}\rho \leqslant \int \Psi_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}\nu - \int \Phi \,\mathrm{d}\rho = \int \Psi_{\varepsilon} \,\mathrm{d}(\nu - \rho) + \int (\Psi_{\varepsilon} - \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}\rho.$$

From (5.14) of Lemma (5.2), the first term is bounded by $\frac{c}{\varepsilon} \|\phi\|_X \mathcal{W}(\nu, \rho)$. Regarding the second term, denoting by σ_r the uniform measure on $\partial B_r(x)$, we have

$$\int (\Psi_{\varepsilon} - \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}\rho \leq \|\rho\|_{\infty} \int_{0}^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}r \left(\psi_{\varepsilon}(r) - \phi(r)\right) \int_{\partial B_{r}(x)} \mathcal{X}\{z \in B_{R}\}\sigma(\mathrm{d}z) \\ \leq c\varepsilon R^{d-1} \|\phi\|_{X} \|\rho\|_{\infty}, \tag{5.16}$$

where in the last inequality we have used (5.15). Optimizing on ε and passing to the supremum in ϕ , we get the proof.

Note that if μ^N is an empirical measure and ν a probability measure that does not give mass to the atoms of μ^N , $\mathscr{D}(\mu^N, \rho) \ge 1/N$. With this constraint, the discrepancy between two empirical measures is "small" if the measures are close in the sense specified in the following proposition.

Proposition 5.3. Let

$$\mu^N = rac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{x_i} \ \ \text{and} \ \
u^N = rac{1}{N}\sum_{i=1}^N \delta_{y_i}$$

be two empirical measures on \mathbb{R}^d and take $\delta > 0$ such that $|x_i - y_i| \leq \delta$ for all i = 1, ..., N. Then, for any probability measure $\rho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ supported on a ball B_R ,

$$\mathscr{D}(\mu^N,\nu^N) \leqslant cR^{d-1}\delta \|\rho\|_{\infty} + c\mathscr{D}(\mu^N,\rho).$$

Proof. Given $\phi \in X$ with $\|\phi\|_X \leq 1$, we construct ϕ_{δ} as in (5.10) and, fixed $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, we consider $\Phi(y) \coloneqq \phi(|x-y|), \Phi_{\delta}(y) \coloneqq \phi_{\delta}(|x-y|)$.

Since $|x - x_i| - \delta \leq |x - y_i| \leq |x - x_i| + \delta$, we have that

$$\Phi(y_i) = \phi^+(|x-y_i|) - \phi^-(|x-y_i|) \leq \Phi_\delta(x_i).$$

Then

$$\int \Phi \,\mathrm{d}(\nu^N - \mu^N) \leqslant \int (\Phi_\delta - \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}\mu^N = \int (\Phi_\delta - \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}(\mu^N - \rho) + \int (\Phi_\delta - \Phi) \,\mathrm{d}\rho$$

Since $(\phi_{\delta} - \phi) \in X$, the first term is bounded by $c\mathscr{D}(\mu^N, \rho)$. Using (5.13) and reasoning as in (5.16) we estimate the second term with $c\delta R^{d-1} \|\rho\|_{\infty}$.

5.3 Agent dynamics

One of the difficulties in handling (5.8) is that the dynamic is not continuous with respect to the initial datum. For instance, consider three agents $\{X_i\}_{i=1}^3$ on a line, such that

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(0) &= -1, \quad x_2(0) = \varepsilon, \quad x_3(0) = 1, \\ v_1(0) &= -1, \quad v_2(0) = 0, \quad v_3(0) = 1, \end{aligned}$$
 (5.17)

with $\varepsilon \in (-1, 1) \setminus \{0\}$. Then $p_{i,j} = M(x_i, |x_i - x_j|)$ takes the values 1/3, 2/3, 1. Suppose for simplicity that K(2/3) = 3 and K(1) = 0, then the equations for v_1 and v_3 read as

$$\begin{cases} \dot{v}_1(t) = v_2(t) - v_1(t) \\ \dot{v}_3(t) = v_2(t) - v_3(t) \end{cases}$$

while

$$\dot{v}_{2}(t) = \begin{cases} v_{3}(t) - v_{2}(t) & \text{if } \varepsilon \in (0, 1) \\ v_{1}(t) - v_{2}(t) & \text{if } \varepsilon \in (-1, 0). \end{cases}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{cases} v_1(t) = -(1 + e^{-2t})/2\\ v_2(t) = -(1 - e^{-2t})/2\\ v_3(t) = (-1 + 4e^{-t} - e^{-2t})/2 \end{cases}$$

if $\varepsilon \in (-1, 0)$, while

$$\begin{cases} v_1(t) = -(-1 + 4e^{-t} - e^{-2t})/2\\ v_2(t) = (1 - e^{-2t})/2\\ v_3(t) = (1 + e^{-2t})/2 \end{cases}$$

if $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$, so that $\{x_i(t), v_i(t)\}_{i=1}^3$ is discontinuous in $\varepsilon = 0$. Note that the discontinuity of the trajectories in the phase space is easily translated in the weak discontinuity of the empirical measure at time t, with respect to the initial measure.

This discontinuity reflects the fact that, for data as in (5.17) with $\varepsilon = 0$, there is no a unique way to define the dynamics. Nevertheless, we can prove that the system (5.8) is well-posed for almost all initial data. To do so, let us define some subsets of the phase space

$$\left\{ (X_N, V_N) \coloneqq (x_1, \dots, x_N, v_1, \dots, v_N) \in \mathbb{R}^{Nd} \times \mathbb{R}^{Nd} \right\},\$$

where $d \ge 1$ is the dimension of the configuration space of the agents.

- **Definition 5.1.** \mathcal{R} is the set of "the regular points", i.e. the set of points (X_N, V_N) such that for each triad of different indices it holds that $|x_i x_k| \neq |x_j x_k|$.
 - S is the "iso-rank" manifold, i.e. the set of points (X_N, V_N) such that there exists a triad of different indices i, j, k for which $|x_i x_k| = |x_j x_k|$, i.e. the agents i and j have the same rank with respect to the agent k.
 - S_r is the set of the "regular points" of the iso-rank manifold, i.e. the subset of points $(X_N, V_N) \in S$ such that if $|x_i x_k| = |x_j x_k|$ then x_i, x_j, x_k are different and $(v_i v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{ik} \neq (v_j v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{jk}$, where $\hat{n}_{ab} \coloneqq (x_a x_b)/|x_a x_b|$.

We can define the dynamics locally in time, not only for initial data in \mathcal{R} , but also in \mathcal{S}_r . Namely, if initially the agents *i* and *j* have the same rank with respect to the agent *k*, we can redefine the force exerted on the agent *k* accordingly to the velocities: if $(v_i - v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{ik} > (v_j - v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{jk}$ we evaluate the rank as if $|x_i - x_k| > |x_j - x_k|$ for t > 0and as if $|x_i - x_k| < |x_j - x_k|$ for t < 0. In other words, the different speeds of change of the distances among the agents allow the dynamics to leave \mathcal{S} instantaneously.

We discuss the existence of the dynamics, so redefined.

Lemma 5.3. If $(X_N, V_N) \in \mathcal{R} \cup S_r$, there exists $\tau > 0$ such that the system (5.8) has a unique solution for $t \in (-\tau, \tau)$, with initial datum (X_N, V_N) . Moreover the solution is locally Lipschitz in t and in (X_N, V_N) .

We omit the proof.

In \mathcal{R} the solution is regular, so we can compute the determinant of the Jacobian of the flow $J(t) \equiv J(X_N, V_N, t)$. It verifies the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}J(t) = -\left(\frac{d}{N}\sum_{i,j:i\neq j}p_{ij}\right)J(t) = -dN\gamma_N J(t),\tag{5.18}$$

where

$$\gamma_N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=2}^N K(n/N).$$

Thus, volumes of the phase space are shrunk in time at a constant rate, therefore their measure cannot vanish in finite time. This implies the following fact, of which we omit the proof.

Lemma 5.4. The subset of initial data $(X_N, V_N) \in \mathcal{R}$ such that the trajectory, at a first time in the future or in the past, intersects $S \setminus S_r$, has Lebesgue measure zero. Namely, $S \setminus S_r$ has dimension 2Nd - 2.

This lemma guarantees that, except for a subset of Lebesgue measure zero, we can prolong the dynamics with initial data in \mathcal{R} also after a crossing in \mathcal{S} . To define the dynamics for all times, we need to control the number of crossings.

Lemma 5.5. The subset of initial data $(X_N, V_N) \in \mathcal{R}$ such that the trajectory intersects S_r infinitely many times in finite time, has Lebesgue measure zero.

Proof. Fix T > 0 and suppose to take $(X_N, V_N) \in \mathcal{R}$ such that the solution $(X^N(t), V^N(t)) = (x_1(t), \ldots, x_N(t), v_1(t), \ldots, v_N(t))$ with initial data (X_N, V_N) intersects S_r a finite number of times in $[0, T - \varepsilon)$ and infinitely many times in [0, T). The number of particles is finite, so we can assume that there exists a triad of indices such that $|x_i - x_k| = |x_j - x_k|$ infinitely many times. Since the velocities v_i are bounded by a constant, as follows by simple considerations (see also Theorem (5.1)), from the equation we have that $|x_i - x_k|$ and $|x_j - x_k|$ are C^1 functions, with time derivatives uniformly Lipschitz, if $|x_i - x_k|$ and $|x_j - x_k|$ remain far from 0. Then, as $t \to T$, either $|x_i - x_k| \to 0$ or $(v_i - v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{ik}$ and $(v_j - v_k) \cdot \hat{n}_{jk}$ converge to the same limit. In both cases, the trajectory reaches S at a point that is not in S_r . We conclude the proof by observing that the initial point with these properties lives in a subset of dimension 2Nd - 1. □

From these lemmas and other few considerations, we obtain the following theorem.

Theorem 5.1. Except for a set of measure zero, given $(X_N, V_N) \in \mathbb{R}^{Nd} \times \mathbb{R}^{Nd}$, there exists a unique global solution

$$\left(X^N(t, X_N, V_N), V^N(t, X_N, V_N)\right) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^{2dN}) \times C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^{2dN})$$

with initial datum (X_N, V_N) .

Moreover, given $R_x > 0$ and $R_v > 0$, we have that

$$|x_i^N(t)| \leqslant R_x + tR_v, \ |v_i^N(t)| \leqslant R_v$$

for any *i*, if $|x_i| \leq R_x$ and $|v_i| \leq R_v$. Therefore $v_i^N(t, X_N, V_N)$ has Lipschitz constant bounded by $2R_vK(0)$.

Proof. The proof follows easily from Lemma (5.3), Lemma (5.4) and Lemma (5.5).

The a-priori bound on the support follows from (5.18) and by noticing that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |v_i^N(t)|^2 = -2\sum_{j \neq i} p_{ij} \left(|v_i^N(t)|^2 - v_i^N(t) \cdot v_j^N(t) \right)$$

is null or negative if $|v_i^N|^2$ is maximum in *i*.

5.4 The mean-field equation in L^{∞}

In this section we show how to get an existence and uniqueness result for bounded weak solutions of equation (5.4). We start by stating some elementary facts.

Lemma 5.6. Let $\rho \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ be a probability density.

i) Given $r_1, r_2 > 0$,

$$|M[\rho](x,r_1) - M[\rho](x,r_2)| \le c \|\rho\|_{\infty} \left| r_1^d - r_2^d \right|.$$

ii) Given $x_1, x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and r > 0,

$$|M[\rho](x_1, r) - M[\rho](x_2, r)| \leq c \|\rho\|_{\infty} r^{d-1} |x_1 - x_2|.$$

Proof. The proof of the first assertion is immediate. For the second, we use the following splitting

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{X}\{|x_1 - y| < r\} - \mathcal{X}\{|x_2 - y| < r\} &= \mathcal{X}\{|x_1 - y| < r\}\mathcal{X}\{|x_2 - y| \ge r\} \\ &- \mathcal{X}\{|x_2 - y| < r\}\mathcal{X}\{|x_1 - y| \ge r\}\end{aligned}$$

and we note that, if $|x_1 - x_2| \ge r$,

$$\int_{|x_1-y| < r} \mathcal{X}\{|x_2-y| \ge r\} \,\mathrm{d}y \le cr^d \le cr^{d-1}|x_1-x_2|,$$

while, if $|x_1 - x_2| < r$,

$$\int_{|x_1 - y| < r} \mathcal{X}\{|x_2 - y| \ge r\} \, \mathrm{d}y \le \int \mathcal{X}\{r - |x_1 - x_2| < |x_1 - y| < r\} \, \mathrm{d}y$$
$$= cr^d \left(1 - (1 - |x_1 - x_2|/r)^d\right) \le cdr^{d-1}|x_1 - x_2|.$$

In the following, we denote by \mathcal{B}_r the closed ball of center 0 and radius r in $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ and by $C_w([0, +\infty); L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d))$ the set of families of bounded probability densities $\{f_t\}_{t \ge 0}$ which are weakly continuous in time in the sense of measures.

Lemma 5.7. Let $\{f_t\}_{t\geq 0}$ be a family of probability densities such that $\{f_t\} \in C_w([0, +\infty); \mathcal{B}_{r(t)})$, with r(t) a continuous nondecreasing function. Suppose that

$$supp(f_t) \subset B_{R_x(t)} \times B_{R_v(t)},\tag{5.19}$$

where $R_v(t)$ and $R_x(t)$ are two continuous non-decreasing functions. Then, for any initial datum $(x, v) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$, there exists a unique global solution of (5.7).

Proof. From the classical Cauchy-Lipschitz theory, we only have to verify that $W[Sf_t, f_t](x, v)$ is bounded on compact sets, locally Lipschitz and continuous in t.

Recalling (5.5), the boundedness on compact sets follows from

$$|W[Sf_t, f_t](x, v)| \leq ||K||_{\infty} (R_v(t) + |v|)$$

Since from i) and ii) of Lemma (5.6)

$$|M[Sf_t](x_1, |x_1 - y|) - M[Sf_t](x_2, |x_2 - y|)| \\ \leq c ||Sf_t||_{\infty} (|x_1| + |x_2| + |y|)^{d-1} |x_1 - x_2|^{-1}$$

we have that, if (x_1, v_1) and (x_2, v_2) belong to a compact subset of $\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$,

$$|W[Sf_t, f_t](x_1, v_1) - W[Sf_t, f_t](x_2, v_2)| \le C(|x_1 - x_2| + |v_1 - v_2|)$$

where C depends on R_x, R_v and the diameter of the compact set.

In order to prove that $W[Sf_t, f_t](x, v)$ is continuous in t, we first observe that from the Lipschitzianity of K and Propositions (5.1) and (5.2), since $\mathscr{W}(Sf_t, Sf_s) \leq \mathscr{W}(f_t, f_s)$, we have $K(M[Sf_t](x, |x - y|))$ is continuous in t. Since $K(M[Sf_t](x, |x - y|))$ is Lipschitz in y, also

$$\int K\left(M[Sf_t](x,|x-y|)\right)(v-w)\left(f_t(y,w)-f_s(y,w)\right)\,\mathrm{d}y\,\mathrm{d}w$$

vanishes when $\mathscr{W}(f_t, f_s) \to 0$.

Now we can prove the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 5.2. Let $f_0(x, v) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ be a probability density such that $supp(f_0) \subset B_{R_x} \times B_{R_v}$. Given T > 0, there exists a unique weak solution $f \in C_w([0, T]; L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d))$ of the topological Cucker-Smale equation. Moreover

$$supp(f_t) \subset B_{R_x + tR_v} \times B_{R_v}.$$
 (5.20)

Proof. We first note that, if the solution exists, (5.20) follows from an argument similar to the one used in the discrete case (see Theorem (5.1)).

We now prove the existence. As in Lemma (5.7), consider a family of probability densities $\{g_t\}_{t\geq 0} \in C_w([0,T]; \mathcal{B}_M)$, with $M \coloneqq ||f_0||_{\infty} e^{d\gamma T}$ and such that (5.19) holds with $R_x(t) = R_x + tR_v$ and $R_v(t) = R_v$. The push-forward of f_0 along the flow generated by g_t , denoted by \tilde{g}_t , is weakly continuous in t, uniformly in g_t , with $t \in [0, T]$. Moreover, the determinant of the Jacobian of the flow J(t) = J(t, x, v) verifies

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}J(t) = -J(t)d\gamma.$$

So the push-forward \tilde{g}_t is bounded by $||f_0||_{\infty} e^{d\gamma t}$.

With a standard construction we can prove that, for T sufficiently small, the map $\{g_t\} \mapsto \{\tilde{g}_t\}$ is a contraction in $C_w([0,T]; \mathcal{B}_M)$, with the distance defined by the supremum on time of the Wasserstein distance; in this way we prove local existence and uniqueness. Using the a-priori estimate on the supremum and the support, we get the global result. \Box

5.5 The mean-field limit

In this section we prove the main result regarding the mean-field limit for the topological Cucker-Smale equation. In the sequel, f_t is the fixed global solution of eq. (5.7) as in Theorem (5.2), with initial datum f_0 , and μ_t^N is the global solution of equation (5.8) in the sense of Theorem (5.1), with initial datum

$$\mu_0^N = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=0}^N \delta_{x_i} \delta_{v_i}.$$

We assume that f_0 and μ_0^N are supported in $B_{R_x} \times B_{R_v}$. Fixed T, we indicate by C(T) any constant that depends only on T, R_x , R_v and $||f_0||_{\infty}$.

To get the result, we compare the N-agent dynamics with the "intermediate" dynamics given by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_i^f(t) = v_i^f(t) \\ \dot{v}_i^f(t) = W[Sf_t, \nu_t^N](x_i^f, v_i^f), \end{cases}$$

where

$$\nu_t^N \coloneqq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{k=1}^N \delta_{x_k^f(t)} \, \delta_{v_k^f(t)}$$

is the empirical measure. The initial datum is $\nu_0^N=\mu_0^N,$ i.e.

$$\{(x_i^f(0), v_i^f(0))\}_{i=1}^N = \{(x_i, v_i)\}_{i=1}^N.$$

Proposition 5.4. *Given* T > 0*, it holds that*

i) For $t \in [0, T]$,

$$\mathscr{W}(f_t,\nu_t^N) \leqslant C(T)\mathscr{W}(f_0,\mu_0^N).$$
(5.21)

ii) For $t \in [0, T]$, the distance

$$\delta(t) \coloneqq \max_{i=1,\dots,N} \left(|x_i^f(t) - x_i^N(t)| + |v_i^f(t) - v_i^N(t)| \right)$$

verifies

$$\delta(t) \leqslant C(T) \sqrt{\mathscr{W}(f_0, \mu_0^N)}.$$
(5.22)

Proof. Since f_t is bounded, $K(M[Sf_t](x, |x - y|))$ is locally Lipschitz in x and y (see i) and ii) of Lemma (5.6)) and then $W[Sf_t, \nu](x, v)$ is weakly continuous in ν in the sense that

$$\sup_{x,v} |W[S_f, \nu_1](x, v) - W[S_f, \nu_2](x, v)| \leq C(T) \mathscr{W}(\nu_1, \nu_2).$$

It is straightforward to prove that the solution ν_t of the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_t = v_t \\ \dot{v}_t = W[Sf_t, \nu_t](x_t, v_t) \\ \nu_t = \text{ push-forward of } \nu_0 \text{ along the flow } (x_t, v_t) \end{cases}$$

is continuous in \mathscr{W} with respect to the initial datum ν_0 . Taking $\nu_0 = f_0$ and $\nu_0 = \mu_0^N$ we get the proof of i).

In order to estimate $\delta(t)$, we need to evaluate, for $0 \le s \le t$ and for i = 1, ..., N, the difference $|\dot{v}_i^f(s) - \dot{v}_i^N(s)|$ given by

$$|W[Sf_s, \nu_s^N](x_i^f, v_i^f) - W[S\mu_s^N, \mu_s^N](x_i^N, v_i^N)|.$$

We estimate this quantity with the sum of three terms:

$$\begin{array}{ll} (a) & |W[Sf_s,\nu_s^N](x_i^f,v_i^f) - W[Sf_s,\nu_s^N](x_i^N,v_i^N)|, \\ (b) & |W[Sf_s,\nu_s^N](x_i^N,v_i^N) - W[Sf_s,\mu_s^N](x_i^N,v_i^N)|, \\ (c) & |W[Sf_s,\mu_s^N](x_i^N,v_i^N) - W[S\mu_s^N,\mu_s^N](x_i^N,v_i^N)|. \end{array}$$

Since $K(M[Sf_s](x, |x - y|))$ is Lipschitz in x, from the definition of W it is easy to prove that (a) is bounded by

$$\left(c\operatorname{Lip}(K)\|Sf_s\|_{\infty}R_x^{d-1}(s)R_v+c\|K\|_{\infty}\right)\delta(s)$$

and that (b) is estimated by

$$c \operatorname{Lip}(K) \|Sf_s\|_{\infty} R_x^{d-1}(s) R_v \delta(s).$$

Note that $||Sf_s||_{\infty} \leq cR_v^d ||f_s||_{\infty}$. From Proposition (5.1) we have that (c) is bounded by

$$c \operatorname{Lip}(K) R_v \mathscr{D}(Sf_s, S\mu_s^N)$$

Since

$$\mathscr{D}(Sf_s, S\mu_s^N) \leqslant \mathscr{D}(Sf_s, S\nu_s^N) + \mathscr{D}(S\nu_s^N, S\mu_s^N),$$

by Proposition (5.3) with $\rho = Sf_s$, $\mu^N = S\nu_s^N$ and $\nu^N = S\mu_s^N$, we get

$$\mathscr{D}(S\nu_s^N, S\mu_s^N) \leqslant c\delta(s) + c\mathscr{D}(Sf_s, S\nu_s^N).$$

Writing $\delta(t)$ in terms of the time integral of $\delta(s)$ and the difference of the interaction terms and using the Gronwall lemma, we readily get the estimate

$$\delta(t) \leqslant C(T) \int_0^t \mathscr{D}(Sf_s, S\nu_s^N) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

valid for $0 \le t \le T$. We conclude the proof by using Proposition (5.2), equation (5.21) and the fact that $\mathscr{W}(Sf_s, S\nu_s^N) \le \mathscr{W}(f_s, \nu_s^N)$.

Theorem 5.3. Fixed T > 0, let f_t be a solution of eq. (5.7) as in Theorem (5.2) with initial datum f_0 and let μ_t^N be a solution of equation (5.8) in the sense of Theorem (5.1) with initial datum μ_0^N . Then, for $0 \le t \le T$,

$$\mathscr{W}(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant C(T) \max\left\{\mathscr{W}(f_0, \mu_0^N), \sqrt{\mathscr{W}(f_0, \mu_0^N)}\right\}.$$

Proof. By the triangular inequality,

$$\mathscr{W}(f_t, \mu_t^N) \leqslant \mathscr{W}(f_t, \nu_t^N) + \mathscr{W}(\nu_t^N, \mu_t^N).$$

From (5.21), using that $\mathscr{W}(\nu_t^N, \mu_t^N) \leq \delta(t)$ and (5.22), we get the thesis.

CHAPTER 6

Propagation of chaos for a jump process with topological interactions

joint work with P. Degond and M. Pulvirenti ([22])

In this Chapter we consider a system of particles that interact through a jump process. The jump intensities are of topological type, being functions of the proximity rank of the particles. We show that, in the large number of particles limit and under minimal smoothness assumptions on the data, the model converges to a kinetic equation which was rigorously derived in the earlier work [21] under more stringent regularity assumptions. We do this by showing that the total variation distance between the two processes tends to zero as the number of particles tends to infinity, with an error typical of the law of large numbers.

6.1 Presentation of the model and main results

In [7] the authors introduced the following stochastic model. We consider a *N*-particle system in \mathbb{R}^d , d = 1, 2, 3... (or in \mathbb{T}^d the *d*-dimensional torus). Each particle, say particle *i*, has a position x_i and velocity v_i . The configuration of the system is denoted by

$$Z_N = \{z_i\}_{i=1}^N = \{(x_i, v_i)\}_{i=1}^N = (X_N, V_N).$$

Given the particle *i*, we order the remaining particles j_1, j_2, \dots, j_{N-1} according to their distance from *i*, namely by the following relation

$$|x_i - x_{j_h}| \le |x_i - x_{j_{h+1}}|, \quad h = 1, 2 \cdots N - 1.$$

The rank R(i, k) of particle $k = j_h$ (with respect to *i*) is *h*. Note that, if $B_r(x)$ denotes the closed ball of center $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and radius r > 0, we have

$$R(i,k) = \sum_{\substack{1 \leq h \leq N \\ h \neq i}} \mathcal{X}_{B_{|x_i - x_k|}(x_i)}(x_h),$$

where \mathcal{X}_A is the characteristic function of the set A.

Considering a nonincreasing Lipschitz continuous function

$$K: [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}^+$$
 s.t. $\int_0^1 K(r) \, \mathrm{d}r = 1$

we introduce the transition probabilities

$$\pi_{i,j}^{N} = \frac{K(r(i,j))}{\sum_{s=1}^{N-1} K(\frac{s}{N-1})},$$
(6.1)

where r(i, j) is the normalized rank:

$$r(i,j) = \frac{R(i,j)}{N-1} \in \left\{\frac{1}{N-1}, \frac{2}{N-1}, \dots\right\}.$$

This is similar to the function $M(x_i, |x_i - x_j|)$ introduced in (5.3) of the previous Chapter, but with a different normalization.

Thanks to the normalization in (6.1), we have that $\sum_{j} \pi_{i,j}^{N} = 1$. We can also rewrite $\pi_{i,j}^{N}$ as

$$\pi_{i,j}^N = \alpha_N K\Big(r(i,j)\Big),\tag{6.2}$$

where

$$\alpha_N = \frac{1}{(N-1)(1-e_K(N))}$$
(6.3)

and $e_K(N)$ is the error given by the Riemann sums

$$e_K(N) = \int_0^1 K(x) \, \mathrm{d}x - \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_s K\left(\frac{s}{N-1}\right).$$
(6.4)

We are now in position to introduce a stochastic process describing alignment via a topological interaction. The particles go freely: $x_i + v_i t$. At some random time dictated by a Poisson process of intensity N, choose a particle (say i) with probability $\frac{1}{N}$ and a partner particle, say j, with probability $\pi_{i,j}$. Then perform the transition

$$(v_i, v_j) \rightarrow (v_j, v_j)$$

After that the system goes freely with the new velocities and so on.

The process is described by the following Markov generator given, for any $\Phi\in C^1_b(\mathbb{R}^{2dN}),$ by

$$L_{N}\Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} v_{i} \cdot \nabla_{x_{i}} \Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}) + \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \leq j \leq N\\i \neq j}}^{N} \sum_{\substack{\pi_{i,j} \in P\\i \neq j}} \pi_{i,j}^{N} \left[\Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}^{i}(v_{j})) - \Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}) \right], \quad (6.5)$$

where $V_N^i(v_j) = (v_1 \dots v_{i-1}, v_j, v_{i+1} \dots v_N)$ if $V_N = (v_1 \dots v_{i-1}, v_i, v_{i+1} \dots v_N)$.

Note that $\pi_{i,j}^N$ depends not only on N but also on the whole spatial configuration X_N . Therefore the law of the process $W^N(t) = W^N(t, Z_N)$ is driven by the following evolution equation

$$\partial_t \int W^N(t) \Phi = \int W^N(t) \sum_{i=1}^N v_i \cdot \nabla_{x_i} \Phi + \int W^N(t, Z_N) \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^N \sum_{\substack{1 \leq j \leq N\\i \neq j}} \pi^N_{i,j} \left[\Phi(X_N, V_N^i(v_j)) - \Phi(X_N, V_N) \right], \quad (6.6)$$

for any test function Φ .

We assume that the initial measure $W^N(0)$ factorizes, namely $W^N(0) = f_0^{\otimes N}$ where f_0 is the initial datum for the limit kinetic equation we are going to establish. Note also that $W^N(t, Z_N)$, for $t \ge 0$, is symmetric in the exchange of particles.

The strong form of equation (6.6) is

$$\left(\partial_t + \sum_{i=1}^N v_i \cdot \nabla_{x_i}\right) W^N(t) = -NW^N(t) + \mathcal{L}_N W^N(t)$$

where

$$\mathcal{L}_{N}W^{N}(t, X_{N}, V_{N}) = \sum_{\substack{i=1\\i \neq j}}^{N} \sum_{\substack{1 \leq j \leq N\\i \neq j}} \int du \, \pi_{i,j}^{N} \, W^{N}(t, X_{N}, V_{N}^{(i)}(u)) \delta(v_{i} - v_{j}).$$

6.1.1 Heuristic derivation

We now want to derive the kinetic equation we expect to be valid in the limit $N \to \infty$. Setting $\Phi(Z_N) = \varphi(z_1)$ in (6.6), we obtain

$$\partial_t \int f_1^N \varphi = \int f_1^N v \cdot \nabla_x \varphi - \int f_1^N \varphi + \int W^N \sum_{j \neq 1} \pi_{i,j}^N \varphi(x_1, v_j).$$
(6.7)

Here f_1^N denotes the one-particle marginal of the measure W^N . We recall that the *s*-particle marginals are defined by

$$f_{s}^{N}(Z_{s}) = \int W^{N}(Z_{s}, z_{s+1} \cdots z_{N}) dz_{s+1} \cdots dz_{N}, \qquad s = 1, 2 \cdots N$$
(6.8)

and are the distribution of the first *s* particles (or of any group of *s* tagged particles).

In order to describe the system in terms of a single kinetic equation, we expect that chaos propagates. Actually since W^N is initially factorizing, although the dynamics creates correlations, we hope that, due to the weakness of the interaction, factorization still holds approximately also at any positive time t, namely

$$f_s^N \approx f_1^{\otimes s}.$$

In this case the law of large numbers does hold, that is

$$\frac{1}{N}\sum_{j}\delta(z-z_{j})\approx f_{1}^{N}(t,z)$$

for W^N - almost all $Z_N = \{z_1 \cdots z_N\}$. Then

$$\pi_{i,j}^{N} \approx \frac{1}{N-1} K \left(\frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{k} \mathcal{X}_{B_{|x_{i}-x_{j}|}(x_{i})}(x_{k}) \right)$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{N-1} K \left(M[\rho_{1}^{N}](x_{1}, |x_{1}-x_{2}|) \right)$$

where, given a measure $\rho \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{R}^d)$,

$$M[\rho](x,R) = \int_{B_R(x)} \rho(y) \, \mathrm{d}y,$$
(6.9)

and $\rho_1^N(x) = \int \mathrm{d} v f_1^N(x,v) \, \mathrm{d} v$ is the spatial density. Motivated by this remark and similarly to the previous Chapter, from now on we use the following notation

$$M[X^{N}](x_{i}, |x_{i} - x_{j}|) = r(i, j) = \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{k} \mathcal{X}_{B_{|x_{i} - x_{j}|}(x_{i})}(x_{k}).$$

Here M stands for 'mass' and the notation introduced is justified by the law of large numbers.

In conclusion we expect that, by (6.7), in the limit $N \to \infty$, $f_1^N \to f$ and $f_2^N \to f^{\otimes 2}$, where f solves

$$\partial_t \int f\varphi = \int fv \cdot \nabla_x \varphi - \int f\varphi + \int f(z_1) f(z_2) \varphi(x_1, v_2) K\Big(M[\rho](x_1, |x_1 - x_2|) \Big)$$

which is the weak form of the equation

$$\left(\partial_t + v \cdot \nabla_x\right) f(t, x, v) = -f(t, x, v) + \rho(t, x) \int K\left(M[\rho](x, |x-y|)\right) f(t, y, v) \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(6.10)

We remark that existence and uniqueness of global solutions in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$ for the kinetic equation (6.10) can be proved by using a standard Banach fixed-point argument.

Once known f, we can construct the one-particle nonlinear process given by the generator

$$L_1^{(1)}\phi(x,v) = (v \cdot \nabla_x - 1)\phi(x,v) + \int f(y,w)\phi(x,w)K\Big(M[\rho](x,|x-y|)\Big)\,\mathrm{d}y\,\mathrm{d}w.$$

We also introduce the $N\mbox{-}\mathrm{particle}$ process given by N independent copies of the above process. Its generator is

$$L_{N}^{(1)}\Phi(Z_{N}) = V_{N} \cdot \nabla_{X_{N}}\Phi(Z_{N}) + \sum_{i} \left[\int \Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}^{i}(w_{i})) K\Big(M[\rho](x_{i}, |x_{i} - y_{i}|)\Big) f(y_{i}, w_{i}) \, \mathrm{d}y_{i} \, \mathrm{d}w_{i} - \Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}) \right].$$
(6.11)

6.1.2 Motivations and main result

We want to prove propagation of chaos for the N-particle process described by (6.5). Propagation of chaos consists in preparing a system of N particles with initial configurations i.i.d with a given law f_0 and show that, considering any group of fixed s particles between the N ones, this independence (chaos) is also recovered for future times for the fixed s-group when $N \to \infty$. This is expressed mathematically by saying that the s-particle marginal $f_s^N(t)$ introduced in (6.8) approximates $f^{\otimes s}(t)$ for positive times, where f(t) is the solution with initial datum f_0 of the kinetic equation (6.10).

The work [22] presented here is strongly aligned with [7, 8, 21] where kinetic models are derived for topological interaction models based on jump processes. More precisely, [21] proves propagation of chaos and provides a rigorous proof of the model introduced before and formally derived in [7]. On the other hand, [8] formally derives a kinetic model for a more singular interaction. The mathematical validity of this formal result is still open.

The proof of [21] makes the limiting assumption that the interaction strength is an analytic function of the normalized rank and is based on the BBGKY hierarchy. Indeed, the BBGKY hierarchies are a powerful approach but in this case the nonbinary nature of the topological interaction does not allow to derive this hierarchical structure, unless the interaction function K is real analytic and so expandable in series.

Here we want to provide a different derivation of the limit kinetic equation, using the classic probabilistic coupling technique. In general, given two stochastic processes X and Y, a coupling is a realization of a new process on a product probability space that has as marginal distributions those of X and Y.

The advantage of the coupling method over the BBGKY hierarchy is that it only requires the interaction strength to be Lipschitz continuous, a much more general and natural assumption than that of [21].

Theorem 6.1. Let $f \in C([0,T]; L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d}))$ solution of the kinetic equation (6.10) with initial datum $f_0 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2d})$. Assume that the interaction function K is Lipschitz-continuous and consider the N-particle dynamics such that $W_N(0) = f_0^{\otimes N}$.

If f_s^N denotes the s-marginal as defined in (6.8), for $t \in [0,T]$ and $s \in \{1,\ldots,N\}$, it holds that

$$\|f_s^N(t) - f^{\otimes s}(t)\|_{L^1(\mathbb{R}^{2ds})} \le s \frac{e^{C_K T}}{\sqrt{N-1}},$$
(6.12)

where C_K is a constant depending on the Lipschitz constant of K.

The topological character of the interaction bring us naturally to work with norms of strong type and in particular with the L^1 /Total variation distance (coherently with [5] and the previous Chapter where the similar Discrepancy distance has been used to prove the validity of the mean-field limit for the deterministic Cucker-Smale model with topological interactions introduced in [32]).

Indeed, given two measures ρ_1 and ρ_2 , from (6.9) we have

$$|M[\rho_1](x,r) - M[\rho_2](x,r)| \le \|\rho_1 - \rho_2\|_{TV}$$

where, given (X, A) a measurable space and two measures μ and ν over X, the total variation distance is defined as

$$\|\mu - \nu\|_{TV} = \sup_{A \in \mathcal{A}} |\mu(A) - \nu(A)|.$$

In the sequel, we use the equivalence between the L^1 distance and the Total variation for regular measures and the characterization of the TV distance given by the Wasserstein distance

$$\|\mu - \nu\|_{TV} = \inf_{\pi \in \mathcal{C}(\mu, \nu)} \int_{X \times X} d(x, y) \,\mathrm{d}\pi(x, y),$$

where $C(\mu, \nu)$ is the set of all couplings, i.e. measures on the product space with marginals respectively μ and ν in the first and second variables, and $d(a, b) = 1 - \delta_{a,b}$ is the discrete distance (see [60]).

6.2 **Proof of the result**

6.2.1 Coupling and strategy of the proof

We introduce, as a coupling between (6.5) and (6.11), the process $t \to (Z_N(t); \Sigma_N(t))$ on the product space $\mathbb{R}^{2dN} \times \mathbb{R}^{2dN}$, where $\Sigma_N(t) = (Y_N(t), W_N(t))$. The generator of the new process is

$$Q_N = Q_0 + \widetilde{Q}_N$$

where

$$Q_0\Phi(Z_N;\Sigma_N) = (V_N \cdot \nabla_{X_N} + W_N \cdot \nabla_{Y_N})\Phi(Z_N;\Sigma_N)$$
(6.13)

,

is the free-stream operator, while

$$\widetilde{Q}_{N}\Phi(Z_{N};\Sigma_{N}) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j \neq i} \lambda_{i,j} [\Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}^{i}(v_{j}); Y_{N}, W_{N}^{(i)}(w_{j})) - \Phi(Z_{N};\Sigma_{N})]$$
(6.14a)

+
$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{j \neq i} [\pi_{i,j}^{N}(X_{N}) - \lambda_{i,j}] [\Phi(X_{N}, V_{N}^{i}(v_{j}); \Sigma_{N}) - \Phi(Z_{N}; \Sigma_{N})]$$
 (6.14b)

$$+\sum_{i=1}^{N}\sum_{j\neq i} [\pi^{f}(y_{i}, y_{j}) - \lambda_{i,j}] [\Phi(Z_{N}; Y_{N}, W_{N}^{(i)}(w_{j})) - \Phi(Z_{N}; \Sigma_{N})]$$
(6.14c)

+
$$\sum_{i=1}^{N} \int \mathrm{d}u \, \mathcal{E}_{i}^{N}(u) [\Phi(Z_{N}; Y_{N}, W_{N}^{(i)}(u)) - \Phi(Z_{N}; \Sigma_{N})]$$
 (6.14d)

tends to penalize the discrepancies that can occur over time between Z_N and Σ_N .

Indeed, in (6.14a) the process jumps jointly on both variables with a rate given by

$$\lambda_{i,j}(X_N; y_i, y_j) \coloneqq \min\{\pi_{i,j}^N(X_N), \pi^f(y_i, y_j)\},\tag{6.15}$$

where

$$\pi^{f}(y_{i}, y_{j}) \coloneqq \alpha_{N} K\Big(M[\rho](y_{i}, |y_{i} - y_{j}|)\Big).$$
(6.16)

In (6.14b) and (6.14c) the jumps occur only for one of the pair, with a transition probability given by the error between $\lambda_{i,j}$ and π^N or π^f . Finally, in (6.14d),

$$\mathcal{E}_i^N(u) = \int K\Big(M[\rho](y_i, |y_i - y|)\Big)f(y, u)\,\mathrm{d}y - \sum_{j\neq i}\pi^f(y_i, y_j)\delta(u - w_j)$$

is the last error due to the approximation of the limit kinetic equation by the N-particle dynamics with transition probabilities given by π^f and will be treated using the law of large numbers.

We remark that, since $\int K(x) dx = 1$, formally we have¹,

$$\int K\Big(M[\rho](x,|x-y|)\Big)\rho(y)\,\mathrm{d}y = \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}r K(M[\rho](x,r))\int_{|x-y|=r}\rho(y)\,\mathrm{d}\mathcal{H}^{n-1}(dy)$$
$$= \int_0^{+\infty} \mathrm{d}r K(M[\rho](x,r)\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}r}[M[\rho](x,r)] = \int K(x)\,\mathrm{d}x = 1.$$

From this fact, it follows that Q_N is a coupling of the two previously described processes, i.e. we recover, considering test functions depending only Z_N and Σ_N respectively, the two processes as the two marginals.

We want to prove that f and f_1^N (defined as in (6.8)) agree asymptotically in the limit $N \to +\infty$. To do this we consider $R^N(t) = R^N(t, Z_N, \Sigma_N)$ the law at time t for the coupled process. As initial distribution at time 0 we assume

$$R^{N}(0) = f_{0}^{\otimes N}(Z_{N})\delta(Z_{N} - \Sigma_{N}).$$
(6.17)

Let $D_N(t)$ be the average fraction of particles having different positions or velocities, i.e. using the symmetry of the law,

$$D_N(t) = \int dR^N(t) \Big[\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N d(z_i, \sigma_i) \Big] = \int dR^N(t) d(z_1, \sigma_1),$$
(6.18)

where $z_i = (x_i, v_i)$, $\sigma_i = (y_i, w_i)$ and $d(a, b) = 1 - \delta_{a,b}$ is the discrete distance.

The aim is to show that $D_N(t) \to 0$. This means the following: initially the coupled system has all the pairs of particles overlapping. The dynamics creates discrepancies and the average number of separated pairs is exactly D_N which is also the Total Variation distance $(L^1(x, v) \text{ in our case})$ between f_1^N and f.

Notice that the convergence of the s-marginals f_s^N to $f^{\otimes s}$ claimed in (6.12) is easily recovered by the fact that

$$\|f_s^N(t) - f^{\otimes s}(t)\|_{TV} \leq \int \delta(Z_s, \Sigma_s) \, \mathrm{d}R^N(t, Z_N, \Sigma_N)$$
$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^s \int d(z_i, \sigma_i) \, \mathrm{d}R^N(t, Z_N, \Sigma_N) = sD_N(t)$$

where $\delta(a, b)$ denotes the discrete distance on the space $\mathbb{R}^{2ds} \times \mathbb{R}^{2ds}$.

¹In general, the formula is true for $\rho \in L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and it is a consequence of the coarea formula (see [25, Thm 3.12, p. 140]).

6.2.2 Convergence estimates

Let S_t^N be the semigroup defined by the free-stream generator Q_0 in (6.13). To estimate $D_N(t)$ we apply the Duhamel formula in (6.18) and we get

$$\int \mathrm{d}R^N(t)d(z_1,\sigma_1) = \int \mathrm{d}R^N(0)d\Big(S^N_t(z_1,\sigma_1)\Big) + \int_0^t \mathrm{d}\tau \int \mathrm{d}R^N(\tau)\,\widetilde{Q}_Nd\Big(S^N_{t-\tau}(z_1,\sigma_1)\Big), \quad (6.19)$$

where \widetilde{Q}_N is defined in (6.14).

The first term in (6.19) is negligible: indeed, from (6.17), we have

$$\int \mathrm{d}R^N(0)d\Big(S_t^N(z_1,\sigma_1)\Big) = \int \mathrm{d}f_0^{\otimes N}(Z_N)d\Big(S_t^N(z_1,z_1)\Big) \equiv 0.$$

Concerning the second term in (6.19), we define

$$\bar{z}_1 = (x_1 + v_1(t - \tau), v_1), \quad \bar{z}_1^{(j)} = (x_1 + v_1(t - \tau), v_j)$$

and $\bar{X}_N = (x_1 + v_1(t - \tau), \dots, x_N + v_N(t - \tau))$; similarly for $\bar{\sigma}, \bar{\sigma}^{(j)}$ and \bar{Y}_N .

By (6.14) we get

ł

$$\int \mathrm{d}R^N(\tau)\,\widetilde{Q}_N d\left(S_{t-\tau}^N(z_1,\sigma_1)\right) = A_1(\tau) + A_2(\tau) + A_3(\tau),$$

where

$$A_1(\tau) = \sum_{j \neq 1} \int dR^N(\tau) \lambda_{1,j}(\bar{X}_N; \bar{y}_1, \bar{y}_j) [d(\bar{z}_1^{(j)}; \bar{\sigma}_1^{(j)}) - d(\bar{z}_1; \bar{\sigma}_1)]$$

is due to the term of the generator \widetilde{Q}_N where the velocities of the particles jump simultaneously;

$$A_{2}(\tau) = \sum_{j \neq 1} \int dR^{N}(\tau) (\pi_{1,j}^{N}(\bar{X}_{N}) - \lambda_{1,j}) [d(\bar{z}_{1}^{(j)}; \bar{\sigma}_{1}) - d(\bar{z}_{1}; \bar{\sigma}_{1})] + \sum_{j \neq 1} \int dR^{N}(\tau) (\pi^{f}(\bar{y}_{1}, \bar{y}_{j}) - \lambda_{1,j}) [d(\bar{z}_{1}; \bar{\sigma}_{1}^{(j)}) - d(\bar{z}_{1}; \bar{\sigma}_{1})]$$

is due to the terms of the generator where only one of the two coupled processes jump and

$$A_3(\tau) = \int \mathrm{d}R^N(\tau) \int \mathrm{d}u \,\overline{\mathcal{E}}_1^N(u) [d(\overline{z}_1; \overline{\sigma}_1^{(u)}) - d(\overline{z}_1; \overline{\sigma}_1)]$$

is due to the remainder term. Here $\bar{\mathcal{E}}_1^N(u)$ is $\mathcal{E}_1^N(u)$ evaluated along the moving frame of the free transport.

Here, we have used that $d(z_1, \sigma_1)$ depends only on the configurations of the first particle; hence, the only nonzero contribution in the sum over *i* is given for i = 1.

Concerning $A_1(\tau)$, it follows from (6.3) and (6.4) that

$$|e_K(N)| \leq \frac{\operatorname{Lip}(K)}{N-1}$$

and that, for N > 2Lip(K) + 1,

$$\alpha_N \leqslant \frac{4e^{\frac{\operatorname{Lip}(K)}{N-1}}}{N-1}$$

using the inequality $1/(1-x) \leq 4e^x$ for $x \in (0, 1/2)$. Therefore, from (6.15) we get

$$\lambda_{1,j} \leq \alpha_N \|K\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{4\sqrt{e}\operatorname{Lip}(K)}{N-1}.$$

By the symmetry of \mathbb{R}^N and denoting $C_K \coloneqq 8\sqrt{e} \operatorname{Lip}(K)$,

$$A_{1}(\tau) \leq \frac{C_{K}}{2(N-1)} \sum_{j \neq 1} \int \mathrm{d}R^{N}(\tau) [d(z_{j}, \sigma_{j}) + d(z_{1}, \sigma_{1})] \leq C_{K} D_{N}(\tau),$$
(6.20)

since $d(\bar{z}_1^{(j)}; \bar{\sigma}_1^{(j)}) \leq d(z_j, \sigma_j) + d(z_1; \sigma_1)$. Indeed the right-hand side is vanishing iff $z_1 = \sigma_1$ and $z_j = \sigma_j$ and, in this case, also the left-hand side is clearly vanishing.

We now give a bound on $A_2(\tau)$. Since $\lambda_{1,j}$ is the minimum between $\pi_{1,j}^N$ and $\pi_{i,j}^f$, we have

$$|A_{2}(\tau)| \leq \sum_{j \neq 1} \int \mathrm{d}R^{N}(\tau) |\pi_{1,j}^{N}(\bar{X}_{N}) - \pi_{1,j}^{f}(\bar{y}_{1},\bar{y}_{j})|.$$
(6.21)

From (6.2) and (6.16),

$$|\pi_{1,j}^{N}(\bar{X}_{N}) - \pi_{1,j}^{f}(\bar{y}_{1},\bar{y}_{j})| \leq \alpha_{N} \operatorname{Lip}(K) |M[\bar{X}_{N}](\bar{x}_{1},|\bar{x}_{1}-\bar{x}_{j}|) - M[\rho](\bar{y}_{1},|\bar{y}_{1}-\bar{y}_{j}|)|.$$

From now on we use the shorthand notation $M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^x) = M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{x}_1, |\bar{x}_1 - \bar{x}_j|)$ and $M[\rho](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y) = M[\rho](\bar{y}_1, |\bar{y}_1 - \bar{y}_j|)|$, where we have introduced the balls

$$ar{B}_{1,j}^x = B_{|ar{x}_1 - ar{x}_j|}(ar{x}_1) \quad ext{and} \quad ar{B}_{1,j}^y = B_{|ar{y}_1 - ar{y}_j|}(ar{y}_1).$$

By the triangular inequality

$$|M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^x) - M[\rho](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)| \leq |M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^x) - M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)| + |M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y) - M[\bar{Y}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)| + |M[\bar{Y}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y) - M[\rho](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)|.$$

Hence we divide the estimate (6.21) respectively in three terms:

$$|A_2(\tau)| \leq T_1(\tau) + T_2(\tau) + T_3(\tau).$$

In $T_1(\tau)$ we are considering particles with spatial configuration given by X_N and we want to estimate the discrepancy of the configuration over two different balls $\bar{B}_{1,j}^x$ and $\bar{B}_{1,j}^y$. Since $\bar{B}_{1,j}^x = \bar{B}_{1,j}^y$ iff $z_1 = \sigma_1$ and $z_j = \sigma_j$, using that $M[\bar{X}_N] \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$|M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^x) - M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)| \le d(z_1, \sigma_1) + d(z_j, \sigma_j).$$

Therefore, by the symmetry of R^N ,

$$T_1(\tau) \leq \alpha_N \operatorname{Lip}(K) \sum_{j \neq 1} \int \mathrm{d}R^N(\tau) [d(z_1, \sigma_1) + d(z_j, \sigma_j)]$$
$$\leq C_K D_N(\tau).$$

Regarding $T_2(\tau)$, we are considering the discrepancy of two different configurations over the same ball $\bar{B}_{1,j}^y$. Since

$$|M[\bar{X}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y) - M[\bar{Y}_N](\bar{B}_{1,j}^y)| \leq \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^N d(z_i, \sigma_i),$$

using again the symmetry of the law, we get

$$T_2(\tau) \leq \alpha_N \operatorname{Lip}(K) \sum_{j \neq 1} \int \mathrm{d}R^N(\tau) d(z_1, \sigma_1) \leq C_K D_N(\tau).$$

The last estimate on $T_3(\tau)$ is a consequence of the law of large numbers. After a change of variable, using the symmetry of the law R^N and the fact that this last term depends only on the Y_N configuration, we have that

$$T_{3}(\tau) = \alpha_{N} \operatorname{Lip}(K) \sum_{j \neq 1} \int \mathrm{d}\rho^{\otimes N}(\tau) |M[Y_{N}](B_{1,j}^{y}) - M[\rho](B_{1,j}^{y})|,$$

where $B_{1,j}^y = B_{|y_1-y_j|}(y_1)$. By Cauchy-Schwartz,

$$\begin{split} \left| \int \mathrm{d}\rho^{\otimes N}(\tau) |M[Y_N](B_{1,j}^y) - M[\rho](B_{1,j}^y) | \right|^2 \\ &\leqslant \int \mathrm{d}\rho^{\otimes N}(\tau) \left| \frac{1}{N-1} \sum_{h\neq 1} \left[\mathcal{X}_{B_{1,j}^y}(y_h) - M[\rho](B_{1,j}^y) \right] \right|^2 \\ &\leqslant \sum_{h_1,h_2\neq 1} \int \frac{\mathrm{d}\rho^{\otimes N}(\tau)}{(N-1)^2} \Big[\mathcal{X}_{B_{1,j}^y}(y_{h_1}) - M[\rho](B_{1,j}^y) \Big] \Big[\mathcal{X}_{B_{1,j}^y}(y_{h_2}) - M[\rho](B_{1,j}^y) \Big]. \end{split}$$

Thanks to the independence of the limit process, we get that the only nonzero contributions are given when $h_1 = h_2$ and this happens only for N - 1 terms. Hence

$$T_3(\tau) \leqslant \frac{C_K}{\sqrt{N-1}}.$$

Collecting the estimates on T_1, T_2 and T_3 , we obtain that

$$A_2(\tau) \leqslant C_K \Big(D_N(\tau) + \frac{1}{\sqrt{N-1}} \Big). \tag{6.22}$$

We conclude the proof estimating $A_3(\tau)$. Since this term depends only on the independent Y_N configuration

$$|A_{3}(\tau)| \leq \int \frac{\mathrm{d}f^{\otimes N}(\tau)}{N-1} \sum_{j\neq 1} \left| \int K\Big(M[\rho](B_{|\bar{y}_{1}-y|}(\bar{y}_{1}))\Big)\rho(y)\,\mathrm{d}y - K(M[\rho](\bar{B}_{1,j}^{y})) \right| \\ + \frac{1}{N-1} \int \mathrm{d}f^{\otimes N}(\tau) \frac{e_{K}(N)}{1-e_{K}(N)} \sum_{j\neq 1} K(M[\rho](\bar{B}_{1,j}^{y})),$$

where we added and subtracted the term $\sum_j K(M[\rho](\bar{B}^y_{1,j}))/(N-1).$

Applying again the law of large numbers on the first term and estimating the second term thanks to C

$$\frac{e_K(N)}{1 - e_K(N)} \leqslant \frac{C_K}{N - 1},$$

$$|A_3(\tau)| \leqslant \frac{C_K}{\sqrt{N - 1}}.$$
(6.23)

we arrive at

Collecting the estimates in (6.20), (6.22) and (6.23) and using Gronwall's lemma, we conclude the proof of the theorem.

Bibliography - Part II

- A. Attanasi, A. Cavagna, L. Del Castello, I. Giardina, T.S. Grigera, A. Jelić, S. Melillo, L. Parisi, O. Pohl, E.Shen, M. Viale *Information transfer and behavioural inertia in starling flocks* Nat. Phys. 10 691–696 (2014) (See page 63.)
- [2] M. Ballerini, N. Cabibbo, R. Andelier, A. Cavagna, A. Cisbani, I. Giardina, V. Lecomte, A. Orlandi, G. Parisi Interaction ruling animal collective behavior depends on topological rather than metric distance: Evidence from a field study Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. USA 105 1232–1237 (2008) (See pages 63 and 64.)
- [3] S. Bazazi, J. Buhl, J. J. Hale, M. L. Anstey, G. A. Sword, S. J. Simpson, I. D. Couzin Collective motion and cannibalism in locust migratory bands Curr. Biol. 18 735–739 (2008) (See page 63.)
- [4] D. Benedetto, P. Buttà, E. Caglioti Some aspects of the inertial spin model for flocks and related kinetic equations Math. Mod. Meth. Appl. Sci. 30 (10) 1987–2022 (2020) (See page 63.)
- [5] D. Benedetto, E. Caglioti, S. Rossi Mean-field limit for particle systems with topological interactions Math. Mech. Complex Syst. 9 423–440 (2021) (See pages 63, 67, and 81.)
- [6] A. S. Besicovitch A general form of the covering principle and relative differentiation of additive functions I Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc, 41 103-110 (1945); II, Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc 42 1-10 (1946) with corrections in Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc 43 590 (1947) (See page 67.)
- [7] A. Blanchet, P. Degond *Topological interactions in a Boltzmann-type framework* J. Stat. Phys. 163 41–60 (2016) (See pages xvi, 64, 77, and 81.)
- [8] A. Blanchet, P. Degond *Kinetic models for topological nearest-neighbor interactions* J. Stat. Phys. 169 929–950 (2017) (See pages 64 and 81.)
- [9] N. W. Bode, D. W. Franks, A. J. Wood Limited interactions in flocks: relating model simulations to empirical data J. R. Soc. Interface. 8 301–304 (2011) (See page 64.)
- [10] W. Braun, W. K. Hepp The Vlasov dynamics and its fluctuations in the 1/N limit of interacting classical particles Commun. Math. Phys 56 101–113 (1977) (See pages 55 and 59.)
- [11] M. Camperi, A. Cavagna, I. Giardina, G. Parisi, E. Silvestri Spatially balanced topological interaction grants optimal cohesion in flocking models Interface focus 2 715–725 (2012) (See page 64.)
- [12] J.A. Cañizo, J.A. Carrillo, J. Rosado A well-posedness theory in measures for some kinetic models of collective motion Math. Mod. Meth. Appl. Sci. 21 (3) 515–539 (2011) (See page 63.)
- [13] J.A. Carrillo, Y.-P.Choi, M. Hauray *The derivation of swarming models: mean-field limit and Wasserstein distances* in: Muntean A., Toschi F. (eds) Collective Dynamics from Bacteria to

Crowds. CISM International Centre for Mechanical Sciences, **553**, Springer, Vienna (2014) (See page **63**.)

- [14] J.A. Carrillo, M. Fornasier, G. Toscani, F. Vecil Particle, kinetic, and hydrodynamic models of swarming in: Naldi G., Pareschi L., Toscani G. (eds) Mathematical Modeling of Collective Behavior in Socio-Economic and Life Sciences. Modeling and Simulation in Science, Engineering and Technology. Birkhäuser, Boston (2010) (See page 63.)
- [15] M. Cassandro, E. Olivieri, A. Pellegrinotti, E. Presutti Existence and uniqueness of DLR measures for unbounded spin systems Z. Wahr. verw. Gebiete 41 313–334 (1978) (See page 55.)
- [16] A. Cavagna, A. Cimarelli, I. Giardina, G. Parisi, R. Santagati, F. Stefanini, R. Tavarone From empirical data to inter-individual interactions: Unveiling the rules of collective animal behavior Math. Mod. Meth. App. Sci. 20 1491–1510 (2010) (See page 63.)
- [17] L.P. Chaintron, A. Diez Propagation of chaos: A review of models, methods and applications. I. Models and methods Kinet. Relat. Models 15 895–1015 (2022) (See page 61.)
- [18] L.P. Chaintron, A. Diez Propagation of chaos: A review of models, methods and applications. II. Applications Kinet. Relat. Models 15 1017–1173 (2022) (See page 61.)
- [19] F. Cucker, S. Smale On the mathematics of emergence Japan. J. Math. 2 197–227 (2007) (See page 63.)
- [20] F. Cucker, S. Smale Emergence behavior in flocks IEEE Trans. Automat. Control 52 852–862 (2007) (See page 63.)
- [21] P. Degond, M. Pulvirenti Propagation of chaos for topological interaction Ann. Appl. Prob. 29 2594–2612 (2019) (See pages xvi, 77, and 81.)
- [22] P. Degond, M. Pulvirenti, S. Rossi Propagation of chaos for topological interactions by a coupling technique arXiv:2212.08884 (2022) (See pages 77 and 81.)
- [23] R. L. Dobrushin Vlasov equations Funct. Anal. Appl. 13 115–123 (1979) Translated from Funktsional'nyi Analiz i Ego Prilozheniya, 13 (2) 48–58 (1979) (See pages 53, 55, and 56.)
- [24] R. L. Dobrushin Prescribing a System of Random Variables by Conditional Distributions Theory of Probability and Its Applications 15 458–486 (1970) (See page 55.)
- [25] L.C. Evans, R.F. Gariepy Measure theory and fine properties of functions Chapman and Hall/CRC. (2015) (See page 83.)
- [26] A.L. Gibbs, F.E. Su On choosing and bounding probability metrics International Statistical Review / Revue Internationale De Statistique, 70 (3) 419–435 (2002) (See page 66.)
- [27] F. Ginelli, H. Chaté Relevance of metric-free interactions in flocking phenomena Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 168103 (2010) (See page 64.)
- [28] R. Giniūnaitė, R. E. Baker, P. M. Kulesa, P. K. Maini Modelling collective cell migration: neural crest as a model paradigm J. Math. Biol. 80 481–504 (2020) (See page 63.)
- [29] F. Golse On the Dynamics of Large Particle Systems in the Mean Field Limit in: Muntean A., Rademacher J., Zagaris A. (eds) Macroscopic and Large Scale Phenomena: Coarse Graining, Mean Field Limits and Ergodicity. Lecture Notes in Applied Mathematics and Mechanics, 3 Springer, (2016) (See page 61.)
- [30] F. Golse, S.-Y. Ha A mean-field limit of the Lohe matrix model and emergent dynamics Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 234 1445–1491 (2019) (See page 63.)
- [31] S.-Y. Ha, J.-G. Liu A simple proof of the Cucker-Smale flocking dynamics and mean-field limit Comm. Math. Sci. 7 297–325 (2009) (See page 63.)
- [32] J. Haskovec Flocking dynamics and mean-field limit in the Cucker-Smale-type model with topological interactions Phys. D **261** 42–51 (2013) (See pages xiv, 64, and 81.)
- [33] M. Hauray Mean field limit for the one dimensional Vlasov-Poisson equation Séminaire Laurent Schwartz – EDP et applications, Exposé no. 21 (2012-2013). (See page 62.)

- [34] M. Hauray, P.-E. Jabin N-particle approximation of the Vlasov equations with singular potential Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 183 489–524 (2007) (See page 62.)
- [35] M. Hauray, P.-E. Jabin Particle approximation of Vlasov equations with singular forces Ann. Sci. Ecol. Norm. Sup. 48 891–940 (2015) (See page 62.)
- [36] E. Hlawka Funktionen von beschrankter Schwankung in der Theorie der Gleichverteilung Ann.Math. Pura Appl. 54 (4) 324–333 (1961) (See pages 55 and 60.)
- [37] P.-E. Jabin A review of the mean field limits for Vlasov equations Kinet. Relat. Models 7 661–711 (2014) (See page 61.)
- [38] L. V. Kantorovich Mathematical Methods of Organizing and Planning Production Management Science 6 (4) 366–422 (1960) [Originally published by Leningrad University in 1939] (See page 55.)
- [39] L. V. Kantorovich, G. Sh. Rubinshtein On a function space and some extremal problems Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 115 (6) 1058–1061 (1957) (See page 55.)
- [40] J. F. Koksma Een algemeene stelling uit de theorie der gelijkmatige verdeeling modulo 1 Mathematica (Zutphen) B11 7–11 (1942) (See pages 55 and 60.)
- [41] L. Kuipers, H. Niederreiter Uniform Distribution of Sequences Wiley, New York (1974) (See pages 55, 60, and 66.)
- [42] D. Lazarovici The Vlasov–Poisson dynamics as the mean-field limit of rigid charges Commun. Math. Phys. 347 271–289 (2016) (See page 62.)
- [43] D. Lazarovici, P. Pickl A mean-field limit for the Vlasov–Poisson system Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 225 1201–1231 (2017) (See page 62.)
- [44] U. Lopez, J. Gautrais, I. D. Couzin, G. Theraulaz From behavioural analyses to models of collective motion in fish schools Interface focus 2 693–707 (2012) (See page 63.)
- [45] S. Martin Multi-agent flocking under topological interactions Syst. Control. Lett. 69 53–61 (2014) (See page 64.)
- [46] H. Neunzert An introduction to the nonlinear Boltzmann Vlasov equation in: Kinetic Theories and the Boltzmann Equation (C. Cercignani ed.), Lecture Notes in Math., 1048, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, 60–110 (1984) (See page 66.)
- [47] H. Neunzert, J. Wick Die Approximation der Lösung von Integro- Differentialgleichungen durch endliche Punktmengen Lecture Notes in Math., 395, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg 275–290 (1974) (See pages 53, 55, 60, 61, 65, and 66.)
- [48] H. Neunzert, J. Wick Die Darstellung yon Funktionen mehrerer Variabler durch Punktmengen Berichte der Kernforschungsanlage Jülich, JÜL-996-MA (1973) (See pages 60 and 65.)
- [49] T. Niizato, H. Murakami, Y. P. Gunji Emergence of the scale-invariant proportion in a flock from the metric-topological interaction BioSystems 119 62–68 (2014) (See page 64.)
- [50] Y. Shang, R. Bouffanais Consensus reaching in swarms ruled by a hybrid metric-topological distance Eur. Phys. J. B 87 1–7 (2014) (See page 64.)
- [51] Y. Shang, R. Bouffanais Influence of the number of topologically interacting neighbors on swarm dynamics Sci. Rep. 4 4184 (2014) (See page 64.)
- [52] M. Pulvirenti, S. Simonella Propagation of chaos and effective equations in kinetic theory: a brief survey Math. Mech. Complex Syst., 4 (3-4), 255–274 (2016) (See page 61.)
- [53] M. Pulvirenti, S. Simonella A Brief Introduction to the Scaling Limits and Effective Equations in Kinetic Theory in: Trails in Kinetic Theory (G. Albi, S. Merino-Aceituno, A. Nota, M. Zanella eds.), SEMA SIMAI Springer Series, 25, Springer, Cham. (2021) (See page 61.)
- [54] A.-S. Sznitman Topics in propagation of chaos in: Ecole d'Eté de Probabilités de Saint-Flour XIX (P.-L. Hennequin ed.) Lecture Notes in Math. 1464, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1991) (See page 61.)

- [55] M. Trocheris On the derivation of the one dimensional Vlasov equation Transport Theory and Statistical Physics 15 5 597–628 (1986) (See pages 62 and 65.)
- [56] M. Trocheris Continuité entre une solution de l'equation de Vlasov a une dimension et le mouvement d'un systeme de points (EUR-CEA-FC-1222) France (1984) (See page 62.)
- [57] L. N. Vaserstein Markov processes on a countable product of spaces which describe large systems of automata Probl. Peredachi Inf. 5 (3) 64–71 (1969) (See page 55.)
- [58] T. Vicsek, A. Czirók, E. Ben-Jacob, I. Cohen, O. Shochet Novel type of phase transition in a system of self-driven particles Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 1226 (1995) (See page 63.)
- [59] T. Vicsek, A. Zafeiris Collective motion Phys. Rep. 517 71-140 (2012) (See page 63.)
- [60] C. Villani *Topics in Optimal Transportation* Graduate Studies in Mathematics **58** American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (2003) (See pages 56, 58, and 82.)
- [61] C. Villani Optimal transport. Old and new Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences] 338 Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (2009) (See pages 56 and 58.)
- [62] L. Wang, G. Chen Synchronization of multi-agent systems with metric-topological interactions Chaos 26 094809 (2016) (See page 64.)
- [63] H. Weyl Über die Gleichverteilung von Zahlen mod. Eins Math. Ann. 77 313–352 (1916) (See page 60.)